

FD-SOI technology opportunities for more energy efficient asynchronous circuits

Thiago Ferreira de Paiva Leite

▶ To cite this version:

Thiago Ferreira de Paiva Leite. FD-SOI technology opportunities for more energy efficient asynchronous circuits. Micro and nanotechnologies/Microelectronics. Université Grenoble Alpes, 2019. English. NNT: 2019GREAT002. tel-02295530

HAL Id: tel-02295530 https://theses.hal.science/tel-02295530v1

Submitted on 24 Sep 2019

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Communauté UNIVERSITÉ Grenoble Alpes

THÈSE

Pour obtenir le grade de

DOCTEUR DE L'UNIVERSITÉ GRENOBLE ALPES

Spécialité : Nano Électronique & Nano Technologies

Arrêté ministériel : 25 mai 2016

Présentée par

Thiago FERREIRA DE PAIVA LEITE

Thèse dirigée par **Laurent FESQUET** et co-encadreée par **Rodrigo POSSAMAI BASTOS**

Préparée au sein du Laboratoire TIMA dans l'École Doctorale Electronique, Electrotechnique, Automatique & Traitement du Signal (E.E.A.T.S)

FD-SOI technology opportunities for more energy efficient asynchronous circuits

Thèse soutenue publiquement le **21 Janvier 2019**, devant le jury composé de :

M. Habib MEHREZ
Professeur, Sorbonne Universités, Président
M. Lionel TORRES
Professeur, Université de Montpellier, Rapporteur
M. Gilles JACQUEMOD
Professeur, Université Nice Sophia Antipolis, Rapporteur
M. Robin WILSON
Technical manager, STMicroelectronics, Examinateur
M. Laurent FESQUET
Maître de Conférences, Université Grenoble Alpes, Directeur de thèse
M. Rodrigo POSSAMAI BASTOS
Maître de Conférences, Université Grenoble Alpes, Co-Directeur de thèse

To my beloved family: Selma, Ana, Gilson, and Maíra

Table of Contents

Ał	ostrac	et	XV
Ré	isumé	ž	kvii
1	Intro	oduction	1
2	The	Fully Depleted Silicon on Insulator technology	5
	2.1	Introduction	5
	2.2	The problem with scaling down conventional MOS transistors	5
	2.3	Alternatives to conventional bulk technology	6
		2.3.1 Silicon on insulator	6
		2.3.2 Fin field-effect transistors	8
	2.4	The UTBB FD-SOI transistor	9
		2.4.1 Advantages of a thin silicon film	9
		2.4.2 Advantages of an undoped channel	10
		2.4.3 Advantages of the isolation with a BOX	10
		2.4.4 Advantages of an ultra thin BOX	11
	2.5	Modulating the V_{th} of UTBB FD-SOI transistors	12
		2.5.1 Modulating V_{th} through manufacturing techniques	12
		2.5.2 Modulating V_{th} post manufacturing: Body Biasing	13
	2.6	Overall Analysis	16
	2.7	Conclusion	17
3	The	Asynchronous Circuits	19
-	3.1	The limitations of synchronous circuits	19
	3.2	The asynchronous circuits principle	20
	3.3	Data encoding and signaling	21
		3.3.1 Bundled-data encoding	21
		3.3.2 Delay insensitive encoding	21
	3.4	Communication protocols	22
		3.4.1 Two-phase protocols	22
		3.4.2 Four-phase protocols	22
		3.4.3 The Muller gate	24
	3.5	Classification of asynchronous circuits	25
		3.5.1 Micropipeline	26
		3.5.2 Speed Independent	26
		3.5.3 Delay Insensitive	26
		3.5.4 Quasi Delay Insensitive	27

	3.6	The advantages of asynchronous circuits	27
		3.6.1 High performance	27
		3.6.2 Low power consumption	27
		3.6.3 Modularity	28
		3.6.4 Low electromagnetic emissions	28
	3.7	Conclusion	28
4	Con	nparing Voltage Scaling in Synchronous and Asynchronous FD-SOI Circuits	29
	4.1	Exploiting intrinsic features of QDI asynchronous circuits for saving power	30
	4.2	Target Case-Study Circuits: Synchronous and Asynchronous ALU	30
	4.3	Comparison of Synchronous and Asynchronous ALU Results	32
		4.3.1 Simulation Environment	32
		4.3.2 Results	32
	4.4	Conclusions	35
5	Acco	ossing Adaptive Rody Riesing Strategies in Asynchronous Circuits	37
5	A 5 1	Body biasing strategies for asynchronous circuits	38
	5.1	5.1.1 Implementing ABB schemes	38
		5.1.2 ABB schemes for ODI asynchronous circuits	30
		5.1.2 ABD sciences for QDI asynchronous circuits	<i>39</i> <i>1</i> 0
	52	Energy afficiency of ABB strategies with asynchronous circuits	40
	5.2	5.2.1 Analyzing a coarse_grain strategy	41 Λ1
		5.2.1 Analyzing a fine-grain strategy $\dots \dots \dots$	41 43
	53	Simulation Results and Analysis	45
	5.5	5.3.1 Case-Study: 8-bit ODI asynchronous ALU chain	45
		5.3.2 Description of experiments	46
		5.3.2 Description of experiments	47
	5.4	Conclusions	50
			00
6	A bo	ody built-in cell for body biasing subcircuits of integrated systems and detecting	51
	6 1	Fundamentals	52
	0.1	6.1.1 Implementing ABB schemes	52
		6.1.2 Detecting TFs with BBICS	55
	62	Proposed body built-in architecture	55
	0.2	6.2.1 Level-shifter structure	56
		6.2.7 Current sensor structure	57
	63	Simulation Results and Analysis	57
	0.5	6.3.1 Body biasing efficiency	57
		6.3.2 Detecting TFs	59
	6.4	Conclusions	62
7	A	ASIC Design flow adopted for some hand a grateries with multiple PPD-	67
1		The proposed standard cell based IC design flow	03 62
	1.1	7.1.1 System description simulation and asymphronous synthesis	03 64
		7.1.1 System description, simulation and asynchronous synthesis	04 65
		7.1.2 Activity detectors insertion	03
	7 0	Validating the proposed IC design flow	00
	1.2		09

		7.2.1 The testchip	59	
	7.3	Circuit testing and preliminary results	72	
		7.3.1 Accessing the TIMA ASYNC IPs	73	
		7.3.2 Testing the TIMA ASYNC IPs: evaluating ABB strategies	75	
	7.4	Conclusion	77	
8	Conc	usions and Perspectives	79	
Bil	Bibliography of Author's Publications			
Re	References 8			

List of Figures

2.1	Lowering of the voltage barrier caused by the reduction of transistor's gate length.	6
2.2	Cross section of PD-SOI (b), FD-SOI (thick box) (c) and UTBB FD-SOI (d)	_
	transistors built from silicon-on-insulator base waver (a)	7
2.3	3D schematic and cross sections of a FinFET transistor	8
2.4	Classical Bulk (a) and FD-SOI (b) NMOS transistor cross sections. The red ar-	
	rows represent the main leakage current components: I_1 is the junction leakage;	
	I_2 is the gate leakage; and I_3 is the subthreshold leakage. In UTBB FD-SOI	
	technology, the path for junction leakage is eliminated, and the gate and sub-	
	threshold leakages are considerably reduced	9
2.5	Measurements of the DIBL for different gate lengths obtained for in conven-	
	tional bulk, FD-SOI and FinFET technologies	10
2.6	Measurements of the V_{th} variation for different gate lengths obtained for con-	
	ventional bulk, FD-SOI and FinFET technologies	11
2.7	Cross section of NMOS and PMOS UTBB FD-SOI transistors with conven-	
	tional well configuration (RVT transistors).	12
2.8	Cross section of NMOS and PMOS UTBB FD-SOI transistors with flip well	
	configuration (LVT transistors).	13
2.9	Cross section view of UTBB FD-SOI NMOS and PMOS LVT (a) and RVT (b)	
	transistors with biasing.	14
2.10	Range of body biasing in FD-SOI technology. The diode formed by the p-well	
	and n-well junction needs to be reverse biased to limit current leakage	15
2.11	Performance gains for various V_{dd} obtained with FBB scheme and LVT tran-	
	sistors (left); and leakage reduction for different V_{bb} values and $V_{dd} = 0.6$ V,	
	obtained with RVT transistors with RBB scheme (right) [16]	16
0.1		10
3.1	Abstraction of a synchronous system.	19
3.2	Typical representations of an asynchronous systems.	20
3.3	Typical representations of a dual-rail encoded asynchronous systems (a). The	
	information encoded by the tuple $\{Data1, Data0\}$ is depicted in (b)	22
3.4	Two-phase protocol implemented in a bundled-data encoded asynchronous sys-	
	tem	23
3.5	Two-phase protocol implemented in a dual-rail encoded asynchronous system	23
3.6	Four-phase protocol implemented in a bundled-data encoded asynchronous sys-	
	tem	23
3.7	Four-phase protocol implemented in a dual-rail encoded asynchronous system.	24
3.8	2 input symmetric C-element symbol (a) and truth table (b)	25
3.9	Classification of asynchronous circuits in terms of functional redundancy and	
	robustness.	25

Abstraction of a micropipeline asynchronous system.	26
ALU general architecture, designed in synchronous and asynchronous versions. Average power consumption of synchronous and asynchronous ALU in differ-	31
ent V_{dd} conditions and corners typical-typical (TT), slow-slow (SS), and fast-fast (FF).	33
Data throughput of synchronous and asynchronous ALU in different V_{dd} conditions	33
Energy per bit of the synchronous and asynchronous ALU in different V_{dd} conditions.	34
Abstraction of a level-shifter based BBG controlling the V_{th} tuning of a generic target system. The activity signal indicates if the Target System is active or idle. The former is indicated by a logic value 1, which sets PMOS and NMOS body outputs $V_{\text{act_p}}$ and $V_{\text{act_n}}$ respectively. If the Target system is idle, the activity signal is 0, which sets PMOS and NMOS body outputs $V_{\text{idle_p}}$ and $V_{\text{idle_n}}$ respectively.	20
Abstraction of adaptive body biasing strategies at fine (a), coarse (b), and medium	<u> </u>
Variation of the number of body biased BBDs with time (b) in a system split into a single BBD - implementation of a coarse-grain ABB strategy - as a burst of input vectors (a) is processed by the system	40
Variation of the number of body biased BBDs with time (b) in a system split into N BBDs - implementation of a fine-grain ABB strategy - as a burst of input vectors (a) is processed by the system	44
Representation of the pipeline stages of the QDI asynchronous ALU used as base architecture (a), and its connection in chain (b) to serve as case-study of adaptive body biasing strategies. In (a) the clouds represent combinational logic and the grey rectangles represent memory elements. In (b), the input vectors are generated by a LFSR, connected to the first ALU of the chain. A handshake interface (End Loop) is connected to the last ALU of the chain to implement the communication protocol in the system's output stage.	46
Energy per operation variation with activity ratio of fine, medium, coarse and always biased strategies for a $V_{dd} = 1.0 \text{ V}$, $V_{bb} = 1.5 \text{ V}$ in (a); and $V_{dd} = 0.6 \text{ V}$, $V_{bb} = 1.0 \text{ V}$ in (b). The measurements in (a) and (b) were normalized to the same reference as tables 5.1 and 5.2, i.e. the energy per operation result of the always biased strategy for a a $V_{dd} = 1.0 \text{ V}$, $V_{bb} = 0.0 \text{ V}$ and activity ratio of 0.1.	49
Abstraction of a level-shifter based BBG controlling the V_{th} tuning of a generic target system	52
State-of-the-art cross-type level shifter [149]	52
State-of-the-art diode-type level shifter [78]	55
State-of-the-art mirror-type level shifter [73]	54
Abstraction of BBICS monitoring a generic target system. A zoom in an ar- bitrary part of the system details the occurrence of a TF, modeled as a current source, temporarily changing the output of an inverter from 1 to 0.	55
	Abstraction of a micropipeline asynchronous system

6.6 The proposed body built-in cell architecture. The inputs and outputs are marked in blue. X_n is a design factors used for calibrating the sensitivity of the sensor in detecting transient faults.

56

60

- Multiple Carlo simulation for food runs ($v_{act_n} = 1^{\circ}v$, $v_{dd} = 0.0^{\circ}v$, nequency of 20 MHz and temperature of 27°C). The simulated results were normalized to the equivalent values obtained for a standard LVT inverter with minimal drive. The reference values used in the normalization were: 4.88 ps, 0.43 fJ and 4.35 nW.

7.4 Partition of the core (area surrounded by the GND and VDD rings) into BBDs
(a). The required minimum distance between adjacent BBDs is highlighted in a cross section of transistors that belong to different BBDs (b) 67
7.5 Distribution of BBGs in each BBD. The *Vdds* and *Gnds* - outputs of the BBGs

- are connected through well taps to the PMOS and NMOS body of transistors belonging to the same BBD respectively. V_{act_n} and V_{act_p} , shown in the zoom, are input power nets common to every BBG, therefore they are the same for all 68 High-level abstraction of the testchip architecture. The blocks and arrows in 7.6 green belong to the Asynchronous link (ASL) and the salmon rectangles represent the IPs embedded in the testchip. 69 7.7 Architecture of the TIMA ASYNC IPs. 70 7.8 Testchip top layout. 72 7.9 Printed circuit board developed to simplify the testing of the testchip. It is

7.9 Timed circuit board developed to simplify the testing of the testemp. It is connected to the ST32 Nucleo (white board on the left). A zoom into the socket shows the back face of the testchip and the dimensions of the packaging. 73
7.10 Oscilloscope waveform of dual-rail encoded tx and rx channels of the ASL in-

List of Tables

2.1	Comparison of manufacturing cost, power consumption and performance on conventional bulk, UTBB FD-SOI and FinFET technologies.	16
5.1	Electrical simulation results for $V_{dd} = 1.0$ V and activity ratio of 0.1. The values of total power, operation frequency and energy per operation were normalized to the respective values of the always biased strategy for a $V_{bb} = 0.0$ V and a $V_{dd} = 1.0$ V	47
5.2	Electrical simulation results for $V_{dd} = 0.6$ V and activity ratio of 0.05. The values of total power, operation frequency and energy per operation were normalized to the measurements of the always biased strategy for a $V_{bb} = 0.0$ V, a $V_{dd} = 1.0$ V and activity ratio of 0.1.	48
7.1	Area overhead and number of BBGs required to implement coarse, medium and fine grain ABB strategies.	72
7.2	Testchip results of performance measurement compared with simulation at a $V_{dd} = 0.6$ V and activity ratio of 1	75
7.3	Testchip results of average power consumption compared with simulation at a $V_{dd} = 0.6$ V and activity ratio of 1	76

Abstract

Keeping the fast evolving pace of embedded systems of portable devices require ameliorations of power management techniques, without compromising the circuit performance and robustness. In this context, this thesis studies novel energy management schemes, and how to implement them, by using two main design approaches: asynchronous logic and adaptive body biasing (ABB) techniques. Four main contributions have been done, thus enabling the design of more energy efficient asynchronous circuits. 1) We contributed with the design of a Quasi-delay Insensitive (QDI) asynchronous ALU architecture, used in a comparative analysis of asynchronous versus synchronous systems. This first study has demonstrated the energy efficiency and robustness of QDI circuits, especially if operating at low power supply (V_{dd}) . 2) We proposed a new body built-in cell for implementing ABB schemes by tuning the circuit threshold voltage (Vth) on-the-fly; and detecting short-duration and long-duration transient faults (TF) caused by environmental radiation. The proposed cell is a key building block to fully benefit from body biasing features of the FD-SOI technology while enhancing system's reliability. 3) We assessed three different ABB strategies - based on automatic activity detection and multiple body-biasing domains (BBDs) - for QDI asynchronous circuits. Furthermore, a methodology for analyzing energy efficiency of ABB strategies in QDI asynchronous circuits is also proposed in this work. 4) We developed a standard cell-based IC design flow to apply ABB strategies with multiple BBDs by using the proposed body built-in cells. A testchip has been designed and fabricated to validate the developed design flow and the efficacy of the body built-in cell.

Keywords: Quasi-delay-insensitive Asynchronous Circuits, Adaptive Body Biasing, Energy Efficiency, FD-SOI.

Résumé

Afin de suivre le rythme effréné des évolutions des systèmes embarqués et des dispositifs portables, il s'avère aujourd'hui indispensable d'optimiser la gestion de l'énergie sans pour autant compromettre la performance et la robustesse des circuits. Dans ce contexte, cette thèse étudie de nouveaux dispositifs de gestion de l'énergie ainsi que leur mise en œuvre, en combinant deux approches: la logique asynchrone et les techniques de polarisation du substrat (Adaptive Body Biasing - ABB). Cette thèse comporte quatre contributions permettant la conception de circuits asynchrones énergétiquement plus efficaces. 1) Une unité arithmétique et logique (UAL) asynchrone quasi insensible aux délais (Quasi Delay Insensitive - QDI) a été conçue et utilisée pour mener une analyse comparative entre systèmes synchrones et asynchrones. Cette étude démontre notamment la meilleure efficacité énergétique et la plus grande robustesse des circuits asynchrones QDI, surtout lorsqu'ils fonctionnent à basse tension. 2) Une cellule standard a été spécialement développée pour mettre en œuvre nos schémas d'adaptation dynamique du substrat (ABB) qui ajustent la tension de seuil (V_{th}) des transistors. En outre, cette cellule s'est révélée très utile pour la détection de fautes transitoires causées par des radiations environnementales. Cette cellule est en outre un élément clé pour exploiter la polarisation du substrat, un des intérêts majeurs de la technologie FD-SOI, et d'améliorer la fiabilité du système. 3) Trois stratégies de polarisation de substrat ont été évaluées. Ces stratégies reposent sur la détection automatique de l'activité des circuits asynchrones QDI et de la polarisation de multiples domaines dans le substrat (Body Biasing Domains - BBD). De plus, une méthode pour analyser l'efficacité énergétique des stratégies de polarisation pour les circuits asynchrones QDI a également été proposée dans le cadre de cette thèse. 4) Enfin, un flot de conception de circuits numériques intégrés a été proposé et développé. Ce flot, basé sur des cellules standards, permet d'exploiter des stratégies de polarisation (ABB) avec plusieurs domaines (BBD) en utilisant la cellule standard spécialement développée. Un testchip a été conçu et fabriqué pour valider notre flot de conception et évaluer l'efficacité de la cellule proposée.

Mots-clés : Circuits Asynchrones Quasi-Insensibles aux Délais, Polarisation Adaptative du Substrat, Efficacité Énergétique, FD-SOI.

Chapter 1

Introduction

The rapid technological advances of recent years have induced a massive spread of electronic circuits to almost every apparatus that surround our environment. From smartphones to smart-watches and even personal health monitoring systems, nowadays most devices have embedded integrated circuits (ICs). We entered an era of boundlessly greater connectivity, the Internet of Things (IoT), in which these ubiquitous electronic devices exchange information between them and with the cloud. The popularity of IoT has been increasing at a incredibly fast pace. Intel Corporation has estimated that the number of connected devices was 2 billion in 2006 and reached 15 billions by 2015. Extrapolating these numbers, they projected a total of 200 billions devices to be connected to each other by 2020 [8].

This massive proliferation of connected "things" has been rapidly increasing the demand for energy. For instance, the Semiconductor Industry Association has estimated that the computer devices will require more energy than what the entire world is capable of generating by 2040 [132]. Thus, the law of the more performance the better, the predominant design theory in past years, is no longer acceptable. Instead, the systems designed for IoT applications, especially wireless sensor networks, need to prioritize energy efficiency. The result is not only batteries that last longer and increased autonomy, but also the preservation of natural resources for the sake of a greener world.

Attaining the aforementioned energy efficiency has been sought in three different research axis: technology, architectural design, and power management techniques. In the first axis, enhancing the manufacturing technology to shrink the transistors gate length has historically allowed decreasing the power consumption required for maintaining a certain performance. For instance, in [101] authors have reported that scaling the technology node of a microprocessor from 0.75 μm to 0.35 μm resulted in a power reduction by a factor of approximately two with an equivalent performance. Reducing the power consumption while maintaining a similar performance implies a higher energy efficiency was achieved with technology scale down. This energy gain with transistors scale down has been possible until the 100 nm node. Beyond this node, several fundamental physics limitation previously neglected, for example short channel effects, have slowed down the energy efficiency enhancement traditionally achieved with simple scale down of conventional bulk technology [128]. To overcome the 100 nm manufacturing barrier, alternative technologies, based on thin film, have been proposed. The two main alternatives proposed by the industry were: the Fully depleted Silicon on Insulator (FD-SOI) [136] and the Fin Field Effect Transistor (FinFET) [35], technologies in which the electrostatic control in the channel has been improved to enable the pursuit of power consumption and performance improvements with downscale.

Furthermore, the second axis of research towards more energy efficiency is the architectural design approach. Asynchronous circuits, systems with local synchronization instead of global synchronization, has been shown to be a promising solution for low power and high energy efficient applications [19]. In this type of circuit, a local handshake protocol controls data propagating through the system instead of a global clock signal. In the absence of the clock signal, the power consumed by the clock tree circuitry is eliminated. Additionally, the event-driven nature of the asynchronous logic automatically turns the inactive blocks to standby mode. Only blocks with data to be processed will be activated, thus the dynamic power of the system is reduced if compared to a synchronous counterpart [18, 50]. There are different methods to design asynchronous circuits that differ from each other in the number of timing assumptions used to implement sequencing. The class of Quasi-Delay Insensitive (QDI) asynchronous circuits, the design approach explored in this thesis, can operate correctly with only a few assumptions on certain forks [86]. The reduced number of timing assumptions makes QDI asynchronous circuits very robust and appropriate for low-power operation.

Another possibility for enhancing energy efficiency is implementing existing power management techniques, e.g. voltage scaling and body biasing [26, 98]. The former consists in reducing V_{dd} in order to decrease the dynamic power consumption at the cost of increased gate delays, a technique imposing a permanent trade-off between power and performance. Complementarily, applying a voltage to the body of the transistors - a technique known as body biasing - artificially changes transistors threshold voltage (V_{th}) in order to decrease static power consumption or boost performance for achieving optimum energy efficiency [157]. Moreover, adaptive body biasing (ABB) allows further enhancing energy efficiency by adaptively decreasing V_{th} during computation, in order to improve performance, and increase V_{th} at idle periods to mitigate leakage [109, 165]. The use of ABB schemes is perfectly suitable for IoT applications, in which long periods of idleness between two calculations is a key characteristic.

In this context, we focused on merging these three research axis to design more energy efficient nano-electronic systems, as proposed by Hamon et al [56]. The extended body biasing range - achievable with the FD-SOI technology - enable the implementation of efficient ABB strategies in asynchronous circuits, systems in which the application of the aforementioned power management techniques is straightforward. The asynchronous handshake signals are directly exploited to detect the periods of activity and idleness - necessary for implementing ABB. Moreover, the local synchronization nature of asynchronous circuits allows ABB-induced on-the-fly delay variation with a minimal risk of timing violations.

This thesis brings four main contributions to enable the design of more energy efficient asynchronous circuits. The first one is the design of a QDI asynchronous ALU architecture, used in a comparative analysis of asynchronous versus synchronous systems. This first study has demonstrated the energy efficiency and robustness of QDI circuits, especially if operating at low V_{dd} . The second contribution is a new level-shifter based body biasing generator (BBG) that enables applying ABB schemes by tuning the circuit Vth on-the-fly. The proposed BBG is a key building block to fully benefit from the body biasing features of the FD-SOI technology. It is also capable of detecting short-duration and long-duration transient faults (TF) caused by environmental radiation, thus enhancing system reliability.

The third contribution of this thesis is the evaluation of three different ABB strategies for QDI asynchronous circuits. The objective of this study was to determine the optimal granularity for implementing multiple body-biasing domains (BBDs) with automatic biasing activation depending on circuit activity. Furthermore, a methodology for analyzing energy efficiency of ABB strategies in QDI asynchronous circuits is also proposed. Finally, as a final contribution of this thesis, a standard cell based IC design flow has been proposed. It uses the proposed architecture of level-shifter based BBG to implement ABB strategies with multiple BBDs in QDI asynchronous circuits. In order to validate the IC design flow, a testchip has been designed and fabricated in FD-SOI 28 nm technology, which also showed the efficacy of the developed level-shifter based BBG and gains of implementing ABB strategies in QDI asynchronous systems.

This thesis is organized as follows. Chapter 2 introduces the state of the art on the FD-SOI technology, comparing it to conventional bulk and FinFET technologies. In the sequel, the basic concepts of asynchronous circuits is presented in chapter 3, highlighting their advantages over synchronous circuits. A case study comparison of synchronous versus asynchronous circuits, the results of the first contribution, is presented in chapter 4. In chapter 5, a methodology for analyzing energy efficiency of ABB strategies in QDI asynchronous circuits is presented. It establishes the criteria for assessing three different ABB strategies based on automatic activity detection and multiple body-biasing domains (BBDs), with the goal of determining optimal use cases for each strategy. Chapter 6 presents a novel level-shifter based BBG, which is the key for implementing the strategies investigated in chapter 5. Additionally, the proposed cell enables transient fault detection, which contributes for improving the robustness of the system. Subsequently, the proposed dedicated IC design flow for implementing ABB strategies with multiple BBDs by using the proposed body built-in cells is presented and validated with the preliminary results obtained with the fabricated test-chip. Finally, chapter 8 concludes this thesis, summarizing the main contributions and presenting the conclusions and future perspectives of this work.

Chapter 2

The Fully Depleted Silicon on Insulator technology

2.1 Introduction

Historically, the continuous scale down of semiconductor nodes has relied on doubled integration density and significant performance gains for each new technology node, as foreseen by Moore's law [102]. Additionally, the reduction of the cost per transistor has also been seen as a key parameter that enables advances in the semiconductor industry [65]. Although the improvements with scaling have been consistent for technology nodes until 90 nm, a number of fundamental physics limitation, previously neglected, have decreased the attractiveness of conventional bulk technology scaling beyond the referred node. The main physics limitations are Short Channel Effects (SCE), reduced carrier mobility, increased gate tunneling current and increased p-n junction leakage [128]. Moreover, according to the study published in [65], for nodes below 28 nm, using conventional bulk transistor techniques will increase the cost per gate by approximately 1.6%, mainly due to process complexity and unfeasible effective gate length reduction.

In this context, alternative manufacturing technologies, based on thin film, have been proposed to overcome the issues encountered by shrinking conventional MOS transistors, thus enabling to cross the 32 nm technology node barrier. The two main alternatives proposed by the industry were: the Fully depleted Silicon on Insulator (FD-SOI) [96, 136] and the Fin Field Effect Transistor (FinFET) [35, 38]. Both technologies use an undoped thin silicon film between source and drain, which enables a much better electrostatic control of the channel by the gate. As a result, the so called short channel effect and the sub-threshold leakage are greatly reduced [35, 136]. Furthermore, the undoped silicon also substantially reduce the variation of transistor's threshold voltage (V_{th}) induced by the fabrication process, thus enabling circuit's operation at lower supply voltages (V_{dd}). The FD-SOI and FinFET technologies are presented and compared to the conventional bulk technology in the sequel of this chapter.

2.2 The problem with scaling down conventional MOS transistors

Many parasitic effects have appeared when shrinking conventional MOS transistors bellow 100 nm. In fact, the so called short channel effects (SCE) arise when the distance between

the source and the drain reaches the order of magnitude of the depletion region. In this case, the voltage barrier in the channel drops, as depicted in Fig. 2.1 b, causing a decrease in $V_{\rm th}$. In addition, biasing the drain/source terminal also influences the depth of the depletion region in a short channel transistor, as in Fig. 2.1 c. Therefore, the short channel effect is intensified by the polarization of the drain, an effect known as Drain Induced Barrier Lowering (DIBL).



a) Long chanel, $V_{DS} = 0$ b) Short chanel, $V_{DS} = 0$ c) Short chanel, $V_{DS} \neq 0$

Fig. 2.1: Lowering of the voltage barrier caused by the reduction of transistor's gate length.

In addition to short-channel effects, another phenomenon that also degrades electrical characteristics of short channel MOS transistors is the variation of the number of dopants in the channel, known in the literature as Random Dopant Fluctuation (RDF). In fact, RDF has become today the main source of variability of V_{th} [12]. Indeed, a MOS transistor fabricated in conventional 100 nm technology has an average of approximately 100 dopant atoms in its channel [73]. Since V_{th} is directly affected by variations in the channel's dopant concentration, the impact of RDF is magnified as the gate length shrinks. The result is a limited reduction of the nominal V_{dd} as technology nodes scale down, which also limits the reduction of the consumed static power from node to node.

To overcome the insufficient power and performance gains caused by the arising of the aforementioned parasitic effects, many improvements in the fabrication process have been proposed [13, 14, 41]. Despite all the advances in the conventional bulk manufacturing process, the short channel effects continued to degrade the gate electrostatic control over the channel as technology nodes scaled down. Hence, the industry was forced to search alternative manufacturing technologies to continue the scale down of transistors.

2.3 Alternatives to conventional bulk technology

2.3.1 Silicon on insulator

One of the alternatives to advance beyond the 32 nm technology node was adding a layer of oxide insulator in the substrate (buried insulator or BOX), as depicted in Fig. 2.2a. Thus, the source, drain and channel are separated from the substrate (also known as body or back plane). The addition of a BOX enabled reducing the junction parasitic capacitances, increasing the

electrostatic control of the channel, and also reducing SCE. Hence, the performance is improved while decreasing the dynamic consumption [20], what enabled the crossing of the technological barrier imposed by short channel effects.

There are several types of manufacturing technologies that use silicon on insulator [20, 34]. The basic difference between each one of them is the thickness of the silicon film on the top of the BOX (t_{si}), and the thickness of the BOX itself (t_{BOX}). One of the first proposed technologies was the Partially Depleted Silicon on Insulator (PD-SOI), illustrated in Fig. 2.2b. It contains a thick top silicon layer, t_{si} is larger than the depth of the depletion region [20]. Thus, the channel is only partially occupied by the depletion region, what explains its denomination. Although PD-SOI transistors have been the focus of many scientific publications [10, 104, 129], the fluctuation of V_{th} caused by the circuit switching history made PD-SOI a deprecated technology.

The problem with PD-SOI was solved by reducing t_{si} to the same order of magnitude of the depletion region. In this case, the channel is fully occupied by the depletion region, which explains the reason for the name Fully Depleted Silicon on Insulator (FD-SOI). A thinner top silicon layer has shown to improve SCE, increase transconductance, improve sub-threshold



Fig. 2.2: Cross section of PD-SOI (b), FD-SOI (thick box) (c) and UTBB FD-SOI (d) transistors built from silicon-on-insulator base waver (a). t_{si} represents the thickness of the top silicon layer and t_{BOX} represents the thickness of BOX. $t_{si1} > t_{si3}$; $t_{si2} = t_{si3}$; $t_{BOX1} > t_{BOX3}$; $t_{BOX2} > t_{BOX3}$. Figure based on information available in [139].

slope, and increase soft errors tolerance [32, 43, 140, 142].

Once t_{si} is reduced to the point of generating a fully depleted channel, two technologies flavors are achievable by adjusting t_{BOX} : The FD-SOI with thick BOX, depicted in Fig. 2.2c and the Ultra Thin Body and BOX FD-SOI (UTBB FD-SOI), shown in Fig. 2.2d. As illustrated Fig. 2.2, the top silicon layer of FD-SOI and UTBB FD-SOI have the same thickness: $t_{si2} = t_{si3}$; and the BOX of the UTBB FD-SOI is thinner: $t_{BOX3} < t_{BOX2}$. As a result previous experimental and simulation work has shown that, not only the UTBB FD-SOI has been proven to have considerably reduced SCE [34,64,113,142,150,155,167], but also a thin BOX allows calibrating transistors V_{th} by gate biasing [108, 151].

Thanks to these advantages and the advances the technique for manufacturing SOI wafers, the UTBB FD-SOI technology prevails as the SOI alternatives to replace conventional bulk. Further details on UTBB FD-SOI will be given in the next section.

2.3.2 Fin field-effect transistors

The other alternative adopted by the industry to continue scaling down transistors beyond 32 nm was developing the Fin Field-Effect Transistor (FinFET) technology. This solution was largely supported by Intel corporation [87]. In this 3D manufacturing technology, the drain and the source are raised out of the substrate, forming a shape known as fin. The gate surrounds the fin in a perpendicular axis, as depicted in Fig. 2.3 a. A nitrided hard mask isolates the top part of fin. Consequently, the channel is formed in the XX' direction and the carriers move in the YY' direction. With this configuration, a better electrostatic control of the depletion region is obtained compared to regular SOI transistor. Furthermore, the influence of the drain electric field on the channel is reduced, thus reducing SCE [35].



Fig. 2.3: 3D schematic (a) and cross sections YY' (b) and XX' (c) of a FinFET transistor.

From an electrostatic point of view, FinFET transistors are better than FD-SOI transistors. The former has also shown to have better performance results [60, 168]. However, they are much more difficult to manufacture [60]. The simplified planar manufacturing process of FD-SOI transistors allow reducing the fabrication time if compared to FinFET. In addition, the structure of FD-SOI transistors is very close to that of conventional bulk. Therefore, adapting existing circuit designs from conventional bulk to FD-SOI technology is simpler than adapting it to FinFET.

2.4 The UTBB FD-SOI transistor

A typical cross section of an UTBB FD-SOI transistor is shown in Fig. 2.4b and compared to a cross section of a conventional bulk transistor, in Fig. 2.4a. As explained in the previous section, the main difference between these technologies is the insertion of the ultra thin BOX in the UTBB FD-SOI, separating the thin silicon film that forms source, drain and the channel from the substrate of the transistor (p-well in Fig. 2.4b).



Fig. 2.4: Classical Bulk (a) and FD-SOI (b) NMOS transistor cross sections. The red arrows represent the main leakage current components: I_1 is the junction leakage; I_2 is the gate leakage; and I_3 is the subthreshold leakage. In UTBB FD-SOI technology, the path for junction leakage is eliminated, and the gate and subthreshold leakages are considerably reduced.

2.4.1 Advantages of a thin silicon film

The extremely thin top silicon layer of UTBB FD-SOI transistors provides a much better electrostatic control than conventional bulk [69]. For achieving optimal electrostatic behavior, t_{si} is kept in the order of one third of the gate length value [97, 135]. For instance, $t_{si} \cong 12$ nm in UTBB FDSOI 28 nm technology [137]. As a result, two major advantages: the first one is a reduced subthreshold slope [82]. This parameter reflects the capability of the gate to effectively control the current flow through the channel. The closer the subthreshold slope is to the theoretical minimum value of 60 mV/dec, the higher is the gate control over the channel what consequently reduces the gate leakage (I_2 in Fig. 2.4a) [69].

The second major advantages of a better electrostatic control is the reduction of shortchannel effects, especially DIBL [69,97]. According to its theoretical equation [135], the value of the DIBL is directly proportional to the depth of the source and drain junctions. Since in UTBB FD-SOI the depth of the junctions is t_{si} , which is considerably smaller than the corresponding depth in conventional bulk, the value of DIBL is considerably reduced in UTBB FD-SOI. The experimental demonstration of reduction of DIBL is depicted in Fig. 2.5, extracted from [16].

In [16], a comparison with different DIBL values obtained for the conventional bulk (circles), FD-SOI (squares) and FinFET (stars) technologies is presented, as depicted in Fig. 2.5. The presence of a thin top silicon layer make the FD-SOI and FinFET DIBL values smaller than the measurements obtain in conventional bulk technology, for every gate length shown in Fig. 2.5. Additionally, the measurements obtained with FinFET are slightly smaller than the corresponding FD-SOI measurements due to the improved electrostatic control obtained with the former, as mentioned in section 2.3.2.



Fig. 2.5: Measurements of the DIBL for different gate lengths obtained for in conventional bulk, FD-SOI and FinFET technologies [16].

Finally, the combination of reduced short-channel effects and reduced subthreshold slope achieved in the UTBB FD-SOI induces a reduction in the subthreshold leakage (I_3 in Fig. 2.4a).

2.4.2 Advantages of an undoped channel

The isolation provided by the BOX free the UTBB FD-SOI technology from the obligation of doping the channel, as is the case for the conventional bulk technology. An undoped channel brings two major improvement: removing the random dopants fluctuation (RDF) of the channel and reducing the $V_{\rm th}$ variability, which are considered as two of the most critical challenges for continuing the scale down in CMOS technology [12, 161]. Therefore, for the same gate length, an UTBB FD-SOI transistor has a coefficient of variability of threshold voltage (AV_t) approximately three times lower than an equivalent transistor in conventional bulk technology [29, 116]. The values of AV_t for conventional bulk, FD-SOI, and FinFET technology are depicted in Fig. 2.6 [16]. The smaller values obtained with the FD-SOI technology demonstrates that it is less subject to local $V_{\rm th}$ variations than conventional bulk technology.

Less variability means less power and performance differences between process corners fast-fast (FF) and slow-slow (SS). Thus, less margin needs to be added by the logical synthesis and place and route tools to guarantee timing closure. Therefore, the circuits designed in UTBB FD-SOI technology operate in a faster frequency than an equivalent circuit designed in the same technology node in conventional bulk.

Another advantage of an undoped channel is limiting the Gate induced Drain leakage (GIDL), one of the components of current leakage in MOSFET transistors. Previous studies show that the GIDL is very low in UTBB FD-SOI technology, in the order of a few $pA/\mu m$ [22, 28, 29].

2.4.3 Advantages of the isolation with a BOX

The presence of the BOX, that completely isolates the source/drain from the substrate imposes certain advantages. The most straightforward one is the complete elimination of the current leakage from source/drain to the substrate, marked as I1 in Fig. 2.4a. Eliminating one of the



Fig. 2.6: Measurements of the V_{th} variation for different gate lengths obtained for conventional bulk, FD-SOI and FinFET technologies [16].

sources of leakage that exists in conventional bulk technology allows reducing the static power consumption in FD-SOI technology [33].

Furthermore, the insertion of the BOX limits the depth of source and drain, which allows reducing the diffusion surface. As a consequence, a reduced parasitic junction capacitance is achieved [97]. Considering that the source/drain terminals of transistors are connected to each other to form logic gates, and considering that the output capacitance seen by a certain logic gate is the equivalent of all junction capacitances of all source/drain terminals connected to the output of that logic gate, reducing the junction capacitance directly reduces the energy required to switch a logic gate state. Therefore, the dynamic power consumption in an UTBB FD-SOI circuit is considerably lower if compared to an equivalent in conventional bulk operating at the same frequency [97].

Another positive effect of the BOX addition is the elimination of the latch-up [128]. This phenomenon occurs in conventional bulk technology, under some specific situations. A parasitic thyristor based structure forms between adjacent transistors, thus inducing a large current to flow from V_{dd} to Gnd. The latch-up generally has a destructive effect to CMOS circuits and is a major problem in CMOS systems [61]. In FD-SOI, thanks to the BOX and the Shallow Trench Isolation (STI depicted in Fig. 2.4b), the adjacent transistors are electrically isolated from each other. Consequently, the parasitic bipolar transistors, formed in conventional bulk by the juxtaposition of n-wells and p-wells, are suppressed. The latch-up effect is thus eliminated in the FD-SOI technology.

2.4.4 Advantages of an ultra thin BOX

In UTBB FD-SOI technology, as its acronym suggests, an ultra thin BOX is used. In the 28 nm node, for instance, $tbox \cong 25$ nm [137]. It has been demonstrated that a thinner BOX strengthens the electrostatic control over the channel by reducing the DIBL [107]. The short channel effects are also decreased with a thin BOX due to the suppression of the lateral electrostatic coupling that exists between source, drain and channel of transistors with a thick BOX [97, 150]. As a result, the reduction of tbox enhances the scalability of UTBB FDSOI transistors down to

the 11 nm node with an almost constant tsi [97].

2.5 Modulating the V_{th} of UTBB FD-SOI transistors

In order to meet the tight power and performance constraints of nowadays complex systems, the use of transistors with different V_{th} is mandatory. In high performance designs, for instance, low V_{th} transistors are commonly used in critical paths to increase the performance of the overall system, whereas high V_{th} transistors are preferred for non-critical paths, so that the static power consumption is reduced. Thus tuning V_{th} is necessary for the establishment of any CMOS technology in the deep sub-micro era.

2.5.1 Modulating V_{th} through manufacturing techniques

The conventional bulk technology proposes three levels of Vth, high; regular; and low [11,148]. In order to create these variants, the V_{th} is modified either by controlling the doping of the channel, or by changing the gate stack used [11]. These two options were not kept in the UTBB FD-SOI. Indeed, as described in previous sections, the channel in UTBB FD-SOI is undoped to reduced variability. Thus, doping the channel would increase the variability of the transistors. Moreover, the second method considerably raises the manufacturing cost and complexity.

Thus, in UTBB FD-SOI technology a third method for creating a multi V_{th} platform have been used. The substrate underneath the BOX is doped to a high level concentration [46, 107], illustrated by the p+ layer in Fig. 2.4b, also known as back plane. Therefore, adjusting V_{th} of the transistors is done by modulating only the type and doping levels of the back plane while keeping the same gate metal type. This technique was initially used to improve the electrostatic integrity of the channel [45]. It is nowadays used to generate transistors with different V_{th} levels. Depending on the type of dopants used in the back plane, two V_{th} level possibilities are used in UTBB FD-SOI: a low V_{th} option (LVT), and a higher V_{th} option, which is known as regular V_{th} (RVT).

In the RVT configuration, the back plane dopant type is the opposite of source and drain dopants, which causes an increase in transistors V_{th} . A cross section schematic of a NMOS and a PMOS RVT transistors is depicted in Fig. 2.7. In this case, the p-well and n-well disposition is equal to the conventional bulk technology: the NMOS lies over a p-well and the PMOS lies over a n-well. Due to the similarity with the conventional bulk, this architecture is known as conventional well.



Fig. 2.7: Cross section of NMOS and PMOS UTBB FD-SOI transistors with conventional well configuration (RVT transistors).

Conversely, in the LVT configuration, the back plane dopant type is the same of source and drain dopants, which causes an decrease in transistors V_{th} . A cross section schematic of a NMOS

and a PMOS RVT transistors is depicted in Fig. 2.8. Thus, the p-well and n-well dispositions are flipped if compared to the conventional bulk technology: the NMOS lies over a n-well and the PMOS lies over a p-well. This disposition of n-wells and p-wells are only possible since the BOX provides electrical isolation between source/drain and the back plane. It is commonly referred to as flip-well.



Fig. 2.8: Cross section of NMOS and PMOS UTBB FD-SOI transistors with flip well configuration (LVT transistors).

2.5.2 Modulating V_{th} post manufacturing: Body Biasing

Once the transistors are fabricated, the V_{th} achieved by adjusting the back plane doping, as mentioned in the previous section, is fixed and can not be modified during circuit operation. However, the UTBB FD-SOI technology provides yet another knob for modulating the V_{th} post manufacturing. Thanks to the ultra thin BOX, applying a voltage to the back plane modifies the V_{th} of the transistors, a technique known as body biasing [81]. Therefore, V_{th} can be adjusted even during circuit operation, thus increasing the frequency of the circuit or reducing its static power consumption [9, 26, 40, 93, 144]. Body biasing has been also used to compensate process variation, since the biasing voltage is applied post manufacturing [51, 143, 146].

Boosting the performance of a target system is done by applying a positive voltage to the n-well $(+V_{bb})$ and a negative voltage to the p-well $(-V_{bb})$, as depicted in Fig. 2.9a. The result is the accumulation of negative charges in the channel of the NMOS transistor, as illustrated in the zoom of Fig. 2.9a. Analogously, positive charges are accumulated in the channel of the PMOS transistor. Since the induced excess of charges facilitates transistors switching, the V_{th} decreases. As V_{bb} increases, so does the concentration of charges in both PMOS and NMOS, thus further decreasing V_{th} . Thus, the operation speed increases and so does the subthreshold leakage. The aforementioned body biasing scheme is known as forward body biasing (FBB).

Conversely, reducing the system's static consumption is done by applying a negative voltage to the n-well $(-V_{bb})$ and a positive voltage to the p-well $(+V_{bb})$, as depicted in Fig. 2.9b. The result is the accumulation of positive charges in the channel of the NMOS transistor, and negative charges in the channel of the PMOS transistor. Since the induced excess of charges makes transistors switching more difficult, the V_{th} increases. As V_{bb} increases, so does the concentration of charges in both PMOS and NMOS, thus further increasing V_{th} . Thus, the static power consumption decreases and so does the operation speed. The aforementioned body biasing scheme is known as reverse body biasing (RBB).

Body biasing is also used in conventional bulk technology. Nonetheless, body biasing a conventional bulk transistor with a voltage higher than the range of ± 0.3 V cause undesired effects [76]. For instance, FBB is done by applying a positive voltage to the p-well of an NMOS transistor, which directly bias the substrate/source PN junction. The drawbacks are the increase of the junction leakage consumption (I_1 in Fig. 2.4) and the augmented risk of latch-up.



Fig. 2.9: Cross section view of UTBB FD-SOI NMOS and PMOS LVT (a) and RVT (b) transistors. The LVT transistors are body biased with a FBB scheme (a), while the RVT transistors are biased with a RBB scheme (b); the body biasing scheme in which V_{bb} is wider in both cases. The zoom in (a) shows the carriers accumulation induced by V_{bb} .

Conversely, RBB is done by applying a negative voltage to the n-well of a conventional bulk PMOS, thus directly biasing its substrate/source PN junction at the cost of an increased GIDL.

In UTBB FD-SOI technology the isolation provided by the BOX eliminate theses drawbacks, since there is no junction leakage (I_1 in Fig. 2.4) nor latch-up in UTBB FD-SOI. Additionally, the increased body factor provided by the insertion of the BOX indicates a better control of V_{th} by applying a biasing voltage (V_{bb}) to the substrate. It has been shown that the body factor is approximately 85 mV/V in UTBB FD-SOI and 25 mV/V in conventional bulk for the 28 nm node [34]. The BOX also increases the voltage range of body biasing to approximately \pm 3 V. In fact, the maximum V_{bb} is imposed by the diode formed between p-well and n-well, shown in Fig. 2.9a and Fig. 2.9b and replicated in Fig. 2.10. If this diode is inversely biased, the preferred scenario, the maximum voltage that can be applied to the p-n junction (V_{pn} in Fig. 2.10) that do not generate undesired effects is the diode's breakdown voltage. A higher V_{pn} would significantly increase the leakage by avalanche breakdown. This ideal scenario is achieved in UTBB FD-SOI by implementing an FBB scheme in LVT transistors or with RBB in RVT transistors. For the 28 nm node, the breakdown voltage is approximately 7 V. Thus, the maximum allowed V_{pn} is 7 V, which enables a body biasing of $V_{bb} = \pm 3$ V.



Fig. 2.10: Range of body biasing in FD-SOI technology. The diode formed by the p-well and n-well junction needs to be reverse biased to limit current leakage.

On the other hand, directly biasing the diode is also allowed though with a very reduced voltage range. In this case, the maximum V_{pn} is the diode's V_{th} (approximately 0.6 V in the 28 nm node), as depicted in the right-hand side of the graph in Fig. 2.10. Higher V_{pn} values would bring the diode to the forward region, exponentially increasing the leakage. This non ideal scenario is achieved in UTBB FD-SOI by implementing an RBB scheme in LVT transistors or with FBB in RVT transistors.

2.5.2.1 Performance and power gains

Many studies have shown the efficacy of using body biasing schemes to enhance performance or reduce power consumption [16, 31, 40, 156]. In [16], different IP blocks, including an ARM Cortex-A9 CPU, were electrically simulated with RC extracted models. As depicted in the left side graph of Fig. 2.11, if operation at $V_{dd} = 1.3$ V a gain of 40 % in operation frequency is achievable by implementing a FBB scheme with a $V_{bb} = 1.0$ V in UTBB FD-SOI 28 nm LVT transistor compared to an equivalent circuit implemented in conventional bulk technology. The gains are further enhanced to a factor of 5X at $V_{dd} = 0.45$ V.

Conversely, if the RBB scheme is implemented in UTBB FD-SOI technology, a significant leakage reduction is achievable compared to an equivalent implementation in conventional bulk. In the right side graph of Fig. 2.11, a leakage current reduction by a factor of 10X is reported for a $V_{bb} = 1.5$ V. These results motivates the use of body biasing in UTBB FD-SOI, especially for circuits operating at low supply voltage.



Fig. 2.11: Performance gains for various V_{dd} obtained with FBB scheme and LVT transistors (left); and leakage reduction for different V_{bb} values and $V_{dd} = 0.6$ V, obtained with RVT transistors with RBB scheme (right) [16].

2.6 Overall Analysis

Table 2.1 compares the UTBB FD-SOI, conventional bulk and FinFET technologies in terms of the parameters discussed in this section: manufacturing cost, short channel effects containment, power efficiency and performance. The evaluation levels (good, fair and poor) are comparative to other technologies in the same node. For instance, the body biasing range of the conventional bulk technology is poor if compared to the UTBB FD-SOI at the same technology node (28 nm).

The UTBB FD-SOI technology show good results in all the evaluated parameters. Compared to the conventional bulk, it is superior in every aspect, except for the manufacturing cost, in which both conventional bulk and UTBB FD-SOI are similar. The FinFET technology presents a good overall evaluation, especially in the performance parameter. The main draw-

Table 2.1: Comparison of manufacturing cost, power consumption and performance on conventional bulk, UTBB FD-SOI and FinFET technologies.

Good Fair Poor	Conventional Bulk	UTBB FD-SOI		FinFET	
	28 nm	28 nm	14 nm	14 nm	
Manufacturing Cost					
SCE Containment	(<u>:</u>)	\odot	\odot		
DIBL Containment	(<u>:</u>)	\odot			
Ultra Low Voltage Capability	(<u>:</u>)				
Power efficiency	(<u>:</u>)			(<u>:</u>)	
Body Biasing Range					
Performance	(<u>:</u>)	(<u>:</u>)	(<u>:</u>)		
Latch-Up Immunity					

back of this technology is the extremely high manufacturing cost and complexity. Hence, the UTBB FD-SOI technology emerges as a key solution for the 28 and 14 nm nodes, especially for low power applications.

2.7 Conclusion

In this chapter, the UTBB FD-SOI technology has been deeply analyzed and compared to the conventional bulk and FinFET technologies. The UTBB FD-SOI has shown to be a good candidate to replace the conventional bulk technology in the in the deep sub-micron era, and a very suitable alternative for the FinFET technology. Thanks to a very thin top silicon layer and the insertion of a very thin BOX, a better electrostatic control is achieved, greatly reducing short channel effects; the dynamic power consumption and the leakage are reduced; and the variability is controlled. Moreover, the body biasing voltage range is considerably increased, which opens new perspectives for performance boosting, static power consumption and post silicon variability control.
Chapter 3

The Asynchronous Circuits

3.1 The limitations of synchronous circuits

Synchronous circuits are architectures in which the data flow is governed by a global synchronization signal: the clock. This periodic signal is connected to all memory elements of a system, as depicted in Fig. 3.1, to indicate the correct moment to memorize the input data. Therefore, in order to avoid the propagation of incorrect data, the clock needs to be slow enough to let data propagate through the slowest path of the system, known as critical path (the bottleneck of the system performance). Thanks to the simplicity of the global clock synchronization, the synchronous circuits have dominated the microelectronics design industry since the 1960s [15].



Fig. 3.1: Abstraction of a synchronous system.

However, the increasing integration density imposed by the newest manufacturing technologies have significantly increased the complexity of designing synchronous circuits. Most of the limitations faced are related to intrinsic restrictions of the global synchronization:

- The circuit frequency is limited by the critical path. Thus, even if some pipeline stages have already generated their outputs, the results will only be propagated once the critical path has finished calculating.
- Ideally, the clock must simultaneously reach all the memory elements. A small difference in the arrival time of the clock in different parts of the circuit, known as clock skew, may cause a malfunction of the system. Thus, the correct distribution of this signal throughout a large system is nowadays a very challenging task.
- The circuitry required to properly distribute the clock, namely the clock tree, consumes between 20 45% of the total energy consumed by a circuit [134].

- Each pipeline stage of the system consumes dynamic power on both edge of the clock, even if the system is not processing any new data.
- The modularity, an important aspect for reusing already synthesized IPs, is a major problem in the integration of synchronous systems. It is not guaranteed that an IP already designed to a target frequency will correctly function if integrated to a system designed to operate at a different clock frequency.
- Significant electromagnetic radiations are emitted at the clock frequency, since the activity of synchronous circuits is concentrated close to the positive edge of the clock [121].

Therefore, due to the aforementioned limitations, the development of complex systems as well as the high performance requirements have steered designers towards new design approaches based on asynchronous logic. The idea is replacing the global clock by a local communication protocol. The clock suppression is able to overcome the aforementioned limitations, thus increasing the attractiveness of asynchronous circuits in recent years.

3.2 The asynchronous circuits principle

Asynchronous circuits are locally synchronized systems. They are composed of functional blocks that are activated by the presence of data at their inputs and/or outputs. A typical abstraction of this type of system is depicted in Fig. 3.2. Compared to the synchronous system of Fig. 3.1, the global clock signal has been replaced by local request and acknowledgement signals. They implement a local handshake protocol that must be respected between the adjacent blocks. The block N+1, for instance, will start processing its input data ($Data_{N+1}$) only if the signal $request_{N+1}$ is received, indicating that $Data_{N+1}$ is valid. Once $Data_{N+1}$ is memorized by the block N+1, the $acknowledgement_{N+1}$ signal indicates to the block N that it is now allowed to start processing new data. The result of the calculation done in the block N+1 will then be transmitted to the block N+2 via $Data_{N+2}$ and $request_{N+2}$.



Fig. 3.2: Typical representations of an asynchronous systems.

This succession of requests and acknowledgements are implemented in each block interface of an asynchronous system, and governs the data flow throughout the system. The result of such data transfer sequence is: 1) the system latency is minimal and equal to the time required for the module to perform the calculation and generate its output [37, 163]. The latency may vary for different calculations; 2) the throughput of the system is maximum and it corresponds to the maximum possible speed for processing the received data [163].

The aforementioned data transfer sequence is one of the possibilities of communication protocol that is used in asynchronous circuits. A more detailed description of the most commonly used protocols will be given in the sequel this chapter.

3.3 Data encoding and signaling

In asynchronous circuits, as describe in the previous section, there is no global clock to define instant in which an input data is considered valid. Therefore, it is the duty of request and acknowledgement signals to indicate data validity. The former indicates the arrival of new data, and the latter mark the end of the calculation. Thus, to ensure a correct synchronization between different blocks, a request signal must be associated to every data signal of the system. This concept requires a special encoding of information in asynchronous circuits. The two most popular ones are bundle data encoding and delay insensitive encoding, to be described in details in the following subsection [122, 141].

3.3.1 Bundled-data encoding

In bundled-data encoded systems, data validity is signaled by a dedicated request signal, as depicted in Fig. 3.2. Therefore, the transmitted data is encoded in a traditional way as the encoding scheme used in synchronous circuits: each bit is encoded by a single wire. A small amount of required wires and logic gates leads to an area efficient implementation of bundle-data encoded asynchronous circuits [122].

Moreover, in bundled-data encoding the request signals operate as local clocks for each asynchronous block, indicating the moment in which the data signal is valid [141, 170]. Consequently, the request must be implemented with the adequate delay to ensure that it wont be asserted before the respective data signal is effectively valid [50, 68, 106]. This timing assumption forces the request signal to be delayed from the sender to the receiver in order to match the sender's worst case computation delay (plus margin). Hence, the speed of data propagation from block to block is bounded by the local worst case delay.

3.3.2 Delay insensitive encoding

A more sophisticated alternative to bundled-data encoding is done by merging data information and validity in the same signal. In delay insensitive encoding, the request signal is eliminated and the data signal is implemented in a multi-rail encoding: each bit of information is encoded by multiple wires. This approach enables detecting a new data as soon as it has arrived at the input channel of an asynchronous block and simultaneously ensure its validity. Therefore, there are no temporal assumptions between data and request, which explains the name delay insensitive encoding.

Many multi-rail encoding schemes exist [48, 120]. They are know as M-of-N encoding, in which M indicates the number of wires that needs to be asserted simultaneously to indicate a new input data, and N represents the total number of wires used to transmit a single bit of information. The most used M-of-N encoding is the 1-of-2, also known as dual-rail encoding. An abstraction of a typical dual-rail encoded system is shown in Fig. 3.3a. Unlike the bundled-data system depicted in Fig. 3.2, the dual-rail system of Fig. 3.3a has no request signal and two wires to represent each data bit: *Data1* and *Data0*.

Fig. 3.3b shows the information carried by the tuple $\{Data1, Data0\}$. In dual-rail encoding, the net 0 (Data0) caries the information of a 0 bit, and the net 1 (Data1) caries the information of a 1 bit. Therefore a 0 bit is encoded by $\{Data1, Data0\} = 01$ and a 1 bit is encoded by $\{Data1, Data0\} = 10$. To properly detect two consecutive bits with the same value, a different code word needs to be send between every valid information bit, a step of the asynchronous

data exchange known as return-to-zero. It is encoded by the word $\{Data1, Data0\} = 00$. The steps to successfully transmit a data between adjacent asynchronous blocks is defined by the implemented communication protocol, which will be detailed in the next section.



Fig. 3.3: Typical representations of a dual-rail encoded asynchronous systems (a). The information encoded by the tuple $\{Data1, Data0\}$ is depicted in (b).

3.4 Communication protocols

A synchronization protocol, also referred to as handshake protocol, is a set of rules that governs data exchange between the blocks of an asynchronous circuit. Each block of the asynchronous system must be implemented with the same communication protocol. Two basic characteristics differentiate the protocols: 1) the data encoding used; and 2) the data transfer sequence. Based on these two properties, the different communication protocols proposed in the scientific literature are classified in two categories: two-phase protocols, in which a complete data transfer is done in two steps; and four-phase protocols, in which the data transfer is done in four steps. The choice on the protocol to be used is essential to the design of asynchronous circuits and determines the system total area, performance, power consumption and robustness [111, 112, 138, 153].

3.4.1 Two-phase protocols

The waveforms of a two-phase protocol for a single data transfer between asynchronous blocks is depicted in Fig. 3.4 and Fig. 3.5. The former shows the implementation of the protocol in a bundled-data encoded system while the latter represent the implementation in a dual-rail encoded system. The two-phase protocol is the minimal sequence allowing data exchange between two blocks.

In phase 1: the sender (Async. block N in Fig. 3.4 and Fig. 3.5) inputs a valid data to the receiver (Async. block N+1 in Fig. 3.4 and Fig. 3.5). The latter detects the data, process it and then sends the acknowledgment signal to the sender, indicating that the communication channel is free and new data can be now send. In phase 2: the sender detects the acknowledgement. This phase ends with the arrival of a new valid data.

3.4.2 Four-phase protocols

The waveforms of a four-phase protocol in a bundled-data encoded system and dual-rail encoded system are depicted in Fig. 3.6 and Fig. 3.7 respectively. This protocol is also know as Return



Fig. 3.4: Two-phase protocol implemented in a bundled-data encoded asynchronous system (a). The red arrows in the waveform (b) highlight the 2 phases of a complete transfer of data A. The transfer finishes when a second valid data (B) arrives.



Fig. 3.5: Two-phase protocol implemented in a dual-rail encoded asynchronous system (a). The red arrows in the waveform (b) highlight the 2 phases of a complete transfer of data A. The transfer finishes when a second valid data (B) arrives.

to zero (RTZ), since the request and acknowledgment signals must be reseted before a new data transfer. In a dual-rail encoded system, the data channel need to be set to the invalid state before beginning a new data transfer. This is done by setting $\{Data1, Data0\} = 00$, as explained in section 3.3.2.

The phase 1 starts when the sender requests a new data transfer by asserting the req signal, as soon as data A is available. The receiver then detects the req, processes the received data and assert the ack signal. In phase 2, the sender detects the ack signal and resets the req signal. In a dual-rail encoded system (Fig. 3.7), this phase is also known as RTZ. In phase 3 the receiver detects the reset of req and also resets ack. Finally, phase 4 finishes when the sender detects the ack reset, thus the communication channel is ready to receive data B.

At a first glance, since fewer transitions are needed for transferring data with a two-phase protocol, its implementation seems to generate faster asynchronous circuits that even consume



Fig. 3.6: Four-phase protocol implemented in a bundled-data encoded asynchronous system (a). The red arrows in the waveform (b) highlight the 4 phases of a complete transfer of data A. The transfer finishes when a second valid data (B) arrives.



Fig. 3.7: Four-phase protocol implemented in a dual-rail encoded asynchronous system (a). The red arrows in the waveform (b) highlight the 4 phases of a complete transfer of data A. The transfer finishes when a second valid data (B) arrives.

less dynamic power than a four-phase implementation. However, according to most of the reported cases, this impression is usually false. In fact, the circuits implemented with a two-phase protocol are faster than their four-phase counterpart [15]. On the other hand, designing edge sensitive circuitry (needed for the two-phase protocol implementation) is more complex, leading to larger circuits that consume more power [15]. Therefore, a two-phase protocol is preferred for designing fast circuits, in which the performance is a critical issue. Conversely, the four-phase protocol is widely used if the designer has some freedom degree to balance the latency components in order to enhance the circuit performance [15, 125].

3.4.3 The Muller gate

To implement the communication protocols of asynchronous circuits, basic logic gates are not sufficient. A different gate, capable of properly synchronizing the various protocol signals, is then required. Moreover, designing asynchronous architectures require special circuitry other than conventional logic gates and flip-flops, e.g. fork, join and merge circuits, and metastability filters. Implementing such circuitry with conventional gates is possible but is an inefficient solution.

In this context, the logic gate proposed by David Eugene Muller, known as Muller gate or C-element [103], has the appropriate behavior to address all these issues. The symbolic representation and the truth table of a 2 input symmetric C-element is shown in Fig. 3.8. If both inputs (A and B) are equal, the output (Z) is equal to the inputs. On the other hand, if A and B are different, Z keeps its last value. In other words, the output of a C-element copies the value of its inputs when they are identical, otherwise it memorizes its previous state. The peculiar behavior of the C-element has made it an essential building block for asynchronous circuit design [138].

Other architectures of C-elements have been also proposed. For instance, the generalized C-element, also known as asymmetric C-element, has been proposed in [88]. In such gate, the inputs that need to be equal to 1 to change the output to 1 is different than the inputs that need to be equal to 0 to change the output to 0. Despite the behavioral differences with the conventional C-element, the asymmetric and all the other different types of C-elements are also considered to be a state retention device.



Fig. 3.8: 2 input symmetric C-element symbol (a) and truth table (b).

3.5 Classification of asynchronous circuits

The characterization of asynchronous systems is not limited to the choice of communication protocol to be implemented. Depending on the signaling and data encoding conventions, the asynchronous circuits are classified in different classes [71]. Fig. 3.9 shows the classification of asynchronous circuits in the classes most cited in the literature: Delay insensitive (DI); Quasidelay-insensitive (QDI); Speed Independent (SI); and Micropipeline. Synchronous circuits are also shown in the graph for the sake of comparison.





The communication protocol and data encoding conventions, that are specific of each class, impose some requirements such as no hazard or local timing assumptions [138]. The global assumptions impose more circuit restrictions to guarantee a correct behavior than the local assumptions. Thus, the architectures operating under global timing assumptions are less robust than a circuit class operating with local assumptions. In other words, the class of circuits that have global timing assumptions are more susceptible to failure due to environmental events such as aging, temperature and voltage variations.

The price to pay for robustness is functional redundancy. To ensure a correct operation under environmental events, larger architectures, with special circuitry such as metastability filters and completion detection elements need to be designed. The result is that local timing assumptions generally require bigger circuits and global assumption generally implies smaller circuits [15, 138]. For instance, a QDI asynchronous circuit has almost no timing assumptions, which makes it more robust but larger than its synchronous counterpart [15, 138].

The data validity axis of Fig. 3.9 classifies each asynchronous circuit class based on the data

signaling convention (embedded, bundled and external data validity), as explained in section 3.3. More details on each class are given in the following subsections.

3.5.1 Micropipeline

The concept of micropipeline circuits was introduced in 1989 by Ivan Sutherland [141]. This is the class of asynchronous circuits that has more similarities with the synchronous circuits, as depicted in Fig. 3.10. Compared to its synchronous equivalent (Fig. 3.1), the datapath is kept identical and the global clock is replaced by asynchronous controllers that interact with each other thanks to request and acknowledgement signals. Thus a bundled-data encoding is used in micropipeline circuits.



Fig. 3.10: Abstraction of a micropipeline asynchronous system.

The data propagation throughout the system depends on the state of each stages (occupied or free). Thus, the data propagates in the micropipeline as long as they do not encounter occupied memory elements [15, 138]. Delay lines need to be inserted in the req signals between blocks, as depicted in Fig. 3.10, in order to avoid that the output request signal from one asynchronous controller arrives to the following memory block before the corresponding combinational logic block has finished its calculation. Hence, the speed of data propagation throughout the system is bounded by the local critical path delay of the combinational logic between memory elements.

3.5.2 Speed Independent

The Speed Independent (SI) circuits were initially described by [100]. In this class of asynchronous circuits, the delay in logical gates are arbitrary while all the interconnect delay are considered to be negligible [100]. Unfortunately, in recent CMOS manufacturing technologies, the interconnect delay is becoming increasingly critical. Thus, a model that neglects the delays in the wires is no longer desirable.

3.5.3 Delay Insensitive

The delay insensitive circuits (DI) [30,152] do not impose any timing restriction neither on logic gate delays nor on wire delays. Thus, the DI circuits behave according to their specification regardless of the delays of logic gates and interconnects. The only requirement for correct operation is respecting the chosen communication protocol. This is the most robust class of asynchronous circuits, as depicted in Fig. 3.9. Unfortunately, it is not always possible to design DI circuits. The robustness required by this class impose the use of only inverters and C-elements as building blocks to design asynchronous DI architectures. With only these logic gates available, the set of achievable circuits is very limited [90].

3.5.4 Quasi Delay Insensitive

The Quasi Delay Insensitive (QDI) class is a subset of the SI class in which the notion of isochronic fork has been inserted [86,89]. The definition of fork is a wire that connects a single sender block to at least two receivers. The fork is considered to be isochronic if the delays between the sender and all the receivers are identical (or very close to identical). In [89], Alain Martin has shown that the timing assumption of the isochronic fork is the weakest constraint to be added to DI circuits in order to make them feasible with single output gates. Complex QDI asynchronous circuits are therefore feasible by using standard cells of synchronous circuits, which increases the attractiveness of this class of asynchronous circuits for industrial applications [44].

In QDI circuits, data propagates through logic gates and wires with arbitrary delays with no risk for the system correct behavior. This makes them extremely robust to temperature, aging, process and supply voltage variations [91]. Both two-phase and four-phase protocols are feasible, but implementing architectures with such robustness require delay insensitive encoding. The reduced number of timing assumptions makes QDI asynchronous circuits very well-suited for low-power operation and on-the-fly $V_{\rm th}$ tuning, subject that will be explored in details in the following chapters of this thesis.

3.6 The advantages of asynchronous circuits

The absence of a clock signal results in a functional behavior of asynchronous circuits that is comparable to a synchronous circuit with a local clock for each block of the asynchronous circuit. The period of these local clocks are determined by the block latency and they are not in phase with each other. Moreover, a fine-grain clock gating mechanisms is an intrinsic property of asynchronous circuits: memory elements are only clocked when needed [138]. The result of such intrinsic properties of asynchronous circuits are the benefits listed below.

3.6.1 High performance

The processing delay in asynchronous circuits is bounded and varies with the variation of the inputs. Indeed, different inputs may activate distinct paths of the system, which cause the input to output latency to change. The end of a calculation is locally detected by a certain block of the circuit, and data propagates to the following blocks of the system as soon as the previous block is done calculating. Therefore, the circuit operating speed is determined by averaging the local latencies rather than the global worst-case latency [92, 162].

3.6.2 Low power consumption

In the absence of a global clock signal, all the power consumed by the clock tree circuitry is then eliminated. Additionally, the event-driven nature of asynchronous logic automatically set the inactive block to standby mode. Only the blocks of the system that have data to process will be activated, thus the total dynamic power consumption of the system is reduced if compared to its synchronous counterpart [18, 50].

Moreover, using voltage scaling schemes to further reduce the power consumption is easily implementable in asynchronous systems. Lowering V_{dd} is a well-know technique for reducing the dynamic power consumption at the cost of a reduced performance. Implementing voltage

scaling in synchronous circuits requires adjusting the clock frequency accordingly to avoid timing violations, which increases the design complexity. In asynchronous circuits, on the other hand, this scheme is easily implemented since varying the voltage just changes the blocks propagation delays but does not affect the correctness of the operations. The use of asynchronous circuit at low V_{dd} for low power applications is the focus of this thesis. Their behavior under such conditions will be analyzed in details in the following chapters.

3.6.3 Modularity

The block-to-block communication protocol implemented in asynchronous circuits and thus locality of synchronizations increases the modularity in asynchronous systems. Indeed, complex systems can be build by connecting pre-existing asynchronous blocks in a plug and play manner [88, 141]. Moreover, the local nature of synchronization in asynchronous systems enables data activity sensing in a rather fine granularity by using only the request and acknowledgment signals [147]. The impact of local activity detection will be analyzed in details in chapter 5.

3.6.4 Low electromagnetic emissions

The communication protocol signals (request and acknowledgement) that control data propagation in asynchronous systems can be seen as local clocks. They can occur at any moment in time, solely depending on the latency of the successor and the predecessor blocks and the availability of new data to be processed. Therefore, these local clocks tend to be randomized over time, which results in supply current curves [138], without the large di/dt spikes of synchronous circuits. Consequently, the asynchronous circuits emit less electro-magnetic noise [19, 115].

3.7 Conclusion

In this chapter, an alternative solution to the conventional synchronous design approach has been presented: the asynchronous circuits. In this case, the global timing synchronization performed by the clock signal is replaced by a local synchronization mechanism, implemented through a bidirectional signaling that guarantees an event-driven processing of data. Following the analysis of asynchronous principles, the most used communication protocols and data encoding have been presented. Subsequently, the asynchronous circuits have been classified in terms of robustness and timing assumptions, the convention mostly used by the scientific literature. At the end of this chapter, the advantages of asynchronous circuits have been highlighted.

Despite all the presented benefits and potential gains of removing the global clock, the increased design complexity of asynchronous systems limits the industry from widely adopting this promising solution. However, the event-driven intrinsic operation of asynchronous circuits and the facility to implement power management schemes have impulsed the used of such circuits for applications with critical energy efficiency and robustness. This type of application is the focus of this thesis, and will be analyzed in detail in chapters 4, 5 and 6.

Chapter 4

Comparing Voltage Scaling in Synchronous and Asynchronous FD-SOI Circuits

Among state-of-the-art power management techniques, reducing the operation voltage (V_{dd}) of circuits is a traditional method to decrease power consumption. However, low V_{dd} makes circuits more vulnerable to process, voltage, and temperature (PVT) variations [171], causing timing uncertainties leading to clock assumption violations in synchronous circuits.

In this context, asynchronous circuits appear as an alternative solution for addressing power consumption issues and ensuring high system reliability at lower V_{dd} levels. As their own data flow is used to locally synchronize information between parts of the system, delay variations are much more tolerable. Thus, asynchronous circuits are intrinsically more robust to PVT variations, especially the quasi-delay insensitive (QDI) class that enables operation at very low V_{dd} [126].

The data driven processing between asynchronous blocks makes the system more modular, and the inclusion of local voltage scaling techniques is much easier. In addition, extended low-power features are exploitable from the recent Fully-Depleted Silicon On Insulator (FD-SOI) process. Thanks to a more efficient control of the body biasing effects on the transistor channel [17], the FD-SOI technology provides the option of setting different threshold voltages (Vth) even during system operation. Therefore, local synchronization signals can be used to control biasing of asynchronous block substrates, which enables power reductions or speed improvements [56].

The power consumption reduction strategy on QDI asynchronous circuits with body biasing features in FD-SOI technology has been analyzed in [56]. The same strategy, however, was neither studied at low operation voltages nor compared with their synchronous equivalent. The work in [25] compares an asynchronous architecture to its synchronous counterpart, but in a classical CMOS 130 nm technology, in which body biasing effects are not efficiently controllable. In order to apply voltage scaling techniques to decrease V_{dd} of integrated systems and to profit the full low-power potential of the FD-SOI body biasing features, additional work to [40, 85] is still required, especially to define and compare the minimum operation voltages in synchronous and asynchronous FD-SOI case-study circuits. In this chapter, we present a comparison of an asynchronous arithmetic logic unit (ALU) with its synchronous version, both designed in FD-SOI 28 nm. The results in terms of data throughput, power consumption and energy per bit are analyzed at different V_{dd} levels. The work of this chapter was presented in the international conference PATMOS 2016.

The following sections of this chapter is organized as follows: section 4.1 discusses how QDI features are exploitable for saving power; section 4.2 describes the case-study circuits analyzed in this work; and in sections 4.3 and 4.4 comparative results and final conclusions are highlighted.

4.1 Exploiting intrinsic features of QDI asynchronous circuits for saving power

Asynchronous circuits, particularly QDI circuits, are well suited for operating in a wide V_{dd} range. As detailed in chapter 3, the intrinsic data-driven operation characteristic indeed enables correct behavior under several voltage levels, with no need for extra circuitry or additional precautions, even in the scenario of dynamically modifying V_{dd} during the circuit operation. Extremely low V_{dd} is also tolerated, not requiring architectural changes, as discussed in [126].

Traditional power saving strategy for integrated systems simply applies lower operation voltages rather than the nominal one. For the FD-SOI technology, low voltage operation was demonstrated in [40,85] for saving power. Low voltages, on the other hand, increase the delay of system components, making timing violations more probable in clock-based circuits.

QDI asynchronous circuits present three intrinsic features that allow low operation voltages and the power management of integrated systems:

- 1. the absence of a clock eliminates several related timing assumptions
- 2. the tolerance to any delay variation on their gates and on majority of their wires
- 3. the modularity by using data-based request and acknowledgement signals between blocks.

Hence, at the expense of a delay increase on their gates, QDI circuits are able to operate with low voltages for saving power. Furthermore, the biasing advantages of FD-SOI technology associated with the previously mentioned properties of QDI circuits is also exploited to speed up components operating at low voltages, thus increasing the energy per operation ratio, as is analyzed in details in chapter 5.

4.2 Target Case-Study Circuits: Synchronous and Asynchronous ALU

As previously mentioned in the introduction of this chapter, an 8-bit ALU was used in this work as a case-study. This circuit has been specifically chosen since it is one of the most important blocks in modern processors. The designed architecture can compute either addition, subtraction, or bitwise logic operations. Fig. 4.1 depicts the proposed ALU architecture. It is composed of three stages of pipeline. The first one is the input stage, with de-multiplexers for selecting between either arithmetic or logic operations; the second stage is the execution stage, in which the logic and arithmetic units compute their corresponding output; and the third stage of pipeline is the output selection stage. Both synchronous and asynchronous circuits were equally pipelined and have logic blocks with the same functionality. Thus, both circuits are composed of:

- One 8-bit Sklansky Adder, which computes the operations of addition and subtraction;
- One 8-bit Logic Unit for computing AND, OR and XOR logic operations;
- Several multiplexers and de-multiplexers necessary to correctly select the required operations.



Fig. 4.1: ALU general architecture, designed in synchronous and asynchronous versions.

The difference between the synchronous and asynchronous implementation of the proposed architecture is that the former has registers as memory blocks and is entirely composed of standard cells. The latter, on the other hand, has half-buffers as memory blocks, which memorize data between pipeline stages and implement a 4-phase Weak-Conditioned Half-Buffer (WCHB) communication protocol [80]. The asynchronous logic blocks of Fig. 4.1 were designed by using the Delay Insensitive Min-terms Synthesis (DIMS) technique [138]. This design method allows generating QDI basic logic gates by only using conventional OR gates and C-elements (the special cell described in chapter 3). Complex QDI systems are then achieved by combining these basic QDI logic gates in exact same way as when designing combinational circuits for a synchronous system [138]. The systems design with DIMS are very robust, thus they are suitable for low V_{dd} operation.

The synchronous ALU has been described in VHDL, at a structural level, with the same blocks used in the asynchronous circuit. The hardware description was then synthesized for a target voltage of 1 V. Subsequently, the generated verilog gate level netlist was converted to a SPICE netlist, so that electrical simulations could be performed. On the other hand, for the asynchronous design, the same blocks previously described were directly designed at Spice level, using a QDI dual-rail 4 phase asynchronous encoding. Details on the simulation environment will be given in section 4.3.

It is widely known that QDI designs present a considerable area overhead if compared to a synchronous equivalent, as reported by [25]. In fact, to cope with the extra robustness, the asynchronous ALU present a significant area overhead compared to the synchronous circuit. In this study-case, the functional blocks of the asynchronous circuit are 1.8x to 2.5x larger than the synchronous functional blocks, which leads to a total of approximately 2.3x area overhead of the asynchronous ALU.

4.3 Comparison of Synchronous and Asynchronous ALU Results

4.3.1 Simulation Environment

The synchronous and asynchronous ALU spice netlists, obtained as detailed in section 4.2, were simulated with Regular Threshold Voltage (RVT) transistors of FD-SOI 28nm technology. Each netlist was connected to a Linear Feedback Shift Register (LFSR) so that it could generate the input vectors. Afterwards, electrical simulations were performed with the circuit, ALU and LFSR, for a fixed amount of time with different levels of V_{dd} , ranging from nominal 1.0 V down to 0.4 V. This procedure was the same for both circuits, synchronous and asynchronous. Some precautions needed to be taken into account in simulations with the synchronous design though. For each simulation scenario, it was necessary to adjust the clock frequency to prevent timing violations. Moreover, to allow a fair comparison with the asynchronous counterpart, the clock frequency was adjusted to the fastest possible for each V_{dd} , ensuring maximum performance of the synchronous ALU through all simulations. A script was used to automatically tune the clock frequency for each simulation.

With the asynchronous design, however, no special adjustment needed to be done to ensure correct behavior and maximum performance at each V_{dd} . In fact, as previously mentioned in section 4.1, QDI circuits are intrinsically robust to voltage variations. Furthermore, the local handshake protocol, used by the asynchronous counterpart, ensures that it will always operate at its maximum speed. Fig. 4.4 depicts the results of energy per bit for synchronous and asynchronous designs. A lower value of energy per bit represents a better efficiency.

4.3.2 Results

After performing the simulations described in subsection 4.3.1, results in terms of power consumption, data throughput and energy efficiency were obtained. Fig. 4.2 shows the average power consumption of the synchronous and asynchronous designs, for different V_{dd} levels under three corner conditions: typical-typical (TT), fast-fast (FF) and slow-slow (SS). Fig. 4.3 illustrates the measured throughput of both circuits at the same V_{dd} levels. The throughput has been chosen as figure of merit for performance comparison between the designs since it can be easily measured in both synchronous and asynchronous designs. Notice that the throughput of the synchronous circuit is directly determined by the clock frequency. Hence the importance of implementing a clock frequency scaling mechanism, as described in section 4.3.1.

The figures illustrate the trade-off between power and performance in FD-SOI technology. Comparing Fig. 4.2 and 4.3, it can be noticed that the throughput is reduced when V_{dd} is decreased. For instance, when V_{dd} is decreased from 1 V to 0.8 V, there is a reduction of approximately 30% and 44% in the synchronous and asynchronous architectures performance, respectively.

In Fig. 4.2 it can be seen that the asynchronous ALU has a lower average power consumption, if compared to the synchronous one, in every simulated operation voltage. For instance, if operating at $V_{dd} = 0.4$ V, the TT asynchronous ALU consumes approximately 86% less power than its synchronous counterpart. This result can be explained by the intrinsic QDI asynchronous properties, which ensures switching activity only in blocks that are processing some data. In synchronous designs, however, inadvertent transistors also switch, which increases the dynamic power consumption. Additionally, the curves of SS and FF synchronous corners are



Fig. 4.2: Average power consumption of synchronous and asynchronous ALU in different V_{dd} conditions and corners typical-typical (TT), slow-slow (SS), and fast-fast (FF).



Fig. 4.3: Data throughput of synchronous and asynchronous ALU in different V_{dd} conditions.



Fig. 4.4: Energy per bit of the synchronous and asynchronous ALU in different V_{dd} conditions.

more widely spaced than asynchronous ones, indicating that the synchronous circuit is more sensitive to process variations. Comparing both architecture operating at $V_{dd} = 1.0$ V, the synchronous circuit power consumption varies approximately 10% more with the process variation than the asynchronous counterpart.

On the contrary, Fig. 4.3 shows that the performance of the synchronous ALU is better for values close to the nominal voltage, but it gets closer to asynchronous performance if V_{dd} decreases. Also, the synchronous circuit performance is more sensitive to V_{dd} changes if compared to its asynchronous counterpart, since it has a steeper slope in the throughput curve of Fig. 4.3. For instance, decreasing V_{dd} from 0.5 to 0.4 V cause a reduction of approximately 80% in the asynchronous circuit performance, which is 13% less than the performance degradation that occurs in the synchronous counterpart considering the same V_{dd} interval.

Finally, if energy efficiency is analyzed, as depicted in Fig. 4.4, the energy per bit ratio is lower in the asynchronous circuit for all simulated V_{dd} scenarios. In the case of operation voltage bellow 0.5 V, the throughput degradation becomes quite severe in the synchronous design. Its energy per bit ratio thus starts growing, indicating that the throughput degradation overcomes the power consumption reduction trade-off. Therefore, the minimum energy operating point (MEOP) is achieved with the synchronous circuit operating at 0.5 V, in which the energy consumption per bit is approximately 20 fJ/bit. The MEOP of the asynchronous ALU is achieved at 0.36 V, in which the energy per bit is approximately 5 fJ/bit, 75% less than the synchronous counterpart. The main reason for that, is the enormous amount of timing margin that has to be added to the clock at very low V_{dd} , which makes the circuit leaks power for a much longer interval of time. The same behavior is not observed in the asynchronous counterpart for V_{dd} equals to 0.4 V. Hence, for V_{dd} levels lower than 0.5 V, the usage of the QDI asynchronous ALU instead of classical synchronous architecture is very well-suited for applications requiring high energy efficiency.

4.4 Conclusions

This chapter compares a synchronous and an asynchronous ALU circuits in FD-SOI 28 nm. The goal was to analyze the behavior of these circuits at very low operation voltages. Thanks to the natural asynchronous properties, the asynchronous ALU presents a better energy efficiency in all simulated Vdd conditions. Furthermore, at V_{dd} lower than 0.5 V, the asynchronous architecture becomes predominantly much more power efficient. Although QDI asynchronous design leads to almost the double of area than its synchronous counterpart, it has been noticed that it is very robust, and thus suitable for applications requiring high reliability and security. The synchronous design, otherwise, must be adapted by receiving extra circuitry that may make it more robust. The results shown in this chapter allows to define new voltage scaling strategies in FD-SOI 28 nm, and in addition thanks to the body biasing features of this technology, more power savings can be envisioned.

Chapter 5

Assessing Adaptive Body Biasing Strategies in Asynchronous Circuits

Power consumption is nowadays one of the main concerns for nano-electronic systems [158]. The increasing popularity of Internet of Things demands CMOS devices able to adapt their energetic behavior to the environmental requests by exploiting several power modes such as low-power, low-leakage or high-performance modes. In this context, supply voltage scaling and body biasing (BB) are well-known effective techniques to address this issue [26,98]. Voltage scaling consists in reducing the supply voltage (V_{dd}) , thus quadratically decreasing dynamic consumption and consequently increasing gate delay. Therefore a permanent trade-off has to be managed between power and performance. Another way of diminishing power consumption is applying BB, which artificially changes the transistors threshold voltage ($V_{\rm th}$). Two configurations can be applied, as described in chapter 2. The first one increases $V_{\rm th}$ thus decreasing the leakage and the performance. This technique is denominated Reverse Body Biasing (RBB). The second, known as Forward Body Biasing (FBB), decreases $V_{\rm th}$ for improving the performance of transistors at the price of higher leakage consumption. The attractiveness of BB has been enhanced in the Fully Depleted Silicon on Insulator (FD-SOI) technology. A wide range of body bias voltages (V_{bb}) is available in FD-SOI thanks to a layer of insulator, inserted between body and channel, allowing fine $V_{\rm th}$ tuning [109, 117], as discussed in chapter 2.

Over the last few years, various techniques have been devised to enhance BB effectiveness, especially by splitting the target system into body biasing domains (BBD) [51, 74, 77]. Each BBD is set to an independent V_{bb} at runtime, which adds flexibility to address variability issues or enhance the power-performance tuning. To implement such schemes, special cells are required to control the V_{bb} of each BBD, commonly known as body bias generators (BBG), capable of changing the biasing voltage of the n-well and p-well during circuit operation.

For biasing large BBDs, with a size comparable to IPs such as processors, the proposed body bias generators use digital-to-analog converters and/or charge pumps to generate V_{bb} with a fine resolution [21, 66, 95, 99]. Although this is a good solution for charging systems split into large BBDs, the complexity and high area overhead of such body bias generators make them inappropriate for smaller BBDs. Therefore, when dealing with tiny BBDs, a different strategy is adopted to limit the complexity and area overhead. V_{th} hopping is commonly used [56, 109, 165], since it is simply implementable with level shifters. The idea of this type of adaptive body biasing (ABB) scheme is decreasing V_{th} during active periods of the circuit, in order to guarantee performance, and increase it during idle periods, thus preventing unnecessary leakage consumption. In this case the required body bias generators is a simple level shifter that adjusts V_{bb} for high performance or low leakage mode, depending on the circuit activity. Such approach is presented and analyzed in this chapter.

Asynchronous circuits are the perfect candidate for implementing the aforementioned technique. As the local handshake signals control data propagation through the system [138], they are perfectly suitable to indicate if a BBD is active or idle. Moreover, the intrinsic robustness properties of asynchronous circuits make them more favorable for on-the-fly V_{th} changes than their synchronous counterparts, thus avoiding timing violations when transitioning from high to low performance mode. Body biasing strategies using asynchronous circuits have been previously investigated by Hamon et al. [56]. Authors presented the benefits of adaptive body biasing in asynchronous circuits for high performance applications with a fine grain BBD partition strategy. However, their study was not focused on the BBD partitioning, which is a parameter that along with circuit's activity rate directly impact the performance and energy efficiency of a system.

This chapter proposes assessing three different BBD partitioning strategies for implementing adaptive body biasing schemes in asynchronous circuits: one coarse-grain, one fine-grain and one medium-grain. A case-study circuit based on ALUs is chosen as base system for evaluating performance and energy efficiency of the three proposed body biasing strategies. In order to evaluate the optimal use case for each strategy, a methodology for analyzing energy efficiency of adaptive body biasing strategies in asynchronous circuits is also proposed. The work of this chapter was submitted for publication in the Microprocessors and Microsystems journal 2018.

The following sections of this chapter are organized as follows: section 1 presents how to build different ABB schemes by exploiting asynchronous features and BBD partitioning. The following section proposes a methodology for analyzing the energy efficiency of adaptive body biasing strategies implemented in asynchronous circuits. Finally, sections 3 and 4, respectively, analyzes simulation results for a case-study in FD-SOI 28 nm technology and concludes this chapter.

5.1 Body biasing strategies for asynchronous circuits

5.1.1 Implementing ABB schemes

The attractiveness of implementing RBB and FBB schemes is increased by applying an ABB scheme. The V_{th} is decreased during active periods, to enhance circuit's performance, and increased during idle periods to prevent unnecessary leakage. This thesis is focused on applying ABB in sub-circuits of an integrated system, therefore, the complexity and area overhead of BBGs need to be minimized. Thus, a strategy based on V_{th} hopping [110, 165] is used. The idea is to reduce the resolution of V_{bb} by setting only two possibilities: one voltage level for decreasing V_{th} and another one for increasing it, a strategy easily implemented with level shifters.

Fig. 5.1 depicts an abstraction of the ABB strategy used. The level shifter block controls the tuning of the transistors V_{th} depending on the target system's activity. Whenever the activity signal is 1, indicating that the target system is active, the body of the transistors will be set to V_{act_n} and V_{act_p} , voltage levels that decrease V_{th} , thus increasing the performance. Conversely, if the activity signal is 0, which indicates that the target system is idle, the body of transistors are biased to V_{idle_n} and V_{idle_p} , a configuration that increases V_{th} , consequently decreasing the leakage.

The body biasing strategy shown in Fig. 5.1 applies to both RBB and FBB schemes. In fact, what differentiates these strategies is the choice of voltage levels of V_{idle_n} , V_{idle_p} , V_{act_n}



Fig. 5.1: Abstraction of a level-shifter based BBG controlling the V_{th} tuning of a generic target system. The activity signal indicates if the Target System is active or idle. The former is indicated by a logic value 1, which sets PMOS and NMOS body outputs $V_{\text{act_p}}$ and $V_{\text{act_n}}$ respectively. If the Target system is idle, the activity signal is 0, which sets PMOS and NMOS body outputs $V_{\text{idle_p}}$ and $V_{\text{idle_n}}$ respectively.

and V_{act_p} . For instance, in order to implement FBB $V_{idle_n} = 0$; $V_{idle_p} = 0$; $V_{act_n} > 0$; and $V_{act_p} < 0$. The experiments described in the rest of this chapter were performed with FBB. The procedure to perform simulations with a RBB scheme is analogous to what is described in the following sections. In this chapter, the level-shifter based BBG will be treated as a black box. Its architecture and detailed behavior are analyzed in depth in chapter 6.

5.1.2 ABB schemes for QDI asynchronous circuits

Implementing an effective ABB scheme requires changing the V_{bb} of the circuit during its operation. For instance, implementing an FBB approach requires biasing the circuit as soon as data is available for processing, and turning off the biasing as soon as the circuit becomes idle. Changing the operation mode to high performance requires charging the body capacitance (C_b), which requires an energy consumption (E_{Cb}) of:

$$E_{\rm Cb} = C_{\rm b} V_{\rm bb}^2 \tag{5.1}$$

The extra energy cost E_{Cb} has to be compensated with energy savings during a sufficiently long idle period. Therefore, precisely sensing the circuit activity is crucial for switching from high performance to low leakage mode as soon as possible, thus increasing the energy savings and the attractiveness of adaptive body biasing schemes.

In QDI asynchronous architectures, as previously discussed in chapter 3, the acknowledgement signals can be directly used for generating the activity signal of Fig. 5.1. Logically processing a combination of consecutive acknowledgements allow controlling body-biasing activation. Fig. 5.2 shows the logic blocks responsible for detecting activity of QDI asynchronous circuits for different granularity levels, called activity detectors. The differences between the strategies depicted in Fig. 5.2 will be detailed in the following subsection.

Once the activity signals have been generated by activity detectors, the level shifter based BBGs in Fig. 5.2 drive V_{bb} to the back plane of PMOS and NMOS transistors necessary to set a FBB or a noBB scheme, as described in section 5.1.1.

5.1.3 BBD granularity

In this work, each BBD is a sub-circuit of the Target System. It is composed of a single activity detector that control the activation of a level shifter based BBG independently of the other BBDs. For the asynchronous circuits, the discussion of BBD granularity is closely related to the way the system is pipelined. In fact, exploiting the locality of communication protocol



Fig. 5.2: Abstraction of adaptive body biasing strategies at fine (a), coarse (b), and medium (c) grain. The green dashed squares represent the BBDs of each strategy.

signals to indicate circuit activity limits the minimum size of BBD to a pipeline level. Smaller BBDs would be possible by redesigning the system with more pipeline stages. A high level abstraction of such fine body biasing strategy is depicted in Fig. 5.2a. In this case, each pipeline stage belongs to a separate BBD. The acknowledgement signals of input and output memory blocks are used to indicate activity. For instance, if the logic value of Ack_{K-1} is different than Ack_K , new data has been stored in the memory block of stage K-1, thus it will be processed by stage K. At this moment, body biasing should be turned on. Conversely, if Ack_{K-1} , Ack_K and Ack_{K+1} have the same logic value, there is no data to be processed by stage K, then body bias can be turned off. Several activity detection approaches for asynchronous circuits have been proposed for fine granularities [56, 62]. In this work, it is implemented by a single 3-input NAND gate.

An alternative body biasing strategy, the coarser possibility for an asynchronous circuit, is a system-level approach, as depicted in Fig. 5.2b. In this case, all pipeline stages are grouped in the same BBD. Hence, the activity detector is a circuit that checks the pipeline emptiness. It signalizes activity if at least one stage is processing data (at least 2 Ack signals different from each other). Conversely, body biasing is turned off if the pipeline is completely empty: all acknowledgements have the same logic value.

Yet another body biasing strategy, intermediate to the already presented ones, is shown in Fig. 5.2c. Here each BBD is a sub-circuit of the target circuit composed of one or more pipeline stages. The activity detection proposed in this case is a simplified version of the emptiness detector of the system-level approach.

5.2 Energy efficiency of ABB strategies with asynchronous circuits

There will be advantages on applying one of the body biasing strategies discussed in section 5.1.3 if the energy they consume (E_{ABB}) is smaller than the energy consumption of an always biased counterpart $(E_{alwaysBB})$, a system that is always connected to de the same V_{bb} potentials, independently of the circuit activity. In eq. (5.2), E_{ABB} represent any of the strategies discussed in section 5.1.3. Changing from low to high performance modes leads to energy overheads (E_{Cb}) , as described in section 5.1.2. Therefore, satisfying eq. (5.2) requires energy saving during idle periods to be greater than E_{Cb} .

$$E_{ABB} < E_{alwaysBB}$$
 (5.2)

5.2.1 Analyzing a coarse-grain strategy

Fig. 5.3b shows the activation and deactivation of body biasing when input vectors are processed by a system with a single BBD (body biasing strategy depicted in Fig. 5.2b. The system is active during the period Δt_{BB} and idle during Δt_{noBB} . As shown by the green curve in Fig. 5.3b, the complete circuit is biased at the arrival of the first input vector and unbiased only when the pipeline is completely empty. Therefore, the total energy (E_{ABB}) consumed during Δt_{BB} and Δt_{noBB} is:

$$E_{\text{ABB}} = E_{\text{BB}} + E_{\text{noBB}} + 2E_{\text{Cb}} \tag{5.3}$$



Fig. 5.3: Variation of the number of body biased BBDs with time (b) in a system split into a single BBD - implementation of a coarse-grain ABB strategy - as a burst of input vectors (a) is processed by the system.

$$E_{\rm BB} = \Delta t_{\rm BB} (P_{\rm sys} + P_{\rm ad} + P_{\rm bc}) \tag{5.4}$$

$$E_{\rm noBB} = \Delta t_{\rm noBB} (P_{\rm L}^0 + P_{\rm L,ad}^0 + P_{\rm L,bc}^0)$$
(5.5)

 $P_{\rm sys}$ corresponds to the total power consumption of the target system, including dynamic and leakage power consumption. Thus, it varies with the values chosen for $V_{\rm dd}$ and $V_{\rm bb}$. $P_{\rm bc}$ corresponds to the power spent by the BBGs; and $P_{\rm ad}$ represents the total power consumed by the activity detection circuitry. $E_{\rm Cb}$ is required for charging the back plane capacitances to the chosen $V_{\rm bb}$ as the system becomes active and, as it turns idle, $E_{\rm Cb}$ is once again consumed to switch the circuit to low performance mode. Consequently a factor 2 appears in equation (5.3).

During Δt_{noBB} , the power consumption in the system and in the activity detection circuitry $(P_L^0 \text{ and } P_{L,ad}^0 \text{ respectively})$ solely correspond to leakage, since there is no power dissipation due to switching. Moreover, as the system has been switched to low performance mode, the values of P_L^0 and $P_{L,ad}^0$ are considerably smaller than the corresponding leakages in the active mode $(P_L^{V_{bb}} \text{ and } P_{bc,L}^0, \text{ respectively})$.

In this context, the total energy overhead (E_o) caused by implementing the body biasing strategy described in Fig. 5.2b) and the energy saved (E_s) by turning off FBB during Δt_{nOBB}

are:

$$E_{\rm o} = \Delta t_{\rm BB} (P_{\rm ad} + P_{\rm bc}) + 2E_{\rm Cb} \tag{5.6}$$

$$E_{\rm s} = \Delta t_{\rm noBB} (P_{\rm L}^{V_{\rm bb}} - P_{\rm L}^0 - P_{\rm L,ad}^0 - P_{\rm L,bc}^0)$$
(5.7)

Finally, the inequality in eq. (5.2) will only be true if the saved energy is greater than E_0 .

$$E_{ABB} < E_{alwaysBB} \iff E_s > E_o$$
 (5.8)

Substituting equations (5.6) and (5.7) in eq. (5.8) enable deriving the relation between Δt_{BB} and Δt_{noBB} for which eq. (5.2) is true. By expanding this equation and considering that the power consumption (dynamic and static) of the activity detection and BBGs are negligible if compared to the total power consumption of the target circuit, equation (5.8) is simplified to the following relation that determines the minimum Δt_{noBB} that equals the energy overhead with the energy savings, commonly known as minimum idle time (MIT) [165].

$$\Delta t_{\rm noBB} > \frac{2C_{\rm b}(V_{\rm bb})^2}{P_{\rm L}^{V_{\rm bb}} - P_{\rm L}^0}$$
(5.9)

As previously mentioned in section 5.1.2, C_b is a technology dependent factor that represents the back plane capacitance, which is proportional to the area being biased, thus the BBD size.

5.2.2 Analyzing a fine-grain strategy

The same target system analyzed in section 5.2.1 is now considered to be composed of N BBDs, one BBD per pipeline stage (body biasing strategy depicted in Fig. 5.2a). Fig. 5.4b illustrates the variation of the number of biased pipeline stages as vectors are inputted to the system. Differently from what is shown in Fig. 5.3b, now the number of biased stages progressively increases during pipeline loading until the whole system is biased, when the pipeline is full.

For instance, during Δt_{BB1} , data is only being processed in the first pipeline stage. Consequently it is the only part of the circuit that is on high performance mode, thus having a high leakage consumption ($P_{\text{leak},1}^{Vbb}$). Conversely, the following N-1 pipeline stages are not yet biased, thus the leakage power they consume during Δt_{BB1} is equivalent to no biased ($P_{L,j}^0$). Hence, compared to a coarse-grain strategy (the case analyzed in section 5.2.1), the energy saved during Δt_{BB1} ($E_{s,1}$) is determined by:

$$E_{s,1} = \Delta t_{BB1} \sum_{j=2}^{N} (P_{L,j}^{Vbb} - P_{L,j}^{0})$$
(5.10)

The same analysis is done to the following time intervals in pipeline loading. Therefore compared to a coarse-grain strategy, the total energy saved during pipeline loading $(E_{s,pl})$ is a summation of the individual savings in each interval of pipeline loading:

$$E_{\rm s,pl} = \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \Delta t_{\rm BBi} \left(\sum_{j=i+1}^{N} (P_{\rm L,j}^{Vbb} - P_{\rm L,j}^{0}) \right)$$
(5.11)

As the analyzed target system is an asynchronous circuit, Δt_{BBi} corresponds to the latency of the corresponding pipeline stage (δ_i), which varies with the chosen values of V_{dd} and V_{bb} .



Fig. 5.4: Variation of the number of body biased BBDs with time (b) in a system split into N BBDs - implementation of a fine-grain ABB strategy - as a burst of input vectors (a) is processed by the system.

As soon as each pipeline stage has no data to process, it is switched back to low performance mode, causing the number of biased stages to progressively decrease during pipeline unloading, as shown in Fig. 5.4b. The analyses to evaluate the amount of saved energy during pipeline unloading $(E_{s,pu})$ is similar to the case of pipeline loading. By following the same reasoning, the energy saved during pipeline unloading is defined by the summation of the individual savings in each interval of the pipeline unloading:

$$E_{\rm s,pu} = \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} (P_{\rm L,j}^{Vbb} - P_{\rm L,j}^0) (\sum_{i=j+1}^N \Delta t_{\rm BBi})$$
(5.12)

With some algebraically manipulation, it is straightforward to derive that equations 5.12 and 5.11 are equivalent for a balanced pipeline. Thus, for the sake of simplicity, they will be considered equal from now on.

Repeating the energy analysis done in section on the target system 5.2.1, the total energy (E_{fine}) consumed by a fine-grain strategy during Δt_{BB} and Δt_{noBB} is:

$$E_{\text{fine}} = E_{\text{BBfine}} + E_{\text{noBB}} + 2\sum E_{\text{bias,i}}$$
(5.13)

$$E_{\rm BBfine} = E_{\rm BB} - 2E_{\rm s,pl} \tag{5.14}$$

$$E_{\rm bias,i} = C_{\rm b,i} (V_{\rm bb})^2$$
 (5.15)

Compared to equation (5.3), the total energy consumption during $\Delta t_{\rm BB}$ ($E_{\rm BBfine}$) has been updated with the component of saved energy from equation (5.11). The value of $E_{\rm noBB}$ is kept as defined in eq. (5.5) since during $\Delta t_{\rm noBB}$ the energy consumed by the system is equivalent to a coarse-grain strategy. Moreover, as the area of each BBD of the target system has been reduced, the value of back plane capacitance ($C_{\rm b,i}$) is now different for each BBD and smaller than $C_{\rm b}$. Consequently, the energy required to switch the system from low to high performance mode ($E_{\rm bias,i}$) has been split into smaller components. Equations (5.6) and (5.7) are now rewritten for the case of a fine-grain strategy:

$$E_{\text{o,fine}} = \Delta t_{\text{BB}} (P_{\text{ad}} + P_{\text{bc}}) + 2 \sum E_{\text{bias,i}}$$
(5.16)

$$E_{\rm s,fine} = \Delta t_{\rm noBB} (P_{\rm L}^{V_{\rm bb}} - P_{\rm L}^0 - P_{\rm L,ad}^0 - P_{\rm L,bc}^0) + 2E_{\rm s,pl}$$
(5.17)

Finally, with similar manipulation as done in section 5.2.1, equation (5.9) is derived for a fine-grain strategy:

$$\Delta t_{\text{noBB}} > \frac{2((V_{\text{bb}})^2 \sum C_{\text{b,i}} - E_{\text{s,pl}})}{P_{\text{L}}^{V_{\text{bb}}} - P_{\text{L}}^0}$$
(5.18)

The MIT for a fine-grain body biasing strategy differs from the one in equation (5.9) by a term $E_{s,pl}$, determined by equation (5.11). Therefore, the more cycles of pipeline loading and unloading, the smaller is the MIT and consequently more energy savings are achieved compared to a coarse-grain strategy.

5.3 Simulation Results and Analysis

To demonstrate the energy efficiency and performance gains of adaptive body biasing strategies, a case-study circuit was used as target system for the implementation of the 3 different body biasing strategies depicted in Fig. 5.2. The layout of the 3 strategies have been designed using low threshold voltage transistors in FD-SOI 28nm technology. Electrical simulations with post-layout netlists have been done to generate the power consumption and performance results.

5.3.1 Case-Study: 8-bit QDI asynchronous ALU chain

The QDI asynchronous 8-bit ALU proposed in [1] is the base architecture for the implementation of this case-study. It is a 3-stage pipelined circuit, as depicted in Fig. 5.5a, summing a total of 506 logic gates. It has been replicated 5 times, and connected in chain, as depicted in Fig. 5.5b, in order to create a more complex system, more suitable for the implementation of different body biasing strategies. The input of the ALU chain is connected to a Linear Feedback Shift Register (LFSR) that provides pseudo-random input vectors. A completion detection circuit (End Plug in Fig. 5.5b) is connected to the chain output, generating the acknowledgement for the last pipeline stage, thus guaranteeing the correctness of the asynchronous communication protocol at the output of the last ALU of the chain.



Fig. 5.5: Representation of the pipeline stages of the QDI asynchronous ALU used as base architecture (a), and its connection in chain (b) to serve as case-study of adaptive body biasing strategies. In (a) the clouds represent combinational logic and the grey rectangles represent memory elements. In (b), the input vectors are generated by a LFSR, connected to the first ALU of the chain. A handshake interface (End Loop) is connected to the last ALU of the chain to implement the communication protocol in the system's output stage.

The chain of ALUs is the base for the implementation of three different adaptive body biasing strategies: 1) a coarse-grain strategy, in which all ALUs belong to the same BBD (as shown in Fig 5.2b); 2) a fine-grain strategy, with 1 BBD per pipeline stage of each ALU, summing a total of 15 BBDs (the strategy depicted in Fig 5.2a); and 3) a medium-grain strategy, in which each ALU of the chain belongs to a separate BBD, summing a total of 5 BBDs (the strategy shown in Fig. 5.2c). Additionally, for the sake of comparison, an always biased system was also designed. It is a version of the ALU chain in which the body biasing is always on, independently of circuit activity. Thus, the always biased versions have no BBGs nor activity detection circuitry. The body terminal of all transistors of the target system are connected to V_{bb} from the beginning until the end of each simulation.

5.3.2 Description of experiments

Each simulation, in this work, is characterized by three parameters: 1) V_{dd} ; 2) V_{bb} ; and 3) activity ratio. In the conducted experiments, the circuits were simulated under nominal voltage $(V_{dd} = 1.0 \text{ V})$ and in near-threshold voltage region $(V_{dd} = 0.6 \text{ V})$, voltage operation regions that are commonly used for high performance and low power applications respectively. The used V_{bb} values are: $V_{bb} = 0$ V, a no body biasing scenario; $V_{bb} = 1.0$ V, an intermediate biasing level; and $V_{bb} = 1.5$ V, a strong biasing scenario. The third parameter, the activity ratio, is the proportion between active interval (Δt_{BB}) and the following idle period (Δt_{noBB}) , previously shown in Fig. 5.3 and Fig. 5.4. It is mathematically defined as:

$$Activity \ ratio = \frac{\Delta t_{\rm BB}}{\Delta t_{\rm BB} + \Delta t_{\rm noBB}}$$
(5.19)

As the idle period tends to 0, the activity ratio tends to 1, indicating that the system is always processing data. On the other hand, as Δt_{noBB} tends to a large number, the activity ratio tends to 0, indicating that the system is almost always idle.

For each V_{dd} , Δt_{BB} was chosen to minimize the full pipeline time, depicted in Fig. 5.4. A large Δt_{BB} create a long full pipeline time, and consequently decreases the influence of the

savings during pipeline loading and unloading, described by equation 5.11. Therefore, in the experiments conducted in this section, $\Delta t_{\rm BB}$ is set to approximately the latency of a single ALU, which is 0.5 ns at $V_{\rm dd} = 1.0$ V and 2.4 ns at $V_{\rm dd} = 0.6$ V. $\Delta t_{\rm noBB}$ is then changed accordingly to create the desired activity ratios. For instance, at a $V_{\rm dd} = 1.0$ V, knowing that $\Delta t_{\rm BB}$ is 0.5 ns, $\Delta t_{\rm noBB}$ needs to be equal to 2 ns in order to generate an activity ratio of 0.2.

5.3.3 Results and Analysis

Tables 5.1 and 5.2 show the results obtained from electrical simulations performed with always biased, coarse, medium, and fine strategies. For generating each table, the activity ratio and V_{dd} are kept fixed while V_{bb} varies as shown in the table. In each scenario, the results of total power, operation frequency and energy per operation for each strategy were measured.

If operating at nominal voltage, as shown in table 5.1, the operation frequency of the adaptive body biasing strategies (coarse, medium and fine) is approximately the same as the always biased strategy, which shows the effectiveness of the proposed biasing strategy based on BBGs and activity detection circuitries. The reason for the slight performance gap between the always strategy and the other ones is the latency between detecting activity and fully biasing each BBD. Since both activity detection circuities and the area being biased are particular to each strategy, as described in section 5.1.3, there are slight variations between the performance of coarse, medium and fine strategies. As the number of BBDs increase, so does the biasing activation latency, thus slightly reducing the performance gap between always biased and the other strategies significantly increases. For instance, the performance of the coarse strategy is approximately 50% of the always biased considering a $V_{bb} = 1.5$ V. This increased gap is caused by the increase of the latency of the BBGs when operating at low V_{dd} .

The power consumption results, conversely, show significant improvements as the number

Vbb	BB strategy	Total Power	Operation Frequency	Energy per Operation
(V)		(normalized)	(normalized)	(normalized)
	coarse	1.02	1.003	1.01
0.0	medium	1.02	1.001	1.02
	fine	1.03	0.998	1.03
	always	1.00	1.000	1.00
	coarse	1.49	1.189	1.31
1.0	medium	1.39	1.167	1.19
	fine	1.38	1.168	1.18
	always	1.65	1.191	1.39
	coarse	2.11	1.271	1.73
1.5	medium	1.85	1.255	1.48
	fine	1.81	1.254	1.44
	always	2.79	1.289	2.17

Table 5.1: Electrical simulation results for $V_{dd} = 1.0$ V and activity ratio of 0.1. The values of total power, operation frequency and energy per operation were normalized to the respective values of the always biased strategy for a $V_{bb} = 0.0$ V and a $V_{dd} = 1.0$ V.

of BBDs and V_{bb} increase. For instance, for the scenario represented in table 5.1, if the target circuit is body biased at $V_{bb} = 1.5$ V, the fine strategy consumes approximately 14% less power than the coarse one and 35% less than the always biased strategy. The improvement in total power consumption achieved by increasing the number of BBDs (moving from a coarse to a fine strategy) is explained by the savings during pipeline loading and unloading quantified by equations (5.11) and (5.12). The total power consumption results shown in table 5.1 includes the power overhead required for implementing each ABB strategy, i.e. the power consumed by activity detectors (P_{ad}), BBGs (P_{bc}) and the extra power required to change the operation mode (describe by equation 5.1). In table 5.1, in the case of $V_{bb} = 1.5$ V, this power overhead is approximately 19%, 21%, 24% of the total power consumption for the coarse, medium and fine strategies, respectively.

Reducing the operation V_{dd} to 0.6 V reduces the total power consumption differences between coarse, medium and fine strategies, as shown in table 5.2. In this scenario, the maximum reduction between the power consumption of the fine strategy if compared to the coarse is approximately 8% at $V_{bb} = 1.5$ V. However, if compared to the always biased strategy, the fine and med strategies power consumption are reduced by a factor of more then 3, which clearly show the advantages of implementing adaptive body biasing strategies with low V_{dd} .

The lower power consumption and relative high performance of the proposed adaptive body biasing strategies, close to the performance of the always strategy if $V_{dd} = 1.0$ V, make them more energy efficient than the latter. As depicted in tables 5.1 and 5.2, the values of energy per operation of coarse, medium and fine strategies are smaller than the always strategy for any V_{bb} value superior than 0 V. For instance, for $V_{dd} = 0.6$ V and $V_{bb} = 1.5$ V the value of energy per operation of the medium strategy is reduced by approximately 52% if compared to the always biased. Moreover, considering the scenarios of table 5.2, applying a $V_{bb} = 1.0$ V allow keeping the same energy per operation in the medium strategy while increasing the operation frequency by approximately 56% if compared to not applying body biasing ($V_{bb} = 0$ V).

Vbb	BB strategy	Total Power	Operation Frequency	Energy per Operation
(V)		(normalized)	(normalized)	(normalized)
	coarse	0.05	0.266	0.18
0.0	medium	0.05	0.264	0.18
	fine	0.05	0.265	0.18
	always	0.05	0.264	0.18
	coarse	0.08	0.401	0.20
1.0	medium	0.08	0.412	0.18
	fine	0.08	0.404	0.19
	always	0.18	0.674	0.27
	coarse	0.13	0.476	0.27
1.5	medium	0.11	0.487	0.23
	fine	0.12	0.423	0.29
	always	0.40	0.829	0.48

Table 5.2: Electrical simulation results for $V_{dd} = 0.6$ V and activity ratio of 0.05. The values of total power, operation frequency and energy per operation were normalized to the measurements of the always biased strategy for a $V_{bb} = 0.0$ V, a $V_{dd} = 1.0$ V and activity ratio of 0.1.



Fig. 5.6: Energy per operation variation with activity ratio of fine, medium, coarse and always biased strategies for a $V_{dd} = 1.0$ V, $V_{bb} = 1.5$ V in (a); and $V_{dd} = 0.6$ V, $V_{bb} = 1.0$ V in (b). The measurements in (a) and (b) were normalized to the same reference as tables 5.1 and 5.2, i.e. the energy per operation result of the always biased strategy for a a $V_{dd} = 1.0$ V, $V_{bb} = 0.0$ V and activity ratio of 0.1.

Finally, Fig. 5.6 depicts the energy per operation variation with activity ratio. In this set of experiments, the V_{bb} and V_{dd} are kept fixed while the activity ratio varies as shown in the x-axis of Fig. 5.6. From these graphs the value of minimum idle time defined by equations (5.9) and (5.18) can be determined. It determines the region of activity ratio in which the coarse, medium and fine body biasing strategies are more energy efficient than the always biased circuit. Out of this region, implementing an always biased strategy consumes less energy per operation, thus

the attractiveness of implementing an adaptive body biasing strategy is diminished.

As depicted in Fig. 5.6a, if the target system is operating at $V_{dd} = 1$ V and $V_{bb} = 1.5$ V, the always biased circuit spends less energy per operation than any of the other approaches for activity ratios bigger than 0.3. The calculated values of minimum idle time for fine, medium and coarse strategies in this operation condition are 1.38 ns, 1.23 ns and 2.12 ns respectively. These values determines that for activity ratios bigger than 0.3, the implementation of the coarse, medium or fine strategies are less energy efficient than simply always biasing the target system. As seen in Fig. 5.6a, the always curve is lower than the other curves for any activity ratio bigger than 0.3. In fact, in such cases, the energy overhead described by equation (5.6) and (5.16) are greater than the energy savings of equations (5.7) and (5.17), since Δt_{noBB} is not sufficiently high.

If the target system is operating at $V_{dd} = 0.6V$ and $V_{bb} = 1.0$ V though, longer idle times are required. From simulation results depicted in Fig. 5.6b, the calculated values of minimum idle time for fine, medium and coarse strategies in this operation condition are 15.64 ns, 14.32 ns and 21.6 ns respectively. In this operation scenario, longer idle times since the energy savings for a smaller V_{bb} are also smaller. Therefore, as depicted in Fig. 5.6b, for activity ratios bigger than 0.15, the implementation of the coarse, medium or fine strategies are less energy efficient than simply always biasing the target system.

The results presented in this section would be further enhanced by improving the architecture of the BBGs. Reducing the BBG activation latency would improving the operation frequency of fine and medium strategies and increase the energy saved during pipeline loading and unloading, described by equation (5.11), especially if the target circuit is operating in low V_{dd} . Moreover, assigning different V_{bb} levels to each BBD, as presented in [74], would further enhance the energy efficiency of medium and fine strategies.

5.4 Conclusions

This chapter analyzed the energy efficiency and performance gains of three different adaptive body biasing strategies on asynchronous circuits. The aim of this work was evaluating the optimum granularity for implementing adaptive body biasing in asynchronous circuits. Therefore, each analyzed strategy partitions a target case-study circuit in a different BBD configuration. Results show that implementing adaptive body biasing strategies allow maintaining the performance gains featured by body biasing while reducing its drawback, the significant power consumption increase, by approximately 35%. Therefore, lower energy per operation is achieved by implementing adaptive body biasing strategies, especially if the target system is partitioned into small BBDs (the fine strategy in this work).

Moreover, this study provided a methodology for analyzing the energy efficiency of adaptive body biasing strategies. Therefore, by evaluating the activity rate of the target system, we delimited the regions of operation in which implementing each strategy is feasible. Future works will include improving energy and performance results obtained with low V_{dd} by enhancing the architecture of the level-shifter based BBGs.

Chapter 6

A body built-in cell for body biasing subcircuits of integrated systems and detecting transient faults

Besides energy efficiency, reliability is also nowadays one of the main concerns for nanoelectronic systems. Although in the past the dynamic energy has been the dominant source of consumption, in the deep sub-micron era the significantly increased sub-threshold leakage is making the static power comparable to the dynamic consumption [127]. Therefore, guaranteeing high energy efficiency in advanced technology nodes requires the use of techniques to mitigate leakage. In this context, tuning V_{th} through body biasing has been shown to be an effective alternative to overcome this issue [26, 51]. As described in chapter 2, by artificially increasing transistors threshold voltage (V_{th}) the leakage is reduced, a scheme known as RBB. Alternatively, decreasing V_{th} , a technique known as FBB, increases transistors performance. The attractiveness of body biasing is increased by applying an ABB scheme, as presented in chapter 5. Implementing it requires special cells, commonly known as body bias generators (BBG), that need to be embedded to the system thus properly controlling the V_{bb} during circuit operation, as shown in chapter 5. Th implementations based on level-shifters represent a promising solution, specially for fine-grain body biasing, as demonstrated in chapter 5.

Another major challenge faced by nanoelectronic systems is reliability, especially for applications in which failure is critical, e.g. satellites, aircrafts, nuclear power plant robots. The harsh environment in which such devices are inserted are susceptible to high radiation exposure or environmental variations, that may induce parasitic transient currents. These transient faults (TF), which are indeed temporary voltage level modifications, affect the circuits for a short duration of time, and their occurrence are not predictable. Consequently, TFs need to be detected and corrected at run-time to avoid the occurrence of soft errors. Among the existing design strategies, the Body Built-In Current Sensors (BBICS) are a promising solution for detecting TFs, and are perfectly suitable to be integrated in IC standard-cell based design flows [54, 105, 133].

In fact, the robustness of a system is strongly related to its frequency of operation, power supply voltage (V_{dd}), and V_{bb} [49]. Thus, power management and fault tolerance techniques need to be jointly considered. Studies have shown that FBB reduces the soft error rate induced by radiation, while applying RBB increases it [57, 67]. Furthermore, both ABB and transient fault detection techniques require special cells to provide the appropriate V_{bb} for transistors.

This chapter presents a novel cell that merges the functionalities of BBICS and level-shifters based BBGs. Therefore, the proposed architecture is capable of: 1) detecting short-duration, or

long-duration TFs; 2) controlling transistor's V_{th} thus compensating alterations induced by aging or PVT variations; 3) optimizing the system trade-off between low-power and high performance. The design of a single cell with multiple purposes allows to further reduce the already low area overhead imposed by the elements of the BBICS and level-shifter circuitry. It also facilitates the cell insertion in a standard design flow. The work of this chapter was published in the Microelectronic Reliability journal 2018.

The following sections of this chapter are organized as follows: section 2 presents the fundamental on detecting TFs with BBICS and briefly recapitulates how to implement ABB schemes. The following section describes the architecture and the behavior of the proposed body built-in cell, and precises how it is used for both body biasing and TF detection. Section 4 explains the experiments conducted and the results obtained with the proposed architecture inserted into a target circuit, and section 5 concludes this chapter.

6.1 Fundamentals

6.1.1 Implementing ABB schemes

As previously explained in chapter 5, the attractiveness of RBB and FBB is increased by implementing ABB schemes. The idea is to decrease V_{th} during active periods, to enhance circuit performance, and increase it during idle periods to prevent unnecessary leakage. Implementing such ABB schemes requires special cells, known as BBGs. Since this work is focused on applying ABB in sub-circuits of an integrated system, level-shifter based BBG architectures are preferred, thus less area overhead is achieved by reducing the BBG complexity. Fig. 6.1 depicts an abstraction of the ABB strategy used in this work, as previously shown in chapter 5.



Fig. 6.1: Abstraction of a level-shifter based BBG controlling the V_{th} tuning of a generic target system.

The body biasing strategy shown in Fig. 6.1 applies to both RBB and FBB schemes. In fact, what differentiates these strategies is the choice of voltage levels of V_{idle_n} , V_{idle_p} , V_{act_n} and V_{act_p} . For instance, in order to implement FBB $V_{idle_n} = 0$; $V_{idle_p} = 0$; $V_{act_n} > 0$; and $V_{act_p} < 0$.

The experiments described in section 6.3 were performed with FBB. The procedure to perform simulations with a RBB scheme is analogous to what is described in section 6.3.

The feasibility of level-shifter based BBGs for ABB relies on: 1) low delay, rapidly switching from low-leakage to high-performance mode and vice versa; 2) very low power consumption, in order to minimize the power overhead; 3) proper operation at low V_{dd} , in which minimum energy is reachable [159]. Therefore, these parameters are used in the experiments described in section 6.3 to evaluate the efficiency of the proposed body built-in cell for implementing ABB schemes.

6.1.1.1 State-of-the-Art level shifter architectures

The fundamental purpose of a level shifter is converting an input signal V_{in} from a certain voltage level (V_{DDL}) to another voltage level (V_{DDH}) in the output V_{out} . It is used for implementing ABB schemes since the voltage levels of V_{bb} is generally higher than the target system V_{dd} in order to increase the energy efficiency, as demonstrated in the experiments of chapter 5.

Many level shifter architectures have been proposed by the scientific community. They have been classified in this section into five categories defined according to the presence of the following particular internal structures: (I) cross-coupled PMOS transistors; (II) diode-connected transistors; (III) pass transistors; (IV) current mirrors; and (V) dynamic logic.

(I) Cross-type level shifters: several architectures have been proposed using the principles of the differential cascode voltage switch (DCVS) CMOS logic [58] to mitigate static current overheads [149, 154, 160, 169]. Fig. 6.2 and Fig. 6.4 illustrates DCVS structures (inside dashed boxes), which are cross-coupled PMOS pairs forming two pull-up networks (PUNs) complemented by two pull-down networks (PDNs). A basic DCVS-based level shifter architecture is shown in Fig. 6.2.



Fig. 6.2: State-of-the-art cross-type level shifter [149].

(II) Diode-type level shifters: adding diode-connected transistors, in order to limit the current in a typical DCVS structure, has been proposed by several architectures [36, 52, 70, 78,79,119,130,164,172]. Recently, Lanuzza et al. [78] have proposed the level shifter depicted in Fig 6.3. Additionally, a self-adapting boost circuit increases the strength of each level shifter branch during their charging phase, and weakening them in the discharging phase.


Fig. 6.3: State-of-the-art diode-type level shifter [78].

- (III) **Pass-type level shifters**: in the early 2000s, architectures employing pass transistors and other complementary structures were presented in [55, 75, 119, 131, 145] to improve classic level shifter structures.
- (IV) Mirror-type level shifters: architectures based on current mirrors have been proposed to feature wider input voltage range at Vin. [23, 27, 59, 72, 83, 84, 94, 114, 173]. Fig. 6.4 illustrates a level shifter architecture using two Wilson current mirrors connected to a conventional level shifter structure [23].



Fig. 6.4: State-of-the-art mirror-type level shifter [23].

(V) Dynamic-type level shifters: another type of LS architecture was proposed in [63] and [24] by exploiting dynamic logic to operate at lower voltage levels. The dynamic-type LS architectures require a circuitry for the precharge phase of the dynamic logic.

6.1.2 Detecting TFs with BBICS

The so-called body or bulk built-in current sensors (BBICS) are used to detect abnormal transient currents flowing from the body to the drain (or vice versa) of sensitive transistors (reversebiased PN junctions) of a design under test (DUT) [105]. Fig. 6.5 depicts an abstraction of a BBICS monitoring a target system. It shows a current source (I_{FaultN}), that models a transient fault (TF) occurring in one of the NMOS transistors of the target system. As shown in Fig. 6.5, the voltages that bias the body of the NMOS and PMOS transistors (V_n and V_p respectively) are provided by the BBICS. Thus, there is no direct connection between the body terminals of the target system and the power rails, as depicted in Fig 6.5. Whenever an atypical current is detected, an output flag is raised (Flag signal in Fig 6.5), indicating the occurrence of a TF. The threshold at which the BBICS is capable of detecting a TF is defined as the BBICS sensitivity and it is determined by the number of transistors in the target system and the architecture of the BBICS [118]. Therefore, two strategies are used to calibrate the range of TF detectable by a BBICS: 1) splitting the target system into sub-circuits, each one of them monitored by an independent BBICS, thus reducing the number of monitored transistors per sensor; 2) changing the size and drive strength of some specific transistors of the BBICS. In this work, for the sake of simplicity, only the NMOS sensor is analyzed. The analyses of the PMOS case is analogous.



Fig. 6.5: Abstraction of BBICS monitoring a generic target system. A zoom in an arbitrary part of the system details the occurrence of a TF, modeled as a current source, temporarily changing the output of an inverter from 1 to 0.

6.2 Proposed body built-in architecture

The body built-in cell proposed in this work unites the strategies described in sections 6.1.2 and 6.1.1. Therefore, the proposed architecture is composed of two parts: a level-shifter based

structure, depicted in Fig. 6.6 inside a dashed black box; and a current sensor based structure, shown inside the dashed green box of Fig. 6.6. The body built-in cell described in the sequel corresponds to the circuitry necessary for biasing and monitoring the NMOS transistors of a target system. The architecture for the PMOS network is analogous.

6.2.1 Level-shifter structure

This part of the proposed body built-in cell ensures a proper implementation of the ABB strategy described in section 6.1.1. The functionality of the level shifter of Fig. 6.1 is implemented by the circuitry inside the dashed black box of Fig. 6.6. Therefore, if the input signal boost of Fig. 6.6 changes from 0 to 1, indicating that body biasing should be activated, the node V2, previously set to V_{act_n} , will discharge to logical 0 through the transistor 5. After discharging, V2 will activate the transistor 2, thus enabling the node V1 to charge (the transistor 4 was already activated by the signal *FB*). Finally, the body biasing voltage V_{act_n} is provided to the body of NMOS transistors of the target system through the terminal NMOS Body, output of the transmission gate formed by transistors 9 and 10.

Once V1 has reached V_{act_n} , forcing \overline{FB} to 0, the transistor 3 will be activated, and the signal FB will deactivate transistor 4, preparing the pull-up branches of the Level-Shifter based structure for the next input transition of the boost signal. The signals FB and \overline{FB} ensure that transistors 3 and 4 change their voltage levels only after V1 has changed. The delay of these feedback signals has to be controlled to certify that the nodes V1 and V2 have fully switched to V_{act_n} or 0 before affecting transistors 3 and 4. The level-shifter based structure has an analogous behavior when the boost signal changes from 1 to 0, indicating that body biasing should be deactivated.

The implemented level shifter architecture is an amelioration of the classical cross-type



Fig. 6.6: The proposed body built-in cell architecture. The inputs and outputs are marked in blue. X_n is a design factors used for calibrating the sensitivity of the sensor in detecting transient faults.

architecture, the weak contention level shifter presented in [7]. Its feedback signals FB and \overline{FB} help reducing the cell leakage, even under ultra-low voltage operation [7].

6.2.2 Current sensor structure

The role of this part of the proposed body built-in cell is to detect TFs. If an abnormal transient current occurs, it will be signaled through the output FlagN. Its architecture is based on dynamic BBICS. Instead of the conventional latch of the static BBICS architectures, that requires a feedback to maintain the output flag voltage level, a dynamic memory cell is used (transistors 7 and 8 in Fig. 6.6). With no feedback circuit wired to FlagN, the sensitivity of the sensor in detecting TFs is increased and its transistor count is reduced.

As in any dynamic CMOS circuit, a periodic signal (*Reset* and *Reset* in Fig. 6.6) is required to periodically refresh the sensor memory node. It is mandatory to remove accumulative leakage effects on the sensor output, thus preventing consequent false indications of fault. The results in [118] show that a dynamic BBICS designed in a bulk CMOS 65-nm technology is able to properly function by using a short reset pulse with a period of 50 ns. The transistors 9 forces the NMOS bulk node to a temporary floating state, in order to facilitate the switching of transistor 8 in the case of TFs. Thanks to the large channel-width of transistor 8, the dynamic output FlagN is a steady voltage signal that lasts long enough to be dealt by other system blocks, applying corrective actions if a transient fault occurs.

6.3 Simulation Results and Analysis

The operation of the proposed body built-in cell was electrically simulated in FD-SOI 28 nm technology with low threshold voltage transistors. The NMOS Body terminal (shown in Fig. 6.6) was connected to the body of the NMOS transistors of three different target systems: 2, 4 and 6 chains of 10 standard inverters of minimum size. The performed experiments have the purpose of: 1) evaluating the effectiveness of the cell in providing multiple body biasing voltage levels, for different target systems; 2) determining how the cell sensitivity to TFs change with the variation of the size of the target system; and 3) determining how the process and temperature variations influence the sensitivity of the proposed cell towards TFs. Since the activation of body biasing directly affects the cell sensitivity towards TFs (setting NMOS Body to V_{act_n} triggers the output FlagN), body biasing and TF detection schemes are evaluated separately. To isolate the influence of body biasing in the activation of the output FlagN, a simple AND gate with inputs boost and FlagN is sufficient. In all performed simulations, the parasitic capacitances and resistances have been included.

6.3.1 Body biasing efficiency

For analyzing the effectiveness of the proposed cell in providing body biasing voltage levels to a target system, a periodic pulse with frequency of 20 MHz has been applied to the boost input. A FBB scheme was set up, thus $V_{idle_n} = 0$ V; $V_{idle_p} = 0$ V; $V_{act_n} = 1$ V; and $V_{act_p} = -1$ V. To verify the limits of correct operation of the cell, in which the level-shifter based structure needs to convert near-threshold into nominal voltage levels, a parametric analysis simulation was performed varying the voltage level of the boost input signal. The simulated voltage levels of boost are depicted in the x-axis of Fig. 6.7. Each curve in the graphs of Fig. 6.7 represents the response of the proposed body built-in cell when connected to a different target system. While

evaluating the body biasing functionality, no TF was injected since FBB drastically reduces the probability of TF occurrence [57, 67].

For each simulation, the following three figures of merit were considered: delay, transition energy and static power, shown in Fig. 6.7a, Fig. 6.7b and Fig. 6.7c respectively. The delay is the latency of the cell to charge NMOS Body to V_{act_n}/V_{idle_n} after the rising/falling of the boost input signal. The transition energy is defined as the energy consumed by the proposed cell when converting the output NMOS Body from V_{idle_n} to V_{act_n} and vice-versa; and the static power is the leakage of the cell when NMOS Body has reached a stable voltage (there is no switching of its transistors). Each figure of merit value in the graphs of Fig. 6.7 is the average of a simulation



Fig. 6.7: Normalized average results of delay, transition energy and static power consumption of the proposed body built-in cell biasing 2, 4 and 6 chains of 10 inverters, with fixed $V_{act_n} = 1$ V. All points of these graphics are normalized to the results of the technology standard LVT inverter with minimal drive operating at $V_{dd} = 1$ V, and a temperature of 27°C. The reference values used in the normalization are: 4.88 ps, 0.43 fJ and 4.35 nW for graphs a), b), and c) respectively.

result obtained during body biasing activation (when the NMOS Body output passes from V_{idle_n} to V_{act_n}) and the results during its deactivation (when the NMOS Body output passes from V_{act_n} to V_{idle_n}). All simulation results shown in the graphs of Fig. 6.7 has been obtained with feasible boost voltage inputs, which is defined, in this work, as an input capable of changing the output node NMOS Body voltage from V_{idle_n} to V_{act_n} in a maximal delay of 5 ns.

The proposed body built-in cell shows a very stable operation for a boost signal voltage level ranging from 0.4 V to 1.0 V. In this region of operation, the delay and the transition energy remain practically unchanged, for the 2,4 and 6 inverter chain curves, certifying the proposed cell capacity of providing a wide range of body biasing voltages with almost constant delay and low energy overhead. In the same operation region, the static power consumption significantly decreases for the three target circuits depicted in Fig. 6.7c. For instance, for the 2 inverter chains circuit, there is a reduction of approximately 3x in the static consumption between 1 V and 0.4 V.

The significant delay difference between the three curves of Fig. 6.7a, for this operation interval, is mainly due to the sizing of transistors 9, 10 and the inverter connected to the output of the level-shifter based structure. The sizing was optimized for a target system equivalent to 2 chains of 10 inverters. Better delay results are easily obtained by resizing these transistors to other target systems.

As the boost voltage decreases below 0.4 V, the figures of merit for all simulated target systems exponentially increase. For instance, if the cell is biasing 2 inverter chains, its static power consumption at 0.27 V (higher point of the black curve of Fig. 6.7c) is approximately 16x higher than its value at 0.4 V, while the delay is approximately 3x higher. The proposed cell does not properly operate with a 6 inverter chains for a boost voltage level smaller than 0.28 V (the highest points in the blue curves of Fig. 6.7). The extremely high power and energy overheads make the cell usage bellow 0.35 V impractical.

Subsequently, a Monte Carlo (MC) simulation has been done to evaluate the robustness of the proposed architecture against process variations and device mismatch. The graphs in Fig. 6.8a and Fig. 6.8b respectively show the measures of the transition energy and the static power consumption versus the delay of the 1000 runs of the performed MC simulation. The closer the points are to the lower-left corner of the scatter plot, the better they are, since it represents a low consumption and high performance cell. The obtained normalized standard deviations (σ/μ) of the energy and power consumption are respectively 0.05 and 0.39, which are comparable to those obtained by similar level-shifter architectures [7]. The high concentration of the points of Fig. 6.8 in the x-axis indicates a rather low performance variation with process, mainly due to the absence of pull-up network contention in the level-shifter based structure of the proposed cell. The point dispersion in the y-axis of Fig. 6.8b indicates a slight variation of power consumption with process.

6.3.2 Detecting TFs

For evaluating the sensitivity of the proposed body built-in cell towards TFs, the target system is set to the biasing scenario that is more susceptible to TFs: a no body biasing [67]. Therefore, during this experiment the boost input was set to 0, forcing the NMOS Body terminal of the proposed cell is to $V_{idle_n} = 0$ V. A single TF is then injected between the 5th and the 6th inverter of one of the monitored chains. Different profiles of single transient faults were investigated. Each TF was modeled as a double exponential current source with short rise time and a longer fall time, the classical transient fault model for CMOS circuits [42, 47]. The rise time of every



Fig. 6.8: Monte Carlo simulation for 1000 runs ($V_{act_n} = 1$ V, $V_{dd} = 0.6$ V, frequency of 20 MHz and temperature of 27°C). The simulated results were normalized to the equivalent values obtained for a standard LVT inverter with minimal drive. The reference values used in the normalization were: 4.88 ps, 0.43 fJ and 4.35 nW.

simulated current was fixed to 5 ps while the fall time vary from TF to TF, as depicted on the x-axis of Fig. 6.9a and Fig. 6.9b. Moreover, as the shape of a transient fault is technology dependent, the sweep of the injected current was limited to not create voltage amplitudes higher than 100% of Vdd in any node of the target system. This strategy prevents the injection of voltage peaks leading to permanent damage to the circuit or behaviors out of the technology's specifications.

For each considered fall time, the amplitude of the injected transient current is adjusted to the smallest value capable of triggering the output *FlagN* of the proposed cell with a maximal delay of 3 ns. For instance, if the transient current is injected 10 ns after the simulation started, the TF is considered to be detected if the output node FlagN is set to logic 0 at 13 ns. The obtained minimum detectable current amplitudes for each selected fall time are depicted in y-axis of Fig. 6.9a and Fig. 6.9b.

The aforementioned simulation procedure have been repeated for different target systems, in order to investigate the influence of the number of monitored transistors (target system size) to the sensibility of the current sensor structure of the proposed body built-in cell. The obtained results are shown in Fig. 6.9a. Each curve represents the simulation results for the proposed cell monitoring a different number of inverter chains, for a reference temperature of 27 °C and a typical process corner.

In all the simulated scenarios, the proposed cell was able to detect both short and long transient faults, with fall times ranging from 20 ps to 700 ps (x-axis of Fig. 6.9a). For instance, with a TF of 5 ps of rise time and 100 ps of fall time, any transient current with amplitude greater than 70 μ A are detected, if the proposed cell is monitoring 2 inverter chains (black curve). For the same TF profile (5 ps rise time and 100 ps fall time), increasing the number of monitored transistors also increases the minimum detectable current. It increases to approximately 150 μ A and 200 μ A, if the cell is monitoring 4 and 6 inverter chains, respectively. This behavior is expected since increasing the number of monitored transistors also increase the equivalent capacitance tied to the node NMOS Body of the proposed cell (shown in Fig. 6.6), thus making the switching of transistor 8 more difficult.

To show the resilience of the proposed cell against environmental effects and how the cell sensitivity varies with different operation scenarios, the experiment was repeated for multiple process corners and temperatures, considering a target system of 2 inverter chains. The obtained



Fig. 6.9: Minimum current amplitudes detectable by the proposed body built-in cell with the injection of a single TF with rise time of 5 ps. In a) the cell sensitivity is being compared for a varying number of monitored transistors, in a typical process and temperature of 27°C. In b), the cell is monitoring 2 chains of 10 inverters in multiple process corners: typical (TT), fast-fast (FF) and slow-slow (SS); and multiple temperatures.

results are shown in Fig. 6.9b. The black curve is the same in both Fig. 6.9a and Fig. 6.9b. The temperature has an inverse impact on the cell sensitivity: as it decreases, the minimum detectable current increases. This behavior is depicted by the black, olive and blue curves of Fig. 6.9b. The reason is mainly the inverse relation between transistors V_{th} and temperature [39], which facilitates the switching of transistor 8 at higher temperatures. For instance, the minimum detectable current drops from 70 μ A to approximately 50 μ A if the temperature increases from 27°C to 125°C (black and cyan curves, respectively, in Fig. 6.9b).

The proposed body built-in cell was also robust against process variations, as shown by the orange and purple curves in Fig. 6.9b. Analyzing the same TF profile, a variation of process from TT to SS causes an increase of the minimum detectable current of approximately 30 μ A. Conversely, a fast-fast (FF) corner variant cause a decrease of roughly 20 μ A.

6.4 Conclusions

In this chapter a novel body built-in cell has been presented and analyzed. It is capable of: 1) detecting short-duration (20 ps fall time) and long-duration (700 ps fall time) TFs, even under temperature and process variations, showing its resilience against environmental effects; 2) efficiently implementing ABB schemes with a wide biasing voltage range: the cell shows a very stable operation for a boost signal voltage ranging from 0.4 V to 1.0 V for target systems simulated in FD-SOI 28-nm technology. A chip, described in details in chapter 8, has been fabricated to validate the proposed cell. The testing of the chip will begin in the next months. Future works will include adapting the proposed architecture for detecting TFs that occur during body biasing, an operation scenario that needs to be studied in more details. Moreover, considering that current sensors have been previously used for detecting hardware Trojans [53], future research will also include evaluating the use of the proposed cell for detecting hardware Trojans.

Chapter 7

An ASIC Design flow adapted for asynchronous systems with multiple BBDs

Manufacturing QDI asynchronous ICs exploiting the energy efficiency gains of ABB presented in chapter 5 is a challenging task. The viability of designing such type of circuits relies on the development of a dedicated standard-cell based IC design flow, since the required steps for achieving the analyzed ABB schemes depend on non-standard design steps. Moreover, the use of standard CAD tools provided by the major EDA vendors is crucial to convince the industry to take advantage of the demonstrated gains of ABB strategies for asynchronous circuits.

This chapter is focused on adapting a standard-cell based IC design flow to exploit the body-biasing features of the FD-SOI technology and the locality of data synchronization of asynchronous circuits to implement ABB systems. All the necessary building blocks for assembling a dedicated flow have already been presented in previous chapters of this thesis. The first one is the architecture of level-shifter based BBG, an issue that has already been addressed in chapter 6. It is a fundamental element for changing transistors $V_{\rm th}$ during circuit operation, especially for small BBDs. Another crucial building block for the implementation of the analyzed ABB schemes is the circuitry that detects activity, signaling the correct moment to switch between low-leakage to high-performance mode ans vice versa, an issue addressed in details in chapter 5. A detailed description of the necessary place-&-route steps for enabling the creation of multiple BBDs is presented in this chapter.

Finally, in order to validate the designed BBG architecture and the proposed design flow, a testchip prototype has been designed, fabricated and tested. The top architecture is composed of multiple IPs implementing the different ABB strategies described in chapter 5. By the end of this chapter the preliminary measurements obtained with the testchip are presented.

7.1 The proposed standard-cell based IC design flow

Fig 7.1 depicts the steps of the proposed standard-cell based IC design flow for exploiting the asynchronous synchronization locality to implement ABB strategies in FD-SOI technology. The red rectangles represent the steps of the proposed design flow that have been modified from or added in an IC standard flow. The asynchronous synthesis step was achieve thanks to the collaboration with our partners Tiempo Secure and STMicroelectronics, which provided the specialized synthesis tool ACC (Asynchronous Circuit Compiler) and the asynchronous standard-cells library necessary for the synthesis of QDI circuits.



Fig. 7.1: Proposed standard-cell based IC design flow implementing multiple BBDs in QDI asynchronous circuits. The red rectangles represent the steps that have been modified from or inserted in a standard IC design flow.

7.1.1 System description, simulation and asynchronous synthesis

The first steps, as in a standard IC design flow, is specifying and modeling the target system in a hardware description language. These steps are represented in Fig. 7.1 by the Specification ellipse and the square right below it. This part of the proposed design flow have been done by our partner Tiempo Secure [124]. The asynchronous system model is written on a Transaction Level Model (TLM), by using the standard IEEE-1800 SystemVerilog language. This format provides a direct compatibility with the standard verification platforms of the main EDA vendors, thus allowing the designers to use any required debug tool to solve the probable design mistakes. The following behavioral simulation, depicted in Fig. 7.1, ensures that the generated SystemVerilog model corresponds to the system specification. It is exactly done as a standard IC design flow, with conventional simulation tools.

Once the hardware description is considered to be functionally correct, it is converted in a gate-level netlist, the step represented by the Asynchronous Synthesis square. However, as the

SystemVerilog code describes an asynchronous circuit, the conventional tools are not qualified for synthesizing it. Such synthesis tools are deeply optimized for the synchronous architectures, but are insufficiently effective for synthesizing QDI asynchronous designs. Therefore, the synthesis step of the proposed design flow is based on a specific synthesis tool called ACC developed by Tiempo Secure. It performs fully-automated synthesis of QDI asynchronous circuits starting from a standard SystemVerilog hardware description [166]. Fig. 7.2 shows ACC main output (the verilog gate-level netlist) and the auxiliary output files (area, timing reports and SDC constraints) that enable its interoperability with commercial CAD tools.



Fig. 7.2: Required inputs of ACC synthesis tool and generated output files. Adapted from [166].

To properly implement the data encoding and communication protocol required by QDI circuits, as described in chapter 3, a library of asynchronous standard-cells is provided to ACC. The input standard design constraint (SDC) file shown in Fig. 7.2 describes not only conventional specifications for the target netlist, but notably constraints for the handshake protocol signals.

7.1.2 Activity detectors insertion

Once the gate-level netlist has been generated, the activity detection circuitry is inserted. This step of the flow is represented in Fig. 7.1 by the "Activity Detection Insertion" rectangle. As explained in chapter 5, changing from high-performance to low-power mode and vice-versa during circuit operations, the basic principle of ABB, requires detecting the target system activity. In QDI asynchronous circuits specifically, the acknowledgment signals are used for this purpose. The choice of activity detectors depends on the implemented strategy, as discussed in chapter 5. Fig. 7.3 depicts how a part of the gate-level netlist is modified to insert an activity detector for implementing a fine-grain ABB strategy. In this case, as discussed in the chapter 5, the activity detector is a simple nand gate, depicted in red in Fig. 7.3. The choice of circuitry to



Fig. 7.3: Inserting an activity detector (NAND gate) for monitoring BBD1. The red gate and nets correspond to the modifications done to the QDI gate-level netlist.

be used as an activity detector depends on the chosen ABB strategy, as described in chapter 5. The output of the activity detector (*ActDetBBD1*) is let floating at this point of the flow as it will be the input of a BBG, which has not yet been inserted into the netlist.

7.1.3 Place & Route strategies

At this point of the flow, the gate-level netlist is ready to be placed and routed.

7.1.3.1 Body biasing domain partitioning

The core area, defined in the initial floorplan, is split into several BBDs according to the specified ABB strategy. At this point of the flow, all the standard-cells that compose the IC gate-level netlist are assigned to a BBD according to the previously defined strategy. Fig. 7.4a shows an example of the partition of a floorplan into five BBDs. The size of each BBD, delimited by the dashed rectangles in Fig. 7.4a, varies with the number of standard-cells composing each BBD. Thus, the area of each BBD depend on the chosen ABB strategy, as explained in chapter 5, and it does not need to be equal to the area of the other BBDs, as shown in Fig. 7.4a and previously in Fig. 5.2. The dashed rectangles in Fig. 7.4a also represent the layer of deep n-well that needs to be added underneath all the standard-cells composing each BBD. This extra layer electrically isolates the p-well and n-well of the standard-cells that compose each BBD (as depicted in Fig. 7.4b), thus guaranteeing the application of different V_{bb} to each BBD.

7.1.3.2 Level shifter based BBG insertion

Once the BBDs have been delimited in the core area, each of them will receive the appropriated level-shifter based BBG. The criteria for choosing the sizing of BBGs to be placed in each BBD is similar to the dimensioning procedure done in chapter 6. In fact, achieving a higher energy efficiency with ABB requires BBGs with low latency, capable of rapidly switching from low-leakage to high-performance mode and vice versa. Additionally, they need to have very low leakage, in order to minimize the power overhead due to inserting extra circuitry. Moreover, the



(b)
1	\overline{v}_{j}

Fig. 7.4: Partition of the core (area surrounded by the GND and VDD rings) into BBDs (a). The required minimum distance between adjacent BBDs is highlighted in a cross section of transistors that belong to different BBDs (b)

BBGs need to properly function at low V_{dd} , the operation region in which minimum energy is reachable. These constraints need to be taken into account by the designers in order to define the optimal BBG for the defined ABB strategy. For instance, if the BBG chosen for a specific BBD is very large, it will have a very small latency, thus quickly switching from high-performance to low-leakage mode and vice versa. However, the drawbacks of this choice are high area and power overheads. On the other hand, considering the same BBD area, a smaller BBG reduce the power and area overheads at the cost of a higher latency, which risks to diminish the energy efficiency gains of implementing an ABB scheme, as shown in chapter 5.

Taking the aforementioned considerations into account, the necessary BBGs for each BBD is selected from the BBG library that has been developed by our research group, shown in Fig. 7.1. The base architecture of each cell has been analyzed in details in chapter 6. In the proposed design flow, multiple BBGs are placed in each BBD to guarantee a better distribution of V_{bb} , as depicted in Fig. 7.5. The *Vdds* and *Gnds* power nets are interconnected within each BBD to uniform the body biasing distribution inside each BBD and to guarantee that switching



Fig. 7.5: Distribution of BBGs in each BBD. The *Vdds* and *Gnds* - outputs of the BBGs - are connected through well taps to the PMOS and NMOS body of transistors belonging to the same BBD respectively. V_{act_n} and V_{act_p} , shown in the zoom, are input power nets common to every BBG, therefore they are the same for all BBDs.

between high-performance and low-leakage modes is done even if one BBG fails.

The BBGs need to be connected to their necessary power input nets. As shown in chapter 6, besides V_{dd} and Gnd, these special cells have two supplementary power nets: V_{act_n} and V_{act_p} . They are created during the initial floorplan as power stripes covering all the core area. Therefore, the placement of every BBG in all BBDs needs to be aligned with the V_{act_n} and V_{act_p} ,

as shown in the zoom of Fig. 7.5. The correct alignment optimizes the metal use consequently reducing the routing effort, since there is less metal wires placed in the core area before the routing begins.

In the FD-SOI technology, the connection with n-well and p-well is done through a standardcell called well taps, shown in the zoom circle of Fig. 7.5. To simplify the connection and minimize the area overhead, the well taps are placed right beside each BBG, as depicted in the referred figure. To finalize this step of the proposed design flow, the output of the activity detectors (*ActDet BBD1* in Fig. 7.3) are connected to the input (boost in Fig. 7.5) of the BBGs of each BBD by using the engineering change order (ECO) commands, available in any place&route tool. The following placing and routing steps are equivalent to the ones of a standard IC design flow, with the only restriction of placing the standard-cells that has been assigned to a specific BBD in the partition step into its rightful place.

7.2 Validating the proposed IC design flow

To validate the proposed design flow, a testchip was designed and fabricated in FD-SOI 28 nm technology in collaboration with Tiempo Secure and STMicroelectronics. In fact, manufacturing a prototype has also allowed validating the proposed BBG architecture described in chapter 6 and evaluating the ABB strategies analyzed in chapter 5.

7.2.1 The testchip

The main architecture, shown in Fig. 7.6, is composed of six IPs (TIEMPO ASYNC 1, TIMA ASYNC 1, TIMA ASYNC coarse, TIMA ASYNC medium, TIMA ASYNC fine, and TIMA SYNC 4) connected to each other through an asynchronous communication network called Asynchronous Link (ASL), represented in green in Fig. 7.6. It is described with more details in the sequel. In order to enable a more standard access interface, similar to what is used in industrial silicon test equipments, an IEEE 1149.3 JTAG interface has been added. Since internally all the IPs are interconnected through the ASL network, the block JTAG2ASL has been added



Fig. 7.6: High-level abstraction of the testchip architecture. The blocks and arrows in green belong to the Asynchronous link (ASL) and the salmon rectangles represent the IPs embedded in the testchip.

to convert the JTAG format to the asynchronous communication protocol implemented by the ASL and vice-versa. A selection input (CFG) allows selecting which protocol will be used to access the IPs: ASL or JTAG.

The analyses carried out in this chapter is focused on the IPs developed in the context of this thesis: TIMA ASYNC coarse, TIMA ASYNC medium, TIMA ASYNC fine. They were designed following the steps described in section 7.1. The other three IPs (TIEMPO ASYNC 1, TIMA ASYNC 1 and TIMA SYNC 4) were developed by partners of the project for their on use and will not be discussed in this work.

7.2.1.1 The interconnection between IPs: the ASL

The ASL is a PVT variation tolerant communication network developed by Tiempo Secure. By using QDI logic, the ASL implements a delay insensitive single bit asynchronous serial protocol, called ASPIC, greatly simplifying the complex timing constraints required by signals crossing physical and voltage domains [123].

A crucial feature of the ASL network is its plug and play characteristics. Independently of the physical position in the die, controlling and accessing each IP is done by simply integrating the ASL_SLAVE block, shown in Fig. 7.6. This is enabled by the following technical reasons: 1) the ASL is asynchronous, so there is no clock distribution issues or clock domain crossing at the chip top level; 2) the ASL is delay insensitive, so there is no timing constraint to be considered during placement of its constituting blocks or routing of its interconnects; 3) the IPs are connected to the ASL through a standard APB interface, grey boxes in Fig. 7.6, which enables the designers to re-use the ASL infrastructure with other IPs that communicate with this widely used interface [123].

7.2.1.2 Testing ABB strategies: the TIMA ASYNC IPs

A high level representation of the TIMA ASYNC IPs is depicted in Fig 7.7. The three blocks represented in the lower part of the figure (LFSR, ABB ALU Chain and Performance Measurement) are the main part of the IPs. The LFSR and ABB ALU Chain are the same circuitry previously described in chapter 5. The LFSR generates pseudo-random inputs to the ALU chain,



Fig. 7.7: Architecture of the TIMA ASYNC IPs.

and the Performance Measurement block, as its name suggests, is an on-chip performance measurement circuitry, added to simplify the post-silicon test procedure. It counts the number of output acknowledgment signals (*ack_out*) generated by the ALU chain in a reference time window, which is defined by the reconfigurable value *num_clks* and the frequency of the reference clock (*Clk* in Fig 7.7).The output measurements are stored in registers, depicted in Fig 7.7, that holds the historic of ten performance measurements.

Both LFSR and Performance Measurement blocks are exactly the same in the three TIMA ASYNC IPs represented in Fig. 7.6. The ABB ALU Chain, however, varies from IP to IP as described in the section 5.3.1 of chapter 5. They have the same chain of five ALUs, which are exactly the same in all the IPs, but each TIMA ASYNC IP implements a different ABB strategy: in TIMA ASYNC coarse the ABB ALU Chain has a coarse-grain ABB strategy, in which all the ALUs belong to the same BBD (as shown in Fig 5.2b); in TIMA ASYNC fine it has a fine-grain strategy, with 1 BBD per pipeline stage of each ALU, summing a total of 15 BBDs (the strategy depicted in Fig 5.2a); and in TIMA ASYNC medium it has a medium-grain ABB strategy, in which each ALU of the chain belongs to a separate BBD, summing a total of 5 BBDs (the strategy shown in Fig. 5.2c).

In order to interface the main part of the TIMA ASYNC IPs with the ASL network, a synchronous finite state machine (FSM_APB_2_IP in Fig 7.7) has been added to the IPs. It controls the start/stop of the LFSR according to the predefined measurement time window; configures the Performance Measurement block; and manage the read and write operations of the registers. Three operation modes have been configured to enable the measurement of performance and power consumption. The first one is the idle mode. As its name suggest, in this mode of operation the IPs do not perform any calculation. This mode is crucial for avoiding interference of one IP over the others, especially when measuring power consumption. Whenever the testchip is reset, all the IPs are set to idle mode until the FSM of each IP receives a command from the APB interface. As soon as an IP goes out of the two other operation modes, it is immediately set back to idle.

The second operation mode, called "single measurement mode", is used for producing a single performance measurement, which is then stored in the registers block. In this operation mode, the ALU Chain processes the inputs generated by the LFSR during the pre-configured measurement time window. In other words, the performance measurement block counts the number of *ack_out* cycles generated before reaching *num_clks* reference *Clk* cycles, which is indicated by the valid signal. The number of *ack_outs* is then stored in the registers block as one performance measurement.

The other operation mode that has been designed is called "continuous operation" and is used for measuring the average power consumption of each IP. In this operation mode, the ALU Chain processes the inputs generated by the LFSR continuously, independently of the pre-configured measurement time window. In order to avoid the interference of other IPs, this mode has to be set to only one TIMA ASYNC IP at a time. Therefore, considering that the target IP is the only one functioning while it is in continuous operation mode, its average power consumption is measured directly from the testchip power supply pads (VDD and GND in Fig. 7.6). In this operation mode, the valid signal stays low and no measurement is stored in the registers. The FSM only goes back to idle mode if it detects an edge (positive or negative) of the *init* signal.

7.3 Circuit testing and preliminary results

The designed layout of the testchip is shown in Fig. 7.8. The fabricated die size is approximately 1.5 mm². Table 7.1 shows the number of BBGs and the area overhead required to implement the three ABB strategies in the TIMA ASYNC IPs. The Reference IP in table 7.1 was added as a base for comparing the extra area requirements of each IP. In fact, the Reference IP has not been added to the testchip. It is an hypothetical circuit exactly equal to the other TIMA ASYNC IPs in terms of datapath, but with no ABB strategy implemented. Therefore there is no BBG, nor activity detection circuitry added, thus the area required for placing it is smaller. Moreover, no minimum space between BBDs is considered since there are no BBDs in this reference circuit.



Fig. 7.8: Testchip top layout.

Table 7.1: Area overhead and number of BBGs required to implement coarse, medium and fine grain ABB strategies.

IP name	ABB	number of BBGs per BBD		Total number	Area Overhead
	strategy	BBDs	(min - max)	of BBGs	(%)
TIMA ASYNC coarse	coarse	1	24-24	24	37.64
TIMA ASYNC medium	medium	5	6-6	30	59.55
TIMA ASYNC fine	fine	15	1-3	30	86.32
Reference	none	0	0-0	0	0.00

As the number of BBDs increase, more empty spaces need to be added to the final IP area to avoid violations of the minimal space between BBDs. The result is a considerable increase in the area overhead comparing to the Reference IP. For instance, increasing the number of BBD



Fig. 7.9: Printed circuit board developed to simplify the testing of the testchip. It is connected to the ST32 Nucleo (white board on the left). A zoom into the socket shows the back face of the testchip and the dimensions of the packaging.

from 5 to 15 increases the total area overhead in 26.77% (difference between area overheads of TIMA ASYNC medium and fine), as depicted in table 7.1.

In order to simplify the test of the prototype, a printed circuits board (green board in Fig. 7.9) has been designed. It integrates all necessary resources to run the validation routines: power supplies connectors, potentiometers to vary the voltage supplied to the testchip, switches to drive the input ports, pins or LEDs to monitor the output ports, and a socket to place the testchip. Moreover, a ST32 Nucleo (white board in Fig. 7.9) has been added to the testing environment to allow a quick creation of test routines implementing the ASPIC communication protocol and/or the JTAG standard.

7.3.1 Accessing the TIMA ASYNC IPs

Before testing the designed IPs themselves, it is necessary to certify that they are being accessed correctly through the ASL interface. Therefore, write and read operations to the registers of each TIMA ASYNC IP has been executed in the first test campaign. The result of this test is



(b)

Fig. 7.10: Oscilloscope waveform of dual-rail encoded tx and rx channels of the ASL interface (a). The meaning of each byte necessary for composing a write operation is presented in (b). The numbers in red are the hexadecimal representation of each dual-rail byte.

shown by the oscilloscope waveforms of the ASL tx and rx channels in Fig. 7.10a. It shows two dual-rail encoded signals: the dark blue and light blue waveforms are the signals tx_0 and tx_1 , respectively, which represent the serial input channel of the ASL interface. The pink and green waveforms are the signals rx_0 and rx_1 , that represent the serial output channel of the ASL interface. At first, 7 bytes are sent through the tx channel respecting a 4-phase dual rail protocol. To simplify the understanding of the obtained waveform, a table describing the information carried by each byte is shown in Fig. 7.10b. Therefore, interpreting the hexadecimal numbers of Fig. 7.10a, the presented waveform corresponds to a write operation (F8) to the register 0 of the TIMA ASYNC coarse IP, which received the ID 03 in the top architecture. Four bytes have been written to this address: 80, 00, 00, and 08. The target IP then responds through the rx channel with a zero byte, indicating that no error occurred during the write operation, thus DATA has been successfully stored in the TIMA ASYNC coarse IP. An explanation with further details of the ASPIC protocol is done in [123].

Correctly writing into the registers of each IP is crucial since it allows selecting the operation mode of each IP. For instance in the aforementioned writing test, the payload written to the

configuration register (address 0) of the target IP configures the TIMA ASYNC coarse IP to operate in single measurement mode for a time window of 8 reference *Clk* cycles. The writing test shown in Fig. 7.10 has been repeated for IPs TIMA ASYNC medium and fine, followed by a read operation of the same register address of each IP. Executing a read operation through the ASL interface also allows verifying if the written value has been correctly stored in the specified register. It is similar to the write operation, the only differences being: 1) After sending the ID byte, followed by CMD and ADDR, no DATA bytes are send through the tx channel; 2) the target IP responds through the rx channel with the STAT byte, followed by four DATA bytes that corresponds to the value stored in the requested register.

At the end of this preliminary write/read test campaign, no read nor write operation problems were detected, thus all the TIMA ASYNC IPs were considered fully accessible.

7.3.2 Testing the TIMA ASYNC IPs: evaluating ABB strategies

Assessing the effectiveness of ABB strategies requires measuring both performance and power consumption. To measure performance, the IPs need to be configured to single measurement mode, as described in section 7.2.1.2. This is done by writing the value 0x80000008 to the configuration register (ADDR 0). After the defined measurement time window, the performance result is stored in the IP output register (ADDR 1). A subsequent reading of the register ADDR 1 allows obtaining the measured performance. This procedure was repeated for all the TIMA ASYNC IPs operating at $V_{dd} = 0.6$ V and activity ratio of 1. The obtained results are depicted in table 7.2.

The activity ratio is a parameter that represents the proportion between active interval (Δt_{BB}) and the following idle period (Δt_{noBB}), previously used in the analysis of chapter 5. The values stored in the output registers of the three TIMA ASYNC IPs are shown in the Perf. measurement column. These values were obtained with a reference clock of 14.27 MHz (directly available in the Nucleo board) and a *num_clks* of 8. This means that, in a time window of 560.62 ns (8 * T_{Clk}), the ALU chain of IP TIMA ASYNC coarse has successfully generated 55 outputs when operating at $V_{dd} = 0.6$ V and $V_{bb} = 0$ V. Knowing the frequency of *Clk* and the performance measurement value read from the registers of each IP, the average frequency of operation is easily calculated. Table 7.2 also shows the results of simulation obtained at the same operation conditions: $V_{dd} = 0.6$ V and activity ratio of 1.

The obtained simulation values are coherent with the testchip measurements. In both cases the TIMA ASYNC coarse IP has the highest average frequency, a result explained by the lower latency in the body biasing activation of each BBD in this ABB strategy. As demonstrated by the simulation experiments of chapter 5, in a coarse-grain ABB strategy, all the system

Table	7.2:	Testchip	results	of	performance	measurement	compared	with	simulation	at	a
$V_{\rm dd} =$	0.6 V	and activi	ty ratio	of 1	l.						

IP name	Vbb	Perf. measurement	Measured average	Simulated average	
	(V)	(# of ack_outs)	frequency (MHz)	frequency (MHz)	
	0.0	55	98.10	134.97	
TIMA ASYNC coarse	1.0	93	165.88	227.34	
	0.0	54	96.30	125.87	
TIMA ASYNC medium	1.0	90	160.53	218.95	
	0.0	50	89.18	118.33	
TIMA ASYNC fine	1.0	84	149.82	215.21	

pipeline stages are switched to high performance mode as soon as the first input arrives at the first stage, and the whole system only changes back to low leakage mode once the pipeline is completely empty. Since the complete system stays in high performance mode for a longer time, coarse-grain ABB strategy has slightly better performance. Analyzing the impact of the ABB, applying $V_{bb} = 1$ V in the testchip causes a performance boost of approximately 69% in the TIMA ASYNC coarse IP compared to applying a $V_{bb} = 0$ V. Additionally, there are performance reductions between 26% and 30% in the testchip obtained results if compared to their corresponding simulation values. An inadvertent reset issue on the FSM design of the testchip impedes the variation of the activity ratio. Thus, the results shown in table 7.2 corresponds to an activity scenario in which a coarse ABB strategy is favorable.

Table 7.3 shows the measured average power consumption of each IP compared to the simulation results considering the same operation conditions: $V_{dd} = 0.6$ V and activity ratio of 1. As described in section 7.2.1.2, in order to obtain such results, each IP is configured to operate in continuous mode, which forces the activity in the ALU chain to be constant, a scenario suitable to perform power consumption measurements on the testchip. This is done by writing the value 0xC0000008 to the register ADDR 0. Before each measurement, the testchip is reseted to guarantee that all the other IPs enter in idle mode. The average power consumption of each IP is then measured from the voltage source that provides V_{dd} to the testchip core by using a hall-effect probe.

IP name	Vbb	Measured power	Simulated power
	(V)	consumption (mW)	consumption (mW)
	0.0	1.30	1.08
TIMA ASYNC coarse	1.0	2.00	2.08
	0.0	0.90	1.05
TIMA ASYNC medium	1.0	2.00	2.02
	0.0	1.20	0.70
TIMA ASYNC fine	1.0	2.10	2.11

Table 7.3: Testchip results of average power consumption compared with simulation at a $V_{dd} = 0.6$ V and activity ratio of 1.

At such a high activity ratio, the average power consumption of fine, medium and coarse grain ABB strategies are very similar. In fact, is has been demonstrated in chapter 5 that a high activity ratio is a favorable case for implementing coarse-grain ABB strategies, an affirmation consistent with the obtained testchip measurements. At a $V_{bb} = 1$ V, the TIMA ASYNC coarse IP consumes approximately 5% less power than the TIMA ASYNC fine IP. The obtained simulation results follow the same tendency.

Although the inadvertent reset issue on the testchip FSM impedes a proper control of the activity ratio, the similarity between simulation results and testchip measurements - shown in tables 7.2 and 7.3 - demonstrates the consistence of the obtained measured values and consequently validates the implemented IP architectures. Therefore, the testchip behavior at lower activity ratios is also expected to be similar to the simulation results, shown in chapter 5.

Finally, more experiments still need to be performed at $V_{dd} = 1.0$ V. At this operation condition, the obtained performance measurements of the TIMA ASYNC medium IP is approximately two times higher than the results obtained with the TIMA ASYNC coarse IP, even with $V_{bb} = 0$ V, a scenario in which the performances of all IPs should be very similar. The causes for this unexpected behavior need to be further investigated. Some possible reasons are: the

activity detection circuitry is not responding fast enough; or the level shifter based BBGs are not properly functioning at $V_{dd} = 1.0$ V. Nevertheless, further tests and investigation need to be done with the testchip operating at $V_{dd} = 1.0$ V before driving concrete conclusions.

7.4 Conclusion

In this chapter, a standard-cell based IC design flow has been proposed. It has been designed to exploit the body-biasing features of the FD-SOI technology and the locality of data synchronization of asynchronous circuits to implement more energy efficient ABB systems, from the initial specification until the final layout. The proposed flow integrates the level shifter based BBG architecture presented in chapter 6 to build asynchronous systems with multiple BBDs. The proposed IC flow has been afterwards validated with the design and fabrication of a testchip in FD-SOI 28 nm technology. The preliminary results obtained with the measurements of the testchip have demonstrated the efficacy of the BBG architecture; the advantages of implementing ABB strategies, especially if operating at low V_{dd} ; and, finally, have validated the proposed standard-cell based IC design flow. Further tests on the testchip operating on nominal V_{dd} are still required to complete the study showing the efficacy of the BBGs and the advantages of using ABB strategies in asynchronous circuits.

Chapter 8

Conclusions and Perspectives

Keeping the fast evolving pace of electronic portable devices require reducing power consumption without compromising the circuit performance or robustness. QDI asynchronous circuits have demonstrated to be an excellent solution to accomplish the high energy efficiency required in the IoT era. Their local synchronization makes them the perfect fit for fully exploiting dynamic power management techniques, such as ABB, in an advanced technology such as the FD-SOI. The circuit activity is directly detected by using the already existing handshake signals, enabling the application of different ABB strategies with almost no modification to the original QDI asynchronous architecture. Additionally, the timing properties of QDI circuits are very well-suited for changing transistors $V_{\rm th}$ on-the-fly, a requirement for applying ABB schemes.

We detailed in this thesis all the necessary steps for understanding a complete design from specification to final layout - of QDI asynchronous circuits, fully exploiting body biasing features of FD-SOI technologies by implementing ABB schemes with multiple BBDs. The chapter 2 presents the fundamentals of UTBB FD-SOI technology, one of the candidates to enable the scale down in the deep sub-micron era. It has been compared to the conventional bulk, showing the main manufacturing innovations that make FD-SOI technologies an interesting alternative for nodes beyond 32 nm. The benefits of body biasing and its extended voltage range is emphasized in this chapter since it is the FD-SOI key factor used in this thesis, opening new perspectives for performance boosting and static power reduction.

Another crucial element for fully understanding the contributions of this thesis is the concept of asynchronous circuits, presented in chapter 3. In these circuits, a local communication protocol synchronizes data transfers between blocks instead of a global clock signal. The advantages of asynchronous circuits compared to their synchronous counterpart is highlighted, illustrating the facility to include power management techniques in order to achieve higher robustness and energy efficiency.

Chapter 4 compares a QDI asynchronous 8-bit ALU architecture with a synchronous counterpart, both designed in FD-SOI 28 nm technology. The behavior of these circuits at very low operation voltages was analyzed, showing that the asynchronous approach intrinsically made the designed ALU more energy efficient than its synchronous counterpart. This study also demonstrated that the QDI ALU has its minimum energy point at a lower V_{dd} and it is intrinsically more robust to power and voltage variations and thus more suitable for applications requiring high reliability and security. Results show the QDI asynchronous ALU capacity of operating in a wide V_{dd} range with no need for extra circuitry, unlike its synchronous counterpart.

In the sequel, chapter 5 analyzes the energy efficiency and performance gains of three dif-

ferent adaptive body biasing strategies on asynchronous circuits. This study investigates the optimum granularity for applying ABB with different BBD configurations in QDI asynchronous circuits. Results show that ABB strategies allow maintaining the performance gains featured by body biasing while reducing the power consumption increase by approximately 35%. Therefore, lower energy per operation is achieved by applying ABB strategies, especially if the target system is partitioned into small BBDs (the fine-grain strategy). Moreover, a methodology is presented to analyze the energy efficiency of ABB strategies, which allows delimiting the activity ratios in which implementing each strategy is feasible.

In chapter 6, we devise a novel body built-in cell for enabling the application of ABB strategies. The performed experiments show that the proposed cell is capable of function as a BBG, efficiently applying ABB schemes with a wide biasing range. The cell has a very stable operation for input signal voltage variations between 0.4 V and 1.0 V when simulated with target systems in FD-SOI 28-nm technology. Additionally, it is capable of detecting short-duration (20 ps fall time) and long-duration (700 ps fall time) transient faults caused by radiation exposure or environmental perturbations, even under temperature and process variation, improving the system resilience against environmental effects. The proposed cell is an essential building block for the successful implementation of ABB strategies in asynchronous circuits.

Finally, chapter 7 proposes a standard-cell based IC design flow, necessary for designing QDI asynchronous systems including ABB schemes with multiple BBDs. It exploits the body-biasing features of FD-SOI technologies and the locality of data synchronization of asynchronous circuits to generate more energy efficient ABB systems, from the initial specification until the final layout. The proposed flow merges the contributions explored in chapters 5 and 6. Moreover, a testchip has been designed and fabricated in FD-SOI 28 nm technology in order to validate the IC flow and body built-in cell. The preliminary results obtained with the measurements of the testchip demonstrate the efficacy of the BBG cells, and the advantages of applying ABB strategies in QDI asynchronous circuits, especially if operating at low V_{dd} .

Having the automated IC design flow (chapter 7); the level-shifter based BBG (chapter 6); and the knowledge of how to include ABB strategies in QDI asynchronous circuits (chapter 5), IC designers have all the necessary tools to build more energy efficient systems in FD-SOI technologies.

In order to further optimize the obtained results, additional experiments and optimizations are still required:

- 1. In a near future, the BBG effectiveness and the advantages of using ABB strategies in asynchronous circuits will be completely validated by performing more experiments with the testchip at nominal V_{dd} , since further investigations are still needed at this operation point. Moreover, one of the IPs of the testchip (TIMA ASYNC 3) has not yet been assessed. We have inserted in this IP a circuitry to detect TFs occurring in a QDI asynchronous ALU chain with an ABB strategy. Evaluating the behavior of this IP under radiation exposure allows better understanding the impact of TFs to the system output and how ABB strategies influence the robustness of QDI asynchronous circuits, a topic not yet deeply investigated in the literature.
- 2. Optimizing the architecture of the level-shifter based BBG (proposed in chapter 6) allows further improving the energy and performance results presented in chapter 5. Reducing the BBGs latency enables a faster response to the activity detection, thus speeding-up the transition between high-performance to low-leakage mode and vice-versa. As a result:

- The energy savings during pipeline loading and unloading would considerably increase, especially with operations at low V_{dd} .
- The performance difference between fine-grain and coarse-grain ABB strategies (detailed in chapter 5 and observed in table 7.2), would be considerably reduced.
- 3. ABB strategies would be more energy efficient by setting BBDs with high activity to a fixed V_{bb} , independently of circuit activity. In fact, it has been demonstrated in chapter 5 the existence of an activity ratio above which implementing ABB strategies is not profitable. Identifying BBDs in which the activity is higher than this threshold allows:
 - Avoiding unnecessary energy consumption overheads necessary for implementing an ABB strategy (described in details in section 5.2);
 - Simplifying the final system layout by removing the design flow steps of activity detectors and BBG insertion for the selected BBDs.

Future works will also include adapting the proposed body-built in cell for detecting TFs that occur during body biasing, an operation scenario that needs to be studied in more details. Furthermore, considering that current sensors have been previously used for detecting hardware Trojans [53], future research will also include evaluating the use of the proposed cell for detecting hardware Trojans.

Considering the projections of exponential growth of the number of IoT devices and the consequent expectation of insufficient power to supply all the electronic devices [8, 132], it is crucial to find alternative solutions to overcome these issues. The results and conclusions of this thesis highlight the benefits of aligning asynchronous circuits with the ABB strategies for FD-SOI technologies, a very promising solution to build the next generation of high energy efficient systems of the deep sub-micron era.

Bibliography of Author's Publications

- [1] T. F. de Paiva Leite, R. P. Bastos, R. I. Jadue, and L. Fesquet. Comparison of low-voltage scaling in synchronous and asynchronous fd-soi circuits. In 2016 26th International Workshop on Power and Timing Modeling, Optimization and Simulation (PATMOS), pages 229– 234, Sept 2016. doi: 10.1109/PATMOS.2016.7833692.
- [2] Thiago Ferreira de Paiva Leite, Rodrigo Possamai Bastos, and Laurent Fesquet. Qdi asynchronous circuits for low power applications: a comparative study in technology fd-soi 28 nm. In 19èmes Journées Nationales du Réseau Doctoral en Micro-nanoélectronique (JN-RDM), 2016.
- [3] Thiago Ferreira de Paiva Leite, Laurent Fesquet, and Rodrigo Possamai Bastos. A body built-in cell for detecting transient faults and dynamically biasing subcircuits of integrated systems. *Microelectronics Reliability Journal*, 88-90, 09 2018. doi: 10.1016/j.microrel.2018.07.069.
- [4] Thiago Ferreira de Paiva Leite, Rodrigo Iga Jadue, Laurent Fesquet, and Rodrigo Possamai Bastos. Assessing adaptive body biasing strategies i asynchronous circuits. *Microprocessors and Microsystems Journal*, 2018 (*Submited*).
- [5] L. A. Guimarães, T. F. de Paiva Leite, R. P. Bastos, and L. Fesquet. Non-intrusive testing technique for detection of trojans in asynchronous circuits. In 2018 Design, Automation Test in Europe Conference Exhibition (DATE), pages 1516–1519, March 2018. doi: 10.23919/DATE.2018.8342255.
- [6] L. A. Guimarães, R. Possamai Bastos, T. F. de Paiva Leite, and L. Fesquet. Simple tri-state logic Trojans able to upset properties of ring oscillators. In 2016 International Conference on Design and Technology of Integrated Systems in Nanoscale Era (DTIS), pages 1–6, April 2016. doi: 10.1109/DTIS.2016.7483811.
- [7] A. R. I. Jadue, R. P. Bastos, T. F. de Paiva Leite, O. A. Rolloff, M. Diallo, and L. Fesquet. Level Shifter Architecture for Dynamically Biasing Ultra-Low Voltage Subcircuits of Integrated Systems. In 2018 IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (ISCAS), pages 1–5, May 2018. doi: 10.1109/ISCAS.2018.8351677.

References

- [8] A Guide to the Internet of Things Infographic.
- [9] AKGUL, Y., PUSCHINI, D., LESECQ, S., BEIGNÉ, E., MIRO-PANADES, I., BENOIT, P., AND TORRES, L. Power management through DVFS and dynamic body biasing in FD-SOI circuits. In 2014 51st ACM/EDAC/IEEE Design Automation Conference (DAC) (June 2014), pp. 1–6.
- [10] ALLEN, D. H., AIPPERSPACH, A. G., COX, D. T., PHAN, N. V., AND STORINO, S. N. A 0.2 /spl mu/m 1.8 V SOI 550 MHz 64 b PowerPC microprocesser with copper interconnects. In 1999 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference. Digest of Technical Papers. ISSCC. First Edition (Cat. No.99CH36278) (Feb. 1999), pp. 438–439.
- [11] ARNAUD, F., THEAN, A., ELLER, M., LIPINSKI, M., TEH, Y. W., OSTERMAYR, M., KANG, K., KIM, N. S., OHUCHI, K., HAN, J., NAIR, D. R., LIAN, J., UCHIMURA, S., KOHLER, S., MIYAKI, S., FERREIRA, P., PARK, J., HAMAGUCHI, M., MIYASHITA, K., AUGUR, R., ZHANG, Q., STRAHRENBERG, K., ELGHOULI, S., BONNOUVRIER, J., MATSUOKA, F., LINDSAY, R., SUDIJONO, J., JOHNSON, F. S., KU, J. H., SEKINE, M., STEEGEN, A., AND SAMPSON, R. Competitive and cost effective high-k based 28nm CMOS technology for low power applications. In 2009 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM) (Dec. 2009), pp. 1–4.
- [12] ASENOV, A. Simulation of Statistical Variability in Nano MOSFETs. In 2007 IEEE Symposium on VLSI Technology (June 2007), pp. 86–87.
- [13] BACCARANI, G., WORDEMAN, M. R., AND DENNARD, R. H. Generalized scaling theory and its application to a 1/4 micrometer MOSFET design. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 31*, 4 (Apr. 1984), 452–462.
- [14] BAI, P., AUTH, C., BALAKRISHNAN, S., BOST, M., BRAIN, R., CHIKARMANE, V., HEUSSNER, R., HUSSEIN, M., HWANG, J., INGERLY, D., JAMES, R., JEONG, J., KENYON, C., LEE, E., LEE, S., LINDERT, N., LIU, M., MA, Z., MARIEB, T., MURTHY, A., NAGISETTY, R., NATARAJAN, S., NEIRYNCK, J., OTT, A., PARKER, C., SEBASTIAN, J., SHAHEED, R., SIVAKUMAR, S., STEIGERWALD, J., TYAGI, S., WEBER, C., WOOLERY, B., YEOH, A., ZHANG, K., AND BOHR, M. A 65nm logic technology featuring 35nm gate lengths, enhanced channel strain, 8 Cu interconnect layers, low-k ILD and 0.57 /spl mu/m/sup 2/ SRAM cell. In *IEDM Technical Digest. IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting, 2004.* (Dec. 2004), pp. 657–660.
- [15] BEEREL, P. A., OZDAG, R. O., AND FERRETTI, M. A Designer's Guide to Asynchronous VLSI. Cambridge University Press, Feb. 2010.

- [16] BEIGNE, E., VALENTIAN, A., GIRAUD, B., THOMAS, O., BENOIST, T., THON-NART, Y., BERNARD, S., MORITZ, G., BILLOINT, O., MANEGLIA, Y., FLATRESSE, P., NOEL, J. P., ABOUZEID, F., PELLOUX-PRAYER, B., GROVER, A., CLERC, S., ROCHE, P., COZ, J. L., ENGELS, S., AND WILSON, R. Ultra-Wide Voltage Range designs in Fully-Depleted Silicon-On-Insulator FETs. In 2013 Design, Automation Test in Europe Conference Exhibition (DATE) (Mar. 2013), pp. 613–618.
- [17] BEN-AKKEZ, I., FENOUILLET-BERANGER, C., CROS, A., BALESTRA, F., AND GHIBAUDO, G. Impact of back biasing on the effective mobility in UTBB FDSOI CMOS technology. In Semiconductor Conference Dresden-Grenoble (ISCDG), 2013 International (Sept 2013), pp. 1–3.
- [18] BERKEL, K. V., BURGESS, R., KESSELS, J., PEETERS, A., RONCKEN, M., SCHALIJ, F., AND WIEL, R. V. D. A single-rail re-implementation of a DCC error detector using a generic standard-cell library. In *Proceedings Second Working Conference on Asynchronous Design Methodologies* (May 1995), pp. 72–79.
- [19] BERKEL, K. V., BURGESS, R., KESSELS, J., RONCKEN, M., SCHALIJ, F., AND PEETERS, A. Asynchronous circuits for low power: a DCC error corrector. *IEEE Design Test of Computers 11*, 2 (1994), 22–32.
- [20] BERNSTEIN, K., AND ROHRER, N. J. SOI Circuit Design Concepts. Springer Science & Business Media, Sept. 2007. Google-Books-ID: sgMYvtQ2GqcC.
- [21] BLAGOJEVIC, M., ET AL. A fast, flexible, positive and negative adaptive body-bias generator in 28nm fdsoi. In *IEEE Symposium on VLSI Circuits (VLSI-Circuits)* (2016).
- [22] CAI, J., REN, Z., MAJUMDAR, A., NING, T. H., YIN, H., PARK, D., AND HAENSCH, W. E. Will SOI have a life for the low-power market? In 2008 IEEE International SOI Conference (Oct. 2008), pp. 15–16.
- [23] CAO, Y., YE, W., ZHAO, X., AND DENG, P. An energy-efficient subthreshold level shifter with a wide input voltage range. In 2016 IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (ISCAS) (May 2016), pp. 726–729.
- [24] CHANG, I. J., KIM, J. J., KIM, K., AND ROY, K. Robust Level Converter for Sub-Threshold/Super-Threshold Operation:100 mV to 2.5 V. *IEEE Transactions on Very Large Scale Integration (VLSI) Systems 19*, 8 (Aug. 2011), 1429–1437.
- [25] CHANG, K.-L., CHANG, J., GWEE, B.-H., AND CHONG, K.-S. Synchronous-logic and asynchronous-logic 8051 microcontroller cores for realizing the Internet of Things: A comparative study on dynamic voltage scaling and variation effects. *IEEE Journal on Emerging and Selected Topics in Circuits and Systems 3*, 1 (2013), 23–34.
- [26] CHANG, W., SHIH, C., WU, J., LIN, S., CIN, L., AND YEH, W. Back-Biasing to Performance and Reliability Evaluation of UTBB FDSOI, Bulk FinFETs, and SOI FinFETs. *IEEE Transactions on Nanotechnology 17*, 1 (Jan. 2018), 36–40.
- [27] CHEN, T.-H., CHEN, J., AND CLARK, L. T. Subthreshold to Above Threshold Level Shifter Design. *Journal of Low Power Electronics* 2, 2 (Aug. 2006), 251–258.

- [28] CHENG, K., KHAKIFIROOZ, A., KULKARNI, P., KANAKASABAPATHY, S., SCHMITZ, S., REZNICEK, A., ADAM, T., ZHU, Y., LI, J., FALTERMEIER, J., FURUKAWA, T., EDGE, L. F., HARAN, B., SEO, S., JAMISON, P., HOLT, J., LI, X., LOESING, R., ZHU, Z., JOHNSON, R., UPHAM, A., LEVIN, T., SMALLEY, M., HERMAN, J., DI, M., WANG, J., SADANA, D., KOZLOWSKI, P., BU, H., DORIS, B., AND O'NEILL, J. Fully depleted extremely thin SOI technology fabricated by a novel integration scheme featuring implant-free, zero-silicon-loss, and faceted raised source/drain. In 2009 Symposium on VLSI Technology (June 2006), pp. 212–213.
- [29] CHENG, K., KHAKIFIROOZ, A., KULKARNI, P., PONOTH, S., KUSS, J., SHAHRJERDI, D., EDGE, L. F., KIMBALL, A., KANAKASABAPATHY, S., XIU, K., SCHMITZ, S., REZNICEK, A., ADAM, T., HE, H., LOUBET, N., HOLMES, S., MEHTA, S., YANG, D., UPHAM, A., SEO, S., HERMAN, J. L., JOHNSON, R., ZHU, Y., JAMISON, P., HARAN, B. S., ZHU, Z., VANAMURTH, L. H., FAN, S., HORAK, D., BU, H., OLDIGES, P. J., SADANA, D. K., KOZLOWSKI, P., MCHERRON, D., O'NEILL, J., AND DORIS, B. Extremely thin SOI (ETSOI) CMOS with record low variability for low power system-on-chip applications. In 2009 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM) (Dec. 2009), pp. 1–4.
- [30] CLARK, W. A. Macromodular Computer Systems. In Proceedings of the April 18-20, 1967, Spring Joint Computer Conference (New York, NY, USA, 1967), AFIPS '67 (Spring), ACM, pp. 335–336.
- [31] COCHET, M., ET AL. Experimental model of adaptive body biasing for energy efficiency in 28nm utbb fd-soi. In 2014 SOI-3D-Subthreshold Microelectronics Technology Unified Conference (S3S) (Oct 2014), pp. 1–2.
- [32] COLINGE, J. Thin-film SOI technology: the solution to many submicron CMOS problems. In *International Technical Digest on Electron Devices Meeting* (Dec. 1989), pp. 817–820.
- [33] COLINGE, J. Recent advances in SOI technology. In *Proceedings of 1994 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting* (Dec. 1994), pp. 817–820.
- [34] COLINGE, J.-P. *Silicon-on-Insulator Technology: Materials to VLSI: Materials to Vlsi.* Springer Science & Business Media, Feb. 2004. Google-Books-ID: RROWinYaN14C.
- [35] COLINGE, JEAN-PIERRE AND OTHERS. *FinFETs and other multi-gate transistors*, vol. 73. Springer, Boston, MA.
- [36] CORSONELLO, P., FRUSTACI, F., AND PERRI, S. A layout strategy for low-power voltage level shifters in 28nm UTBB FDSOI technology. In 2015 AEIT International Annual Conference (AEIT) (Oct. 2015), pp. 1–5.
- [37] CUMMINGS, U. V., LINES, A. M., AND MARTIN, A. J. An asynchronous pipelined lattice structure filter. In *Proceedings of 1994 IEEE Symposium on Advanced Research in Asynchronous Circuits and Systems* (Nov. 1994), pp. 126–133.
- [38] DAMARAJU, S., GEORGE, V., JAHAGIRDAR, S., KHONDKER, T., MILSTREY, R., SARKAR, S., SIERS, S., STOLERO, I., AND SUBBIAH, A. A 22nm IA multi-CPU

and GPU System-on-Chip. In 2012 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference (Feb. 2012), pp. 56–57.

- [39] DE OLIVEIRA ROCHA, R., SILL TORRES, F., AND BASTOS, R. P. Towards highsensitive built-in current sensors enabling detection of radiation-induced soft errors. *Microelectronics Reliability* 78 (Nov. 2017), 190–196.
- [40] DE STREEL, G., ET AL. Impact of back gate biasing schemes on energy and robustness of ULV logic in 28nm UTBB FDSOI technology. In *IEEE International Symposium on Low Power Electronics and Design (ISLPED)* (Sept 2013), pp. 255–260.
- [41] DENNARD, R. H., GAENSSLEN, F. H., YU, H.-N., RIDEOUT, V. L., BASSOUS, E., AND LEBLANC, A. R. Design Of Ion-implanted MOSFET's with Very Small Physical Dimensions. *Proceedings of the IEEE 87*, 4 (Apr. 1999), 668–678.
- [42] DODD, P. E., SHANEYFELT, M. R., FELIX, J. A., AND SCHWANK, J. R. Production and propagation of single-event transients in high-speed digital logic ICs. *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science 51*, 6 (Dec. 2004), 3278–3284.
- [43] DORIS, B., IEONG, M., KANARSKY, T., ZHANG, Y., ROY, R. A., DOKUMACI, O., REN, Z., JAMIN, F.-F., SHI, L., NATZLE, W., HUANG, H.-J., MEZZAPELLE, J., MO-CUTA, A., WOMACK, S., GRIBELYUK, M., JONES, E. C., MILLER, R. J., WONG, H.-P., AND HAENSCH, W. Extreme scaling with ultra-thin Si channel MOSFETs. In *Digest. International Electron Devices Meeting*, (Dec. 2002), pp. 267–270.
- [44] DUC, A. V. D. *Synthèse automatique de circuits asynchrones QDI*. phdthesis, Institut National Polytechnique de Grenoble INPG, Mar. 2003.
- [45] ERNST, T., AND CRISTOLOVEANU, S. Buried oxide fringing capacitance: a new physical model and its implication on SOI device scaling and architecture. In *1999 IEEE International SOI Conference. Proceedings (Cat. No.99CH36345)* (Oct. 1999), pp. 38– 39.
- [46] FENOUILLET-BERANGER, C., THOMAS, O., PERREAU, P., NOEL, J., BAJOLET, A., HAENDLER, S., TOSTI, L., BARNOLA, S., BENEYTON, R., PERROT, C., BUT-TET, C. D., ABBATE, F., BARON, F., PERNET, B., CAMPIDELLI, Y., PINZELLI, L., GOURAUD, P., CASSÉ, M., BOROWIAK, C., WEBER, O., ANDRIEU, F., DENORME, S., BOEUF, F., FAYNOT, O., SKOTNICKI, T., BOURDELLE, K. K., NGUYEN, B. Y., BOEDT, F., DENORME, S., BOEUF, F., FAYNOT, O., AND SKOTNICKI, T. Efficient multi-VTFDSOI technology with UTBOX for low power circuit design. In 2010 Symposium on VLSI Technology (June 2010), pp. 65–66.
- [47] FERLET-CAVROIS, V., PAILLET, P., GAILLARDIN, M., LAMBERT, D., BAGGIO, J., SCHWANK, J. R., VIZKELETHY, G., SHANEYFELT, M. R., HIROSE, K., BLACK-MORE, E. W., FAYNOT, O., JAHAN, C., AND TOSTI, L. Statistical Analysis of the Charge Collected in SOI and Bulk Devices Under Heavy Ion and Proton Irradiation mdash;Implications for Digital SETs. *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science 53*, 6 (Dec. 2006), 3242–3252.

- [48] FERRETTI, M., AND BEEREL, P. A. Single-track asynchronous pipeline templates using 1-of-N encoding. In Automation and Test in Europe Conference and Exhibition Proceedings 2002 Design (Mar. 2002), pp. 1008–1015.
- [49] FIROUZI, F., YAZDANBAKHSH, A., DOROSTI, H., AND FAKHRAIE, S. M. Dynamic Soft Error Hardening via Joint Body Biasing and Dynamic Voltage Scaling. In 2011 14th Euromicro Conference on Digital System Design (Aug. 2011), pp. 385–392.
- [50] FURBER, S. B., GARSIDE, J. D., RIOCREUX, P., TEMPLE, S., DAY, P., LIU, J., AND PAVER, N. C. AMULET2e: an asynchronous embedded controller. *Proceedings of the IEEE 87*, 2 (Feb. 1999), 243–256.
- [51] GARG, S., AND MARCULESCU, D. System-Level Leakage Variability Mitigation for MPSoC Platforms Using Body-Bias Islands. *IEEE Transactions on Very Large Scale Integration (VLSI) Systems 20*, 12 (Dec. 2012), 2289–2301.
- [52] GOSATWAR, P., AND GHODESWAR, U. Design of voltage level shifter for multi-supply voltage design. In 2016 International Conference on Communication and Signal Processing (ICCSP) (Apr. 2016), pp. 0853–0857.
- [53] GUIMARÃES, L. A., BASTOS, R. P., AND FESQUET, L. Detection of Layout-Level Trojans by Monitoring Substrate with Preexisting Built-in Sensors. In 2017 IEEE Computer Society Annual Symposium on VLSI (ISVLSI) (July 2017), pp. 290–295.
- [54] GUIMARÃES, M. V., AND TORRES, F. S. Automatic layout integration of Bulk Built-In Current Sensors for detection of soft errors. In 2016 29th Symposium on Integrated Circuits and Systems Design (SBCCI) (Aug. 2016), pp. 1–6.
- [55] HAMADA, M., TAKAHASHI, M., ARAKIDA, H., CHIBA, A., TERAZAWA, T., ISHIKAWA, T., KANAZAWA, M., IGARASHI, M., USAMI, K., AND KURODA, T. A topdown low power design technique using clustered voltage scaling with variable supplyvoltage scheme. In *Proceedings of the IEEE 1998 Custom Integrated Circuits Conference* (*Cat. No.98CH36143*) (May 1998), pp. 495–498.
- [56] HAMON, J., ET AL. Automatic leakage control for wide range performance QDI asynchronous circuits in FD-SOI technology. In *19th IEEE International Symposium on Asynchronous Circuits and Systems (ASYNC)* (May 2013), pp. 142–149.
- [57] HARADA, R., MITSUYAMA, Y., HASHIMOTO, M., AND ONOYE, T. Neutron induced single event multiple transients with voltage scaling and body biasing. In 2011 International Reliability Physics Symposium (Apr. 2011), pp. 3C.4.1–3C.4.5.
- [58] HELLER, L., GRIFFIN, W., DAVIS, J., AND THOMA, N. Cascode voltage switch logic: A differential CMOS logic family. In 1984 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference. Digest of Technical Papers (Feb. 1984), vol. XXVII, pp. 16–17.
- [59] HOSSEINI, S. R., SABERI, M., AND LOTFI, R. An energy-efficient level shifter for low-power applications. In 2015 IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (ISCAS) (May 2015), pp. 2241–2244.
- [60] HU, C. New sub-20nm transistors Why and how. In 2011 48th ACM/EDAC/IEEE Design Automation Conference (DAC) (June 2011), pp. 460–463.
- [61] HU, G. J. A better understanding of CMOS latch-up. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 31*, 1 (Jan. 1984), 62–67.
- [62] IMAI, M., ET AL. Fine-grain leakage power reduction method for m-out-of-n encoded circuits using multi-threshold-voltage transistors. In 2009 15th IEEE Symposium on Asynchronous Circuits and Systems (May 2009), pp. 209–216.
- [63] ISHIHARA, F., SHEIKH, F., AND NIKOLIC, B. Level conversion for dual-supply systems. *IEEE Transactions on Very Large Scale Integration (VLSI) Systems 12*, 2 (Feb. 2004), 185–195.
- [64] JOACHIM, H.-O., YAMAGUCHI, Y., FUJINO, T., KATO, T., INOUE, Y., AND HIRAO, T. Comparison of Standard and Low-Dose Separation-by-Implanted-Oxygen Substrates for 0.15 um SOI MOSFET Applications. *Jpn. J. Appl. Phys.* 35, 28 (Feb. 1996), 983.
- [65] JONES, H. H. Why Migration to 20nm Bulk CMOS and 16/14nm FinFETs is Not Best Approach for Semiconductor Industry. 12.
- [66] KAMAE, N., ET AL. A body bias generator compatible with cell-based design flow for within-die variability compensation. In *IEEE Asian Solid State Circuits Conference* (A-SSCC) (2012), pp. 389–392.
- [67] KARNIK, T., TSCHANZ, J., BLOECHEL, B., HAZUCHA, P., ARMSTRONG, P., NAREN-DRA, S., KESHAVARZI, A., SOUMYANATH, K., DERMER, G., MAIZ, J., BORKAR, S., AND DE, V. Impact of body bias on alpha- and neutron-induced soft error rates of flip-flops. In 2004 Symposium on VLSI Circuits. Digest of Technical Papers (IEEE Cat. No.04CH37525) (June 2004), pp. 324–325.
- [68] KESSELS, J., AND MARSTON, P. Designing asynchronous standby circuits for a low-power pager. *Proceedings of the IEEE* 87, 2 (Feb. 1999), 257–267.
- [69] KHAKIFIROOZ, A., CHENG, K., LIU, Q., NAGUMO, T., LOUBET, N., REZNICEK, A., KUSS, J., GIMBERT, J., SREENIVASAN, R., VINET, M., GRENOUILLET, L., TIEC, Y. L., WACQUEZ, R., REN, Z., CAI, J., SHAHRJERDI, D., KULKARNI, P., PONOTH, S., LUNING, S., AND DORIS, B. Extremely thin SOI for system-on-chip applications. In *Proceedings of the IEEE 2012 Custom Integrated Circuits Conference* (Sept. 2012), pp. 1–4.
- [70] KIM, Y., LEE, Y., SYLVESTER, D., AND BLAAUW, D. SLC: Split-control Level Converter for dense and stable wide-range voltage conversion. In 2012 Proceedings of the ESSCIRC (ESSCIRC) (Sept. 2012), pp. 478–481.
- [71] KONDRATYEV, A., AND LWIN, K. Design of asynchronous circuits using synchronous CAD tools. *IEEE Design Test of Computers 19*, 4 (July 2002), 107–117.
- [72] KOO, K.-H., SEO, J.-H., KO, M.-L., AND KIM, J.-W. A new level-up shifter for high speed and wide range interface in ultra deep sub-micron. In 2005 IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (May 2005), pp. 1063–1065 Vol. 2.

- [73] KUHN, K., KENYON, CHRIS, KORNFELD, AVNER, LIU, MARK, MAHESHWARI, ATUL, SHIH, WEI-KAI, SIVAKUMAR, SAM, TAYLOR, GREG, VANDERVOORN, PE-TER, AND ZAWADZKI, KEITH. Managing Process Variation in Intel's 45nm CMOS Technology. *Intel Technology Journal 12*, 2 (2008), 20.
- [74] KULKARNI, S. H., ET AL. A statistical framework for post-silicon tuning through body bias clustering. 2006 IEEE/ACM International Conference on Computer Aided Design (2006), 39–46.
- [75] KULKARNI, S. H., AND SYLVESTER, D. High performance level conversion for dual V/sub DD/ design. *IEEE Transactions on Very Large Scale Integration (VLSI) Systems* 12, 9 (Sept. 2004), 926–936.
- [76] KURODA, T., FUJITA, T., MITA, S., NAGAMATSU, T., YOSHIOKA, S., SUZUKI, K., SANO, F., NORISHIMA, M., MUROTA, M., KAKO, M., KINUGAWA, M., KAKUMU, M., AND SAKURAI, T. A 0.9-V, 150-MHz, 10-mW, 4 mm/sup 2/, 2-D discrete cosine transform core processor with variable threshold-voltage (VT) scheme. *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits 31*, 11 (Nov. 1996), 1770–1779.
- [77] KÜHN, J. M., ET AL. Leveraging fdsoi through body bias domain partitioning and bias search. In 2016 53nd ACM/EDAC/IEEE Design Automation Conference (DAC) (June 2016), pp. 1–6.
- [78] LANUZZA, M., CRUPI, F., RAO, S., ROSE, R. D., STRANGIO, S., AND IANNACCONE, G. An Ultralow-Voltage Energy-Efficient Level Shifter. *IEEE Transactions on Circuits* and Systems II: Express Briefs 64, 1 (Jan. 2017), 61–65.
- [79] LIN, Y. S., AND SYLVESTER, D. M. Single stage static level shifter design for subthreshold to I/O voltage conversion. In 2008 ACM/IEEE International Symposium on Low Power Electronics and Design (ISLPED) (Aug. 2008), pp. 197–200.
- [80] LINES, A. M. Pipelined asynchronous circuits. Tech. rep., California Institute of Technology, 1998.
- [81] LIU, Q., MONSIEUR, F., KUMAR, A., YAMAMOTO, T., YAGISHITA, A., KULKARNI, P., PONOTH, S., LOUBET, N., CHENG, K., KHAKIFIROOZ, A., HARAN, B., VINET, M., CAI, J., KUSS, J., LINDER, B., GRENOUILLET, L., MEHTA, S., KHARE, P., BERLINER, N., LEVIN, T., KANAKASABAPATHY, S., UPHAM, A., SREENIVASAN, R., TIEC, Y. L., POSSEME, N., LI, J., DEMAREST, J., SMALLEY, M., LEOBANDUNG, E., MONFRAY, S., BOEUF, F., SKOTNICKI, T., ISHIMARU, K., TAKAYANAGI, M., KLEEMEIER, W., BU, H., LUNING, S., HOOK, T., KHARE, M., SHAHIDI, G., DORIS, B., AND SAMPSON, R. Impact of back bias on ultra-thin body and BOX (UTBB) devices. In 2011 Symposium on VLSI Technology - Digest of Technical Papers (June 2011), pp. 160–161.
- [82] LU, Z., COLLAERT, N., AOULAICHE, M., WACHTER, B. D., KEERSGIETER, A. D., FOSSUM, J. G., ALTIMIME, L., AND JURCZAK, M. Realizing super-steep subthreshold slope with conventional FDSOI CMOS at low-bias voltages. In 2010 International Electron Devices Meeting (Dec. 2010), pp. 16.6.1–16.6.3.

- [83] LUO, S. C., HUANG, C. J., AND CHU, Y. H. A Wide-Range Level Shifter Using a Modified Wilson Current Mirror Hybrid Buffer. *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers 61*, 6 (June 2014), 1656–1665.
- [84] LUTKEMEIER, S., AND RUCKERT, U. A Subthreshold to Above-Threshold Level Shifter Comprising a Wilson Current Mirror. *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems II: Express Briefs 57*, 9 (Sept. 2010), 721–724.
- [85] MAKIPAA, J., AND BILLOINT, O. FDSOI versus BULK CMOS at 28 nm node which technology for ultra-low power design? In *IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (ISCAS)* (May 2013), pp. 554–557.
- [86] MANOHAR, R., AND MARTIN, A. J. Quasi-delay-insensitive circuits are turingcomplete. Tech. rep., California Institute of Technology, Pasadena, CA, USA, November 1995.
- [87] MARKOFF, JOHN. Intel increases transistor speed by building upward. *The New York Times 4* (May 2011).
- [88] MARTIN, A. J. Compiling communicating processes into delay-insensitive VLSI circuits. *Distrib Comput 1*, 4 (Dec. 1986), 226–234.
- [89] MARTIN, A. J. Programming in VLSI: From Communicating Processes to Delay-Insensitive Circuits. Tech. Rep. CALTECH-CS-TR-89-1, CALIFORNIA INST OF TECH PASADENA DEPT OF COMPUTER SCIENCE, CALIFORNIA INST OF TECH PASADENA DEPT OF COMPUTER SCIENCE, Jan. 1989.
- [90] MARTIN, A. J. The Limitations to Delay-Insensitivity in Asynchronous Circuits. In Beauty Is Our Business: A Birthday Salute to Edsger W. Dijkstra, W. H. J. Feijen, A. J. M. van Gasteren, D. Gries, and J. Misra, Eds., Texts and Monographs in Computer Science. Springer New York, New York, NY, 1990, pp. 302–311.
- [91] MARTIN, A. J., BURNS, S. M., LEE, T. K., BORKOVIC, D., AND HAZEWINDUS, P. J. The First Asynchronous Microprocessor: The Test Results. SIGARCH Comput. Archit. News 17, 4 (June 1989), 95–98.
- [92] MARTIN, A. J., LINES, A., MANOHAR, R., NYSTROM, M., PENZES, P., SOUTH-WORTH, R., CUMMINGS, U., AND LEE, T. K. The design of an asynchronous MIPS R3000 microprocessor. In *Proceedings Seventeenth Conference on Advanced Research in VLSI* (Sept. 1997), pp. 164–181.
- [93] MARTIN, S. M., ET AL. Combined dynamic voltage scaling and adaptive body biasing for lower power microprocessors under dynamic workloads. In *Proceedings of the 2002 IEEE/ACM International Conference on Computer-aided Design* (New York, NY, USA, 2002), ICCAD '02, ACM, pp. 721–725.
- [94] MATSUZUKA, R., HIROSE, T., SHIZUKU, Y., KUROKI, N., AND NUMA, M. A 0.19-V minimum input low energy level shifter for extremely low-voltage VLSIs. In 2015 IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (ISCAS) (May 2015), pp. 2948–2951.

- [95] MAURICIO, J., ET AL. Local variations compensation with dll-based body bias generator for utbb fd-soi technology. In *IEEE 13th International New Circuits and Systems Conference (NEWCAS)* (2015), pp. 1–4.
- [96] MAZURE, C. Advanced Substrate Engineering for the Nanotechnology Era. In 2006 International Symposium on VLSI Technology, Systems, and Applications (Apr. 2006), pp. 1–2.
- [97] MAZURÉ, C., FERRANT, R., NGUYEN, B., SCHWARZENBACH, W., AND MOULIN, C. FDSOI: From substrate to devices and circuit applications. In 2010 Proceedings of ESSCIRC (Sept. 2010), pp. 45–51.
- [98] MEIJER, M., ET AL. Technological Boundaries of Voltage and Frequency Scaling for Power Performance Tuning. Springer US, Boston, MA, 2008, pp. 25–47.
- [99] MEIJER, M., ET AL. A forward body bias generator for digital cmos circuits with supply voltage scaling. In *IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (ISCAS)* (2010), pp. 2482–2485.
- [100] MILLER, RAYMOND EDWARD. Switching theory. Vol. 2, Sequential circuits and machines, vol. 2. Wiley, 1965.
- [101] MONTANARO, J., WITEK, R. T., ANNE, K., BLACK, A. J., COOPER, E. M., DOBBER-PUHL, D. W., DONAHUE, P. M., ENO, J., HOEPPNER, W., KRUCKEMYER, D., LEE, T. H., LIN, P. C. M., MADDEN, L., MURRAY, D., PEARCE, M. H., SANTHANAM, S., SNYDER, K. J., STEHPANY, R., AND THIERAUF, S. C. A 160-MHz, 32-b, 0.5-W CMOS RISC microprocessor. *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits 31*, 11 (Nov. 1996), 1703–1714.
- [102] MOORE, G. E. Cramming more components onto integrated circuits, Reprinted from Electronics, volume 38, number 8, April 19, 1965, pp.114 ff. *IEEE Solid-State Circuits Society Newsletter 11*, 3 (Sept. 2006), 33–35.
- [103] MULLER, DAVID E. Asynchronous logics and application to information processing. 289–297.
- [104] NARENDRA, S., TSCHANZ, J., KESHAVARZI, A., BORKAR, S., AND DE, V. Comparative performance, leakage power and switching power of circuits in 150 nm PD-SOI and bulk technologies including impact of SOI history effect. In 2001 Symposium on VLSI Circuits. Digest of Technical Papers (IEEE Cat. No.01CH37185) (June 2001), pp. 217– 218.
- [105] NETO, E. H., RIBEIRO, I., VIEIRA, M., WIRTH, G., AND KASTENSMIDT, F. L. Using Bulk Built-in Current Sensors to Detect Soft Errors. *IEEE Micro 26*, 5 (Sept. 2006), 10–18.
- [106] NIELSEN, L. S., AND SPARSO, J. Designing asynchronous circuits for low power: an IFIR filter bank for a digital hearing aid. *Proceedings of the IEEE 87*, 2 (Feb. 1999), 268–281.

- [107] NOEL, J., THOMAS, O., FENOUILLET-BERANGER, C., JAUD, M., SCHEIBLIN, P., AND AMARA, A. A simple and efficient concept for setting up multi-V lt;inf gt;T lt;/inf gt; devices in thin BOx fully-depleted SOI technology. In 2009 Proceedings of the European Solid State Device Research Conference (Sept. 2009), pp. 137–140.
- [108] NOEL, J., THOMAS, O., JAUD, M., WEBER, O., POIROUX, T., FENOUILLET-BERANGER, C., RIVALLIN, P., SCHEIBLIN, P., ANDRIEU, F., VINET, M., ROZEAU, O., BOEUF, F., FAYNOT, O., AND AMARA, A. Multi-tUTBB FDSOI Device Architectures for Low-Power CMOS Circuit. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 58*, 8 (Aug. 2011), 2473–2482.
- [109] NOSE, K., ET AL. Vth-hopping scheme to reduce subthreshold leakage for low-power processors. *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits* 37, 3 (2002), 413–419.
- [110] NOSE, K., HIRABAYASHI, M., KAWAGUCHI, H., LEE, S., AND SAKURAI, T. VTHhopping scheme to reduce subthreshold leakage for low-power processors. *IEEE Journal* of Solid-State Circuits 37, 3 (Mar. 2002), 413–419.
- [111] NOWICK, S. M., AND SINGH, M. Asynchronous Design—Part 1: Overview and Recent Advances. *IEEE Design Test 32*, 3 (June 2015), 5–18.
- [112] NOWICK, S. M., AND SINGH, M. Asynchronous Design—Part 2: Systems and Methodologies. *IEEE Design Test 32*, 3 (June 2015), 19–28.
- [113] OMURA, Y., NAKASHIMA, S., IZUMI, K., AND ISHII, T. 0.1- mu m-gate, ultrathinfilm CMOS devices using SIMOX substrate with 80-nm-thick buried oxide layer. In *International Electron Devices Meeting 1991 [Technical Digest]* (Dec. 1991), pp. 675– 678.
- [114] OSAKI, Y., HIROSE, T., KUROKI, N., AND NUMA, M. A Low-Power Level Shifter With Logic Error Correction for Extremely Low-Voltage Digital CMOS LSIs. *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits* 47, 7 (July 2012), 1776–1783.
- [115] PAVER, N. C., DAY, P., FARNSWORTH, C., JACKSON, D. L., LIEN, W. A., AND LIU, J. A low-power, low noise, configurable self-timed DSP. In *Proceedings Fourth International Symposium on Advanced Research in Asynchronous Circuits and Systems* (Mar. 1998), pp. 32–42.
- [116] PELGROM, M. J. M., DUINMAIJER, A. C. J., AND WELBERS, A. P. G. Matching properties of MOS transistors. *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits* 24, 5 (Oct. 1989), 1433–1439.
- [117] PELLOUX-PRAYER, B., ET AL. Planar fully depleted soi technology: The convergence of high performance and low power towards multimedia mobile applications. In *IEEE Faible Tension Faible Consommation* (2012), pp. 1–4.
- [118] POSSAMAI BASTOS, R., GUIMARÃES, L. A., SILL TORRES, F., AND FESQUET, L. Architectures of bulk built-in current sensors for detection of transient faults in integrated circuits. *Microelectronics Journal 71* (Jan. 2018), 70–79.

- [119] PURI, R., STOK, L., COHN, J., KUNG, D., PAN, D., SYLVESTER, D., SRIVASTAVA, A., AND KULKARNI, S. Pushing ASIC performance in a power envelope. In *Proceedings 2003. Design Automation Conference (IEEE Cat. No.03CH37451)* (June 2003), pp. 788–793.
- [120] RAMABADRAN, T. V. A coding scheme for m-out-of-n codes. *IEEE Transactions on Communications 38*, 8 (Aug. 1990), 1156–1163.
- [121] RAMDANI, M., SICARD, E., BOYER, A., DHIA, S. B., WHALEN, J. J., HUBING, T. H., COENEN, M., AND WADA, O. The Electromagnetic Compatibility of Integrated Circuits—Past, Present, and Future. *IEEE Transactions on Electromagnetic Compatibility 51*, 1 (Feb. 2009), 78–100.
- [122] RENAUDIN, M. Asynchronous circuits and systems : a promising design alternative. *Microelectronic Engineering 54*, 1 (Dec. 2000), 133–149.
- [123] RENAUDIN, M., BOUZAFOUR, A., ENGELS, S., AND WILSON, R. A 6-Wire Plug and Play Clockless Distributed On-Chip-Sensor Network in 28 nm UTBB FD-SOI. *Journal* of Low Power Electronics 14, 3 (2018), 404–413.
- [124] RENAUDIN, M., AND FONKOUA, A. Tiempo Asynchronous Circuits System Verilog Modeling Language. In 2012 IEEE 18th International Symposium on Asynchronous Circuits and Systems (May 2012), pp. 105–112.
- [125] RENAUDIN, M., VIVET, P., AND ROBIN, F. ASPRO-216: a standard-cell Q.D.I. 16-bit RISC asynchronous microprocessor. In *Proceedings Fourth International Symposium on Advanced Research in Asynchronous Circuits and Systems* (Mar. 1998), pp. 22–31.
- [126] ROLLOFF, O. A., BASTOS, R. P., AND FESQUET, L. Exploiting reliable features of asynchronous circuits for designing low-voltage components in FD-SOI technology. *Microelectronics Reliability* 55, 9 (2015), 1302–1306.
- [127] ROY, K., MUKHOPADHYAY, S., AND MAHMOODI-MEIMAND, H. Leakage current mechanisms and leakage reduction techniques in deep-submicrometer CMOS circuits. *Proceedings of the IEEE 91*, 2 (Feb. 2003), 305–327.
- [128] SAKURAI, T., MATSUZAWA, A., AND DOUSEKI, T. Fully-Depleted SOI CMOS Circuits and Technology for Ultralow-Power Applications. Springer Science & Business Media, Feb. 2007. Google-Books-ID: Iq_9ASILMKYC.
- [129] SHAHIDI, G. G., ANDERSON, C. A., CHAPPELL, B. A., CHAPPELL, T. I., COMFORT, J. H., DAVARI, B., DENNARD, R. H., FRANCH, R. L., MCFARLAND, P. A., NEELY, J. S., NING, T. H., POLCARI, M. R., AND WARNOCK, J. D. A room temperature 0.1 /spl mu/m CMOS on SOI. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 41*, 12 (Dec. 1994), 2405–2412.
- [130] SHAO, H., AND TSUI, C.-Y. A robust, input voltage adaptive and low energy consumption level converter for sub-threshold logic. In ESSCIRC 2007 - 33rd European Solid-State Circuits Conference (Sept. 2007), pp. 312–315.

- [131] SHOR, J. S., AFEK, Y., AND ENGEL, E. IO buffer for high performance, low-power application. In *Proceedings of CICC 97 Custom Integrated Circuits Conference* (May 1997), pp. 595–598.
- [132] (SIA), S. I. A., AND (SRC), S. R. C. Rebooting the IT Revolution: A Call to Action.
- [133] SIMIONOVSKI, A., AND WIRTH, G. Simulation Evaluation of an Implemented Set of Complementary Bulk Built-In Current Sensors With Dynamic Storage Cell. *IEEE Transactions on Device and Materials Reliability 14*, 1 (Mar. 2014), 255–261.
- [134] SITIK, C., LIU, W., TASKIN, B., AND SALMAN, E. Design Methodology for Voltage-Scaled Clock Distribution Networks. *IEEE Transactions on Very Large Scale Integration* (VLSI) Systems 24, 10 (Oct. 2016), 3080–3093.
- [135] SKOTNICKI, T. Heading for decananometer CMOS Is navigation among icebergs still a viable strategy? In 30th European Solid-State Device Research Conference (Sept. 2000), pp. 19–33.
- [136] SKOTNICKI, T., FENOUILLET-BERANGER, C., GALLON, C., BOEUF, F., MONFRAY, S., PAYET, F., POUYDEBASQUE, A., SZCZAP, M., FARCY, A., ARNAUD, F., CLERC, S., SELLIER, M., CATHIGNOL, A., SCHOELLKOPF, J., PEREA, E., FERRANT, R., AND MINGAM, H. Innovative Materials, Devices, and CMOS Technologies for Low-Power Mobile Multimedia. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 55, 1 (Jan. 2008), 96–130.
- [137] SOITEC. FD-SOI Soitec Soitec.
- [138] SPARS, J., AND FURBER, S. Principles of Asynchronous Circuit Design: A Systems Perspective, 1st ed. Springer Publishing Company, Incorporated, 2010.
- [139] STEVE LONGORIA. SOI | ASN's All Things SOI Part 2.
- [140] SU, L. T., JACOBS, J. B., CHUNG, J., AND ANTONIADIS, D. A. Deep-submicrometer channel design in silicon-on-insulator (SOI) MOSFET's. *IEEE Electron Device Letters* 15, 5 (May 1994), 183–185.
- [141] SUTHERLAND, I. E. Micropipelines. Commun. ACM 32, 6 (June 1989), 720-738.
- [142] SUZUKI, E., ISHII, K., KANEMARU, S., MAEDA, T., TSUTSUMI, T., SEKIGAWA, T., NAGAI, K., AND HIROSHIMA, H. Highly suppressed short-channel effects in ultrathin SOI n-MOSFETs. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 47, 2 (Feb. 2000), 354–359.
- [143] TACHIBANA, F., SATO, H., YAMASHITA, T., HARA, H., KITAHARA, T., NOMURA, S., YAMANE, F., TSUBOI, Y., SEKI, K., MATSUMOTO, S., WATANABE, Y., AND HAMADA, M. A process variation compensation scheme using cell-based forward bodybiasing circuits usable for 1.2v design. In 2008 IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conference (Sept. 2008), pp. 29–32.
- [144] TACO, R., ET AL. Exploring back biasing opportunities in 28nm utbb fd-soi technology for subthreshold digital design. In *IEEE Convention of Electrical Electronics Engineers in Israel* (2014), pp. 1–4.

- [145] TAWFIK, S. A., AND KURSUN, V. Multi-Vth Level Conversion Circuits for Multi-VDD Systems. In 2007 IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (May 2007), pp. 1397–1400.
- [146] TEODORESCU, R., ET AL. Mitigating parameter variation with dynamic fine-grain body biasing. In 40th Annual IEEE/ACM International Symposium on Microarchitecture (MI-CRO 2007) (Dec 2007), pp. 27–42.
- [147] THONNART, Y., ET AL. Power reduction of asynchronous logic circuits using activity detection. *IEEE Transactions on Very Large Scale Integration (VLSI) Systems* 17, 7 (July 2009), 893–906.
- [148] TOMIMATSU, T., GOTO, Y., KATO, H., AMMA, M., IGARASHI, M., KUSAKABE, Y., TAKEUCHI, M., OHBAYASHI, S., SAKASHITA, S., KAWAHARA, T., MIZUTANI, M., INOUE, M., SAWADA, M., KAWASAKI, Y., YAMANARI, S., MIYAGAWA, Y., TAKESHIMA, Y., YAMAMOTO, Y., ENDO, S., HAYASHI, T., NISHIDA, Y., HORITA, K., YAMASHITA, T., ODA, H., TSUKAMOTO, K., INOUE, Y., FUJIMOTO, H., SATO, Y., YAMASHITA, K., MITSUHASHI, R., MATSUYAMA, S., MORIYAMA, Y., NAKAN-ISHI, K., NODA, T., SAHARA, Y., KOIKE, N., HIRASE, J., YAMADA, T., OGAWA, H., AND OGURA, M. Cost-Effective 28-nm LSTP CMOS using gate-first metal gate/high-k technology. In 2009 Symposium on VLSI Technology (June 2009), pp. 36–37.
- [149] TRAN, C. Q., KAWAGUCHI, H., AND SAKURAI, T. Low-power high-speed level shifter design for block-level dynamic voltage scaling environment. In 2005 International Conference on Integrated Circuit Design and Technology, 2005. ICICDT 2005. (May 2005), pp. 229–232.
- [150] TRIVEDI, V. P., AND FOSSUM, J. G. Nanoscale FD/SOI CMOS: thick or thin BOX? *IEEE Electron Device Letters 26*, 1 (Jan. 2005), 26–28.
- [151] TSUCHIYA, R., HORIUCHI, M., KIMURA, S., YAMAOKA, M., KAWAHARA, T., MAE-GAWA, S., IPPOSHI, T., OHJI, Y., AND MATSUOKA, H. Silicon on thin BOX: a new paradigm of the CMOSFET for low-power high-performance application featuring widerange back-bias control. In *IEDM Technical Digest. IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting*, 2004. (Dec. 2004), pp. 631–634.
- [152] UDDING, J. T. A formal model for defining and classifying delay-insensitive circuits and systems. *Distributed Computing 1*, 4 (Dec. 1986), 197–204.
- [153] UNGER, S. H. Asynchronous sequential switching circuits with unrestricted input changes. In 11th Annual Symposium on Switching and Automata Theory (swat 1970) (Oct. 1970), pp. 114–121.
- [154] USAMI, K., IGARASHI, M., MINAMI, F., ISHIKAWA, T., KANZAWA, M., ICHIDA, M., AND NOGAMI, K. Automated low-power technique exploiting multiple supply voltages applied to a media processor. *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits 33*, 3 (Mar. 1998), 463–472.
- [155] VEERARAGHAVAN, S., AND FOSSUM, J. G. Short-channel effects in SOI MOSFETs. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 36*, 3 (Mar. 1989), 522–528.

- [156] VEIRANO, F., NAVINER, L., AND SILVEIRA, F. Pushing minimum energy limits by optimal asymmetrical back plane biasing in 28 nm UTBB FD-SOI. In 2016 26th International Workshop on Power and Timing Modeling, Optimization and Simulation (PAT-MOS) (Sept. 2016), pp. 243–249.
- [157] VEIRANO, F., NAVINER, L., AND SILVEIRA, F. Optimum nMOS/pMOS Imbalance for Energy Efficient Digital Circuits. *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers 64*, 12 (Dec. 2017), 3081–3091.
- [158] VENKATACHALAM, V., ET AL. Power reduction techniques for microprocessor systems. *ACM Comput. Surv.* 37, 3 (sep 2005), 195–237.
- [159] WANG, A., AND CHANDRAKASAN, A. A 180-mV subthreshold FFT processor using a minimum energy design methodology. *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits 40*, 1 (Jan. 2005), 310–319.
- [160] WANG, W.-T., KER, M.-D., CHIANG, M.-C., AND CHEN, C.-H. Level shifters for high-speed 1 V to 3.3 V interfaces in a 0.13 mu;m Cu-interconnection/low-k CMOS technology. In 2001 International Symposium on VLSI Technology, Systems, and Applications. Proceedings of Technical Papers (Cat. No.01TH8517) (2001), pp. 307–310.
- [161] WEBER, O., FAYNOT, O., ANDRIEU, F., BUJ-DUFOURNET, C., ALLAIN, F., SCHEIB-LIN, P., FOUCHER, J., DAVAL, N., LAFOND, D., TOSTI, L., BREVARD, L., ROZEAU, O., FENOUILLET-BERANGER, C., MARIN, M., BOEUF, F., DELPRAT, D., BOUR-DELLE, K., NGUYEN, B., AND DELEONIBUS, S. High immunity to threshold voltage variability in undoped ultra-thin FDSOI MOSFETs and its physical understanding. In 2008 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (Dec. 2008), pp. 1–4.
- [162] WILLIAMS, T., PATKAR, N., AND SHEN, G. SPARC64: a 64-b 64-active-instruction out-of-order-execution MCM processor. *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits 30*, 11 (Nov. 1995), 1215–1226.
- [163] WILLIAMS, T. E. Performance of Iterative Computation in Self-Timed Rings. 15.
- [164] WOOTERS, S. N., CALHOUN, B. H., AND BLALOCK, T. N. An Energy-Efficient Subthreshold Level Converter in 130-nm CMOS. *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems II: Express Briefs* 57, 4 (Apr. 2010), 290–294.
- [165] XU, H., JONE, W. B., AND VEMURI, R. Novel Vth Hopping Techniques for Aggressive Runtime Leakage Control. In 2010 23rd International Conference on VLSI Design (Jan. 2010), pp. 51–56.
- [166] YAKOVLEV, A., VIVET, P., AND RENAUDIN, M. Advances in asynchronous logic: From principles to GALS amp;amp; NoC, recent industry applications, and commercial CAD tools. In 2013 Design, Automation Test in Europe Conference Exhibition (DATE) (Mar. 2013), pp. 1715–1724.
- [167] YAN, R., OURMAZD, A., AND LEE, K. F. Scaling the Si MOSFET: from bulk to SOI to bulk. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 39*, 7 (July 1992), 1704–1710.

- [168] YU, B., CHANG, L., AHMED, S., WANG, H., BELL, S., YANG, C.-Y., TABERY, C., HO, C., XIANG, Q., KING, T.-J., BOKOR, J., HU, C., LIN, M.-R., AND KYSER, D. FinFET scaling to 10 nm gate length. In *Digest. International Electron Devices Meeting*, (Dec. 2002), pp. 251–254.
- [169] YU, C.-C., WANG, W.-P., AND LIU, B.-D. A new level converter for low-power applications. In ISCAS 2001. The 2001 IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (Cat. No.01CH37196) (May 2001), vol. 1, pp. 113–116 vol. 1.
- [170] YUN, K. Y., BEEREL, P. A., AND ARCEO, J. High-performance asynchronous pipeline circuits. In Proceedings Second International Symposium on Advanced Research in Asynchronous Circuits and Systems (Mar. 1996), pp. 17–28.
- [171] ZAKARIA, H., AND FESQUET, L. Designing a process variability robust energy-efficient control for complex SOCs. *IEEE J. Emerg. Sel. Top. Circuits Syst (JETCAS)*, 1 (2011), 160 – 171.
- [172] ZHAO, W., ALVAREZ, A. B., AND HA, Y. A 65-nm 25.1-ns 30.7-fJ Robust Subthreshold Level Shifter With Wide Conversion Range. *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems II: Express Briefs* 62, 7 (July 2015), 671–675.
- [173] ZHOU, J., WANG, C., LIU, X., ZHANG, X., AND JE, M. An Ultra-Low Voltage Level Shifter Using Revised Wilson Current Mirror for Fast and Energy-Efficient Wide-Range Voltage Conversion from Sub-Threshold to I/O Voltage. *IEEE Transactions on Circuits* and Systems I: Regular Papers 62, 3 (Mar. 2015), 697–706.

La technologie FD-SOI, une opportunité pour la conception de circuits asynchrones énergétiquement efficients

Cette thèse étudie de nouveaux dispositifs de gestion de l'énergie ainsi que leur mise en œuvre, en combinant deux approches: la logique asynchrone et les techniques de polarisation du substrat (Adaptive Body Biasing - ABB). Cette thèse comporte quatre contributions permettant la conception de circuits asynchrones énergétiquement plus efficaces. 1) Une unité arithmétique et logique (UAL) asynchrone quasi insensible aux délais (Quasi Delay Insensitive - QDI) a été conçue et utilisée pour mener une analyse comparative entre systèmes synchrones et asynchrones. Cette étude démontre notamment la meilleure efficacité énergétique et la plus grande robustesse des circuits asynchrones QDI, surtout lorsqu'ils fonctionnent à basse tension. 2) Une cellule standard a été spécialement développée pour mettre en œuvre nos schémas d'adaptation dynamique du substrat (ABB) qui ajustent la tension de seuil (Vth) des transistors. En outre, cette cellule s'est révélée très utile pour la détection de fautes transitoires causées par des radiations environnementales. Cette cellule est en outre un élément clé pour exploiter la polarisation du substrat, un des intérêts majeurs de la technologie FD-SOI, et d'améliorer la fiabilité du système. 3) Trois stratégies de polarisation de substrat ont été évaluées. Ces stratégies reposent sur la détection automatique de l'activité des circuits asynchrones QDI et de la polarisation de multiples domaines dans le substrat (Body Biasing Domains - BBD). De plus, une méthode pour analyser l'efficacité énergétique des stratégies de polarisation pour les circuits asynchrones QDI a également été proposée dans le cadre de cette thèse. 4) Enfin, un flot de conception de circuits numériques intégrés a été proposé et développé. Ce flot, basé sur des cellules standards, permet d'exploiter des stratégies de polarisation (ABB) avec plusieurs domaines (BBD).

Keywords: Circuits Asynchrones Quasi-Insensibles aux Délais, Polarisation Adaptative du Substrat, Efficacité Énergétique, FD-SOI

FD-SOI technology opportunities for more energy efficient asynchronous circuits

This thesis studies novel energy management schemes, and how to implement them, by using two main design approaches: asynchronous logic and adaptive body biasing (ABB) techniques. Four main contributions have been done, thus enabling the design of more energy efficient asynchronous circuits. 1) We contributed with the design of a Quasi-delay Insensitive (QDI) asynchronous ALU architecture, used in a comparative analysis of asynchronous versus synchronous systems. This first study has demonstrated the energy efficiency and robustness of QDI circuits, especially if operating at low power supply (V_{dd}) . 2) We proposed a new body built-in cell for implementing ABB schemes by tuning the circuit threshold voltage (Vth) on-the-fly; and detecting short-duration and long-duration transient faults (TF) caused by environmental radiation. The proposed cell is a key building block to fully benefit from body biasing features of the FD-SOI technology while enhancing system's reliability. 3) We assessed three different ABB strategies - based on automatic activity detection and multiple body-biasing domains (BBDs) - for QDI asynchronous circuits. Furthermore, a methodology for analyzing energy efficiency of ABB strategies in QDI asynchronous circuits is also proposed in this work. 4) We developed a standard cell-based IC design flow to apply ABB strategies with multiple BBDs by using the proposed body built-in cells. A testchip has been designed and fabricated to validate the developed design flow and the efficacy of the body built-in cell.

Keywords: Quasi-delay-insensitive Asynchronous Circuits, Adaptive Body Biasing, Energy Efficiency, FD-SOI.